

ΓΕΩΠΟΝΙΚΟ ΠΑΝΕΠΙΣΤΗΜΙΟ ΑΘΗΝΩΝ AGRICULTURAL UNIVERSITY OF ATHENS

Monitoring of ochratoxin A production of *Aspergillus carbonarius* isolates from Greek grapes through gene expression studies under different ecophysiological

factors





PhD Thesis

Iliada K. Lappa

SCHOOL OF FOOD, BIOTECHNOLOGY AND DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT OF FOOD SCIENCE AND HUMAN NUTRITION LABORATORY OF FOOD MICROBIOLOGY AND BIOTECHNOLOGY Athens 2018

Supervisor: Efstathios Z. Panagou



AGRICULTURAL UNIVERSITY OF ATHENS SCHOOL OF FOOD, BIOTECHNOLOGY AND DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT OF FOOD SCIENCE AND HUMAN NUTRITION LABORATORY OF FOOD MICROBIOLOGY AND BIOTECHNOLOGY

Monitoring of ochratoxin A production of *Aspergillus carbonarius* isolates from Greek grapes through gene expression studies under different ecophysiological factors

PhD Thesis

Iliada K. Lappa

Athens, 2018

Thesis committee

Thesis supervisor

Efstathios Panagou Associate Professor, Laboratory of Food Microbiology and Biotechnology Department of Food Science and Human Nutrition Agricultural University of Athens

Thesis co-supervisors

Effie Tsakalidou Professor, Laboratory of Dairy Research Department of Food Science and Human Nutrition Agricultural University of Athens

Dimitris Tsitsigiannis Associate Professor, Laboratory of Phytopathology Department of Crop Science Agricultural University of Athens

Other members

George-John Nychas Professor, Laboratory of Food Microbiology and Biotechnology Department of Food Science and Human Nutrition Agricultural University of Athens

Eleftherios Drosinos Professor, Laboratory of Food Quality Control and Hygiene Department of Food Science and Human Nutrition Agricultural University of Athens

Georgios Zervakis Associate Professor, Laboratory of General and Agricultural Microbiology Department of Crop Science Agricultural University of Athens

Dimosthenis Kizis, Assistant Researcher, Laboratory of Mycology, Department of Phytopathology Benaki Phytopathological Institute



ΓΕΩΠΟΝΙΚΟ ΠΑΝΕΠΙΣΤΗΜΙΟ ΑΘΗΝΩΝ ΣΧΟΛΗ ΤΡΟΦΙΜΩΝ, ΒΙΟΤΕΧΝΟΛΟΓΙΑΣ ΚΑΙ ΑΝΑΠΤΥΞΗΣ ΤΜΗΜΑ ΕΠΙΣΤΗΜΗΣ ΤΡΟΦΙΜΩΝ ΚΑΙ ΔΙΑΤΡΟΦΗΣ ΑΝΘΡΩΠΟΥ ΕΡΓΑΣΤΗΡΙΟ ΜΙΚΡΟΒΙΟΛΟΓΙΑΣ ΚΑΙ ΒΙΟΤΕΧΝΟΛΟΓΙΑΣ ΤΡΟΦΙΜΩΝ

Έλεγχος της παραγωγής ωχρατοξίνης Α σε στελέχη Aspergillus carbonarius από ελληνικές ποικιλίες σταφυλιών μέσω μελέτης της γονιδιακής έκφρασης υπό την επίδραση διαφορετικών οικοφυσιολογικών παραγόντων

Διδακτορική Διατριβή

Ιλιάδα Κ. Λάππα

Αθήνα, 2018

Εξεταστική Επιτροπή

Επιβλέπων Διατριβής

Ευστάθιος Ζ. Πανάγου Αναπληρωτής Καθηγητής, Εργαστήριο Μικροβιολογίας και Βιοτεχνολογίας Τροφίμων Τμήμα Επιστήμης Τροφίμων και Διατροφής του Ανθρώπου Γεωπονικό Πανεπιστήμιο Αθηνών

Συν-επιβλέποντες Διατριβής

Ευθυμία Τσακαλίδου Καθηγήτρια, Εργαστήριο Γαλακτοκομίας Τμήμα Επιστήμης Τροφίμων και Διατροφής του Ανθρώπου Γεωπονικό Πανεπιστήμιο Αθηνών

Δημήτριος Τσιτσιγιάννης, Αναπληρωτής Καθηγητής, Εργαστήριο Φυτοπαθολογίας Τμήμα Επιστήμης Φυτικής Παραγωγής Γεωπονικό Πανεπιστήμιο Αθηνών

Μέλη Εξεταστικής Επιτροπής

Γιώργος-Ιωάννης Νυχάς Καθηγητής, Εργαστήριο Μικροβιολογίας και Βιοτεχννολογίας τροφίμων Τμήμα Επιστήμης Τροφίμων και Διατροφής ανθρώπου Γεωπονικό Πανεπιστήμιο Αθηνών

Ελευθέριος Δροσινός Καθηγητής, Εργαστήριο Ποιοτικού Ελέγχου και Διατροφής Τμήμα Επιστήμης Τροφίμων και Διατροφής ανθρώπου Γεωπονικό Πανεπιστήμιο Αθηνών

Γεώργιος Ζερβάκης Αναπληρωτής Καθηγητής, Εργαστήριο Γενικής και Γεωργικής Μικροβιολογίας Τμήμα Επιστήμης Φυτικής Παραγωγής Γεωπονικό Πανεπιστήμιο Αθηνών

Δημοσθένης Κίζης Ερευνήτης Γ', Εργαστήριο Μυκητολογίας Τμήμα Φυτοπαθολογίας Μπενάκειο Φυτοπαθολογικό Ινστιτούτο

©Iliada K. Lappa

Monitoring of ochratoxin A production of *Aspergillus carbonarius* isolates from Greek grapes through gene expression studies under different ecophysiological factors

Η έγκριση της διδακτορικής διατριβής από το Τμήμα Επιστήμης Τροφίμων και Διατροφής του Ανθρώπου του Γεωπονικού Πανεπιστημίου Αθηνών δεν υποδηλώνει αποδοχή των απόψεων του συγγραφέα (v.5343/1932, ap. 202, πap. 2).

Η πνευματική ιδιοκττησία αποκτάται χωρίς καμία διατύπωση και χωρίς την ανάγκη ρήτρας απαγορευτικής των προσβολών της. Πάντως κατά το v.2121/1993, όπως μεταγενέστερα τροποποιήθηκε ιδίως με το αρ. 81, v. 3057/2002 καθώς και με τα αρ. 1,2 και 4, ω. 3524/2007 και τη διεθνή σύμβαση της Βέρνης (που έχει κυρωθεί με το v.100/1975), απαγορεύεται η αναδημοσίευση και γενικά η αναπαραγωγή του παρόντος έργου, με οποιονδήποτε τρόπο, (ηλεκτρονικό, μηχανικό, φωτοτυπικό, ηχογράφισης ή άλλο) τμηματικά ή περιληπτικά, στο πρωτότυπο ή σε μετάφραση ή άλλη διασκευή, χωρίς γραπτή άδεια του συγγραφέα.

Το μη αποκλειστικό δικαίωμα αναπραγωγής αντιγραφής (για λόγους ασφάλειας και συντήρησης) και διάθεσης της παρούσας διδακτορικής διατριβής υπό ηλεκτρονική μορφή, για εκπαίδευση, ερευνητική και ιδιωτική χρήση και όχι για χρήση που αποσκοεί σε εμπορική εκμετάλλευση, παραχωρείται στη Βιβλιοθήκη και Κέντρο Πληροφόρησης του Γεωπονικού Πανεπιστημίου Αθηνών.

Στους γονείς μου

SUMMURY

Monitoring of ochratoxin A production of *Aspergillus carbonarius* isolates from Greek grapes through gene expression studies under different ecophysiological factors

Summary

Ochratotoxin A (OTA) is a secondary metabolite which is one of the most widely distributed mycotoxins since dietary exposure causes major health risks. Contamination of grapes with OTA is mainly caused by black Aspergilli, among which *Aspergillus carbonarius* is recognized as the main OTA producer in grapes and their derivatives (grape juice, raisins and wine). This potential pathogenic fungus has wide distribution in the environment and is characterized by a remarkable ability to proliferate under a variety of stress conditions, enabling thus its growth in a wide range of environmental conditions and substrates. *A. carbonarius* frequent occurrence could be attributed to its rapid growth resulting in grape contamination especially in the late veraison stage. Nowdays, OTA control still remains a challenge of continuous efforts in order to meet food safety standards in the production of wine and table grapes.

Current knowledge suggests that OTA production is under the control of various ecophysiological interactions at molecular level. Therefore, in the last years attention has been given on fungal genetic parameters in conjunction with environmental and biological factors that influence OTA production. The aim of this thesis was to employ a gene expression approach on *A. carbonarius* isolates of different phenotypic responses concerning OTA production in order to elucidate OTA related gene expression under different ecophysiological factors.

i

SUMMURY

Initially, the correlation between OTA production and different parameters of fungal growth determination (i.e., radial growth extension, biomass, dry weight, mycelium colony area) was measured in relation to time in a synthetic grape juice medium (SGM) (Chapter 3). Results showed that different growth responses were correlated and intraspecies differences were highlighted. It was also found that higher OTA producers seemed to be better correlated with the measured growth parameters. Finally, a preliminary modelling approach was used to evaluate toxin formation taking interspecificity into consideration, presenting high correlation between OTA kinetics and fungal growth.

Further on, the transcription of the OTA key biosynthetic genes AcOTA*pks* and AcOTA*nrps*, and global regulator *laeA* OTA related genes was investigated using Reverse Transcription quantitative PCR (RT-qPCR) (Chapter 4). The transcription levels of OTA key biosynthetic genes were assessed during growth of *A. carbonarius* in liquid SGM medium at different temperatures, water activity levels and incubation time. Gene expression was monitored at the same time points along with fungal biomass and OTA accumulation at three, six and nine days of incubation. Nevertheless, no general trend could be established regarding the effect of incubation temperature, water activity (a_w) or time on gene expression. Moreover, the isolate specificity impact which was observed, underlined the complexity of gene expression responses. Early activation of both OTA biosynthetic key genes underlined the predictive nature of RT-qPCR analysis, since genes as molecular indicators were indeed expressed a few days before any OTA could be detected.

In addition, the effect of clove, cinnamon, lemongrass and mandarin essential oils (EOs) on *A. carbonarius* growth and OTA regulation was also investigated (Chapter 5). The expression of the specific OTA related genes (AcOTA*pks*, AcOTA*nrps*, and *laeA*) was

SUMMURY

characterized in SGM solid growth medium in response to EOs application. The antifungal activity of the selected EOs was affected by the different fungal isolates and media substrates (MEA, CYA, SGM). The influence of different EOs was dose dependent concerning their inhibitory effect. In most cases, relative expression profiles presented similar trends with OTA production among treatments and control samples, indicating a possible connection between transcript levels of the structural genes and ochratoxigenic activity. These results suggest that the specific genes may play a key role in the mechanism by which essential oils inhibit OTA production by *A. carbonarius*.

Finally, co-cultivation of *A. carbonarius* with Lactic Acid Bacteria (LAB) effectively reduced OTA production *in vitro* in a strain-dependent manner (Chapter 6). The results indicated a significant diversity of growth profiles and toxin production in mixed fungal/LAB co-cultures. The *in situ* effect of fungal/LAB co-cultivation on grape berries was also studied in parallel to bacterial ability for attachment on grape skin surface and toxin inhibition with promising results. Finally, gene expression studies indicated a mixed response for all genes highlighting biological variability for both fungal and LAB microorganisms.

Scientific field: Food Mycology and Safety

Key words: *Aspergillus carbonarius*, Ochratoxin A, grapes, gene expression, transcription, toxin control, essential oils, fungal growth inhibition

Έλεγχος της παραγωγής ωχρατοξίνης Α σε στελέχη Aspergillus carbonarius από ελληνικές ποικιλίες σταφυλιών μέσω μελέτης της γονιδιακής έκφρασης υπό την επίδραση διαφορετικών οικοφυσιολογικών παραγόντων

Περίληψη

Η ωχρατοτοξίνη Α (ΩΤΑ) είναι ένας δευτερογενής μεταβολίτης που αποτελεί μια από τις πλέον διαδεδομένες μυκοτοξίνες, καθώς η παρουσία της στη διατροφική αλυσίδα προκαλεί σοβαρούς κινδύνους στην ανθρώπινη υγεία. Η επιμόλυνση των σταφυλιών με ΩΤΑ οφείλεται κυρίως στην παρουσία των μαύρων Ασπέργιλλων (Aspergillus section Nigri) μεταξύ των οποίων ο μύκητας Aspergillus carbonarius έχει αναγνωριστεί ως ο κύριος παραγωγός ΩΤΑ στα σταφύλια και στα παράγωγα προϊόντα (χυμός σταφυλιών, σταφίδες και οίνος). Ο μύκητας είναι δυνητικά παθογόνος, παρουσιάζει ευρεία διασπορά στο περιβάλλον και χαρακτηρίζεται από αξιοσημείωτη ικανότητα να ανθίσταται σε διάφορους παράγοντες καταπόνησης, γεγονός που του επιτρέπει να επιβιώνει σε μεγάλο εύρος κλιματολογικών συνθηκών και θρεπτικών υποστρωμάτων. Η συχνή παρουσία του μύκητα οφείλεται στην ταχεία ανάπτυξή του, η οποία συντελεί στην επιμόλυνση των σταφυλιών, ειδικότερα προς το τέλος του σταδίου του περκασμού (veraison). Σήμερα, η ΩΤΑ εξακολουθεί να αποτελεί σημαντική πρόκληση στο πλαίσιο των συνεχών προσπαθειών τήρησης των προδιαγραφών ασφάλειας των τροφίμων για την παραγωγή ποιοτικών οίνων και επιτραπέζιων σταφυλιών.

Οι πρόσφατες μελέτες δείχνουν ότι η παραγωγή της ΩΤΑ είναι συνέπεια διαφόρων οικοφυσιολογικών αλληλεπιδράσεων σε μοριακό επίπεδο. Επομένως, τα τελευταία χρόνια το ενδιαφέρον της επιστημονικής κοινότητας έχει εστιαστεί στη μελέτη των γενετικών παραμέτρων που σε συνδυασμό με περιβαλλοντικούς και βιολογικούς

iv

παράγοντες επηρεάζουν την παραγωγή ωχρατοξίνης. Στο πλαίσιο της εν λόγω διδακτορικής διατριβής μελετήθηκαν διαφορετικοί φαινότυποι του μύκητα *Α. carbonarius* ως προς το δυναμικό παραγωγής τοξίνης, εστιάζοντας στην έκφραση των γονιδίων εκείνων που σχετίζονται με την παραγωγή ΩΤΑ υπό την επίδραση διαφορετικών οικοφυσιολογικών παραγόντων σε επίπεδο μεταγραφής.

Αρχικά μελετήθηκε η συσχέτιση μεταξύ παραγωγής ΩΤΑ και διαφορετικών μεθόδων προσδιορισμού της ανάπτυξης (μεταβολή της διαμέτρου, της βιομάζας, του ξηρού βάρους και της επιφάνειας της μυκηλιακής αποικίας) του μύκητα *A. carbonarius* σε σχέση με το χρόνο, χρησιμοποιώντας συνθετικό υπόστρωμα χυμού σταφυλιών (SGM) (Κεφάλαιο 3). Τα αποτελέσματα έδειξαν ότι όλες οι μέθοδοι προσδιορισμού της ανάπτυξης που μελετήθηκαν συσχετίστηκαν τόσο με την παραγωγή τοξίνης όσο και μεταξύ τους, τονίζοντας επίσης την ενδο-στελεχιακή παραλλακτικότητα που παρατηρήθηκε. Διαπιστώθηκε επίσης ότι οι απομονώσεις του μύκητα *Α. carbonarius* που παρουσίασαν υψηλότερη παραγωγή τοξίνης συσχετίστηκαν καλύτερα με τις εκάστοτε παραμέτρους ανάπτυξης. Τέλος, έγινε προσπάθεια ανάπτυξης πρωτογενών μοντέλων συσχέτισης της ΩΤΑ με το χρόνο, λαμβάνοντας υπόψη τη διαστελεχική παραλλακτικότητα, τα οποία έδειξαν υψηλή συσχέτιση της κινητικής της ΩΤΑ με την ανάπτυξη του μήκυτα.

Στη συνέχεια διερευνήθηκε η έκφραση σε μεταγραφικό επίπεδο των βιοσυνθετικών γονιδίων της ΩΤΑ, AcOTApks, AcOTAnrps και του μεταγραφικού παράγοντα laeA, που σχετίζεται με την παραγωγή της ΩΤΑ, χρησιμοποιώντας τη μέθοδο της αλυσιδωτής αντίδρασης της πολυμεράσης πραγματικού χρόνου (RT-qPCR) (Κεφάλαιο 4). Τα επίπεδα μεταγραφής των παραπάνω γονιδίων εκτιμήθηκαν κατά την ανάπτυξη του μύκητα *A. carbonarius* σε υγρό θρεπτικό μέσο SGM σε διαφορετικές τιμές θερμοκρασίας, ενεργότητας ύδατος και χρόνου ανάπτυξης. Η γονιδιακή έκφραση

προσδιορίστηκε στα ίδια χρονικά σημεία μαζί με τη βιομάζα του μύκητα και την παραγωγή τοξίνης. Τα αποτελέσματα έδειξαν μεμονωμένες συσχετίσεις και όχι κάποια ευκρινή τάση σε σχέση με την επίδραση της θερμοκρασίας, της ενεργότητας ύδατος ή του χρόνου ανάπτυξης επί της γονιδιακής έκφρασης. Επίσης, τα αποτελέσματα εξαρτήθηκαν από το στέλεχος του μήκητα, γεγονός που υποδεικνύει την πολυπλοκότητα των αποκρίσεων σε επίπεδο γονιδιακής έκφρασης Η πρώιμη ενεργοποίηση των δύο βασικών βιοσυνθετικών γονιδίων της ωχρατοξίνης υπογράμμισε την προρρητική φύση της ανάλυσης RT-qPCR, εφόσον τα εν λόγω γονίδια, ως μοριακοί δείκτες εκφράζονται πριν την φαινοτυπική ανίχνευση της τοξίνης.

Επιπλέον, μελετήθηκε η επίδραση των αιθερίων ελαίων γαρίφαλλου, κανέλλας, λεμονόχορτου και μανταρινιού στην ανάπτυξη του μύκητα A. carbonarius και στη βιοσύνθεση της ΩΤΑ (Κεφάλαιο 5). Η έκφραση των σχετιζόμενων με την παραγωγή τοξίνης γονιδίων προσδιορίστηκε σε υγρό υπόστρωμα SGM στο οποίο είχαν προστεθεί διαφορετικές συγκεντρώσεις των ανωτέρω αιθερίων ελαίων. Η αντιμυκητιακή τους δράση επηρεάστηκε από τις διαφορετικές απομονώσεις του μύκητα A. carbonarius καθώς και τα διαφορετικά υποστρώματα (MEA, CYA, SGM). Η ανασταλτική δράση διαφορετικών αιθερίων ελαίων ήταν ανάλογη της συγκέντωσης των που χρησιμοποιήθηκε σε κάθε περίπτωση. Στις περισσότερες περιπτώσεις, η γονιδιακή έκφραση παρουσίασε παρόμοια τάση με την παραγωγή τοξίνης μεταξύ των μεταχειρήσεων (παρουσία αιθερίου ελαίου) και του μάρτυρα, γεγονός που μπορεί να υποδεικνύει πιθανή συσγέτιση μεταξύ των επιπέδων μεταγραφής των γονιδίων και της αντι-ωχρατοξινογόνου δράσης. Τα αποτελέσματα υποδηλώνουν την πιθανή επίδραση των συγκεκριμένων αιθερίων ελαίων στην έκφραση των υπό μελέτη γονιδίων και επομένως στην παραγωγή ΩΤΑ.

Τέλος, μελετήθηκαν οι επιπτώσεις στην ανάπτυξη του μύκητα *A. carbonarius* και στην παραγωγή ΩΤΑ κατά την *in vitro* συγκαλλιέργεια του μύκητα με διαφορετικά στελέχη του οξυγαλακτικού βακτηρίου *Lactobacillus plantarum* (Κεφάλαιο 6). Τα αποτελέσματα έδειξαν σημαντική μείωση της ανάπτυξης του μύκητα και της παραγωγής ΩΤΑ σε όλες τις περιπτώσεις συγκαλλιέργειας με τα οξυγαλακτικά βακτήρια. Διερευνήθηκε επίσης *in situ* η ικανότητα προσκόλλησης των βακτηριακών κυιτάρων στην επιφάνεια των σταφυλιών και η επίδρασή τους στην αναστολή της παραγωγής ΩΤΑ με θετικά αποτελέσματα. Τέλος, η μελέτη της γονιδιακής έκφρασης έδειξε μικτές αποκρίσεις για όλα τα εξεταζόμενα γονίδια γεγονός που τονίζει την επίδραση της παραλλακτικότητας του στελέχους, όσον αφορά στις διαφορετικές απομομώσεις του μύκητα *A. carbonarius* αλλά και τα διαφορετικά στελέχη του βακτηρίου *L. plantarum* που χρησιμοποιήθηκαν.

Επιστημονική περιοχή: Μικροβιολογία και ασφάλεια τροφίμων

Λέξεις κλειδιά: Aspergillus carbonarius, Ωχρατοξίνη Α, σταφύλια, γονιδιακή έκφραση, μεταγραφή, έλεγχος τοξίνης, αιθέρια έλαια, αναστολή ανάπτυξης

Contents

Summary	i
Περίληψη	iv
Contents	viii
Chapter 1 General Introduction, scope and outline of the thesis	1
1.1 Fungal secondary metabolites regulation1.2 Aim of the of PhD thesis	2 5
Chapter 2 Literature Review	8
2.1 Mycotoxins production	9
2.1.1 Relation between growth, environmental factors and regulation	9
2.1.2 Current trends in mycotoxin control	11
2.1.2.1 Essential oils (EOs)	11
2.1.2.2 Biological control	13
2.2 Ochratoxin A	16
2.2.1 Physico-chemical properties	16
2.2.2 Occurance and toxicological profile	16
2.2.3 OTA biosynthetic genes	18
2.2.4 Transcriptomics	20
2.3 Aspergillus carbonarius	24
2.3.1 Ecophysiology	26
2.3.2 Infection preventive strategies in grapes	29
Chapter 3	
Comparative study of growth responses and screening of intra-specific OTA pr	oduction
kinetics by A. carbonarius isolated from grapes	30

sites of the containing isolated from grupes	20
3.1 Introduction	31
3.2 Materials and Methods	34
3.2.1 Fungal isolates and growth medium	34
3.2.2 Inoculation and Incubation	35
3.2.3 Growth assessment	36
3.2.4 Extraction and detection of Ochratoxin A	36
3.2.5 Statistical analysis	37
3.3 Results and Discussion	38
3.3.1 Growth responses	38
3.3.2 Ochratoxin A data kinetics	42
3.3.3 Correlation between growth and OTA production	45

3.3.4 Modeling Ochratoxin A data	
----------------------------------	--

Chapter 4

Monitoring the temporal expression of genes involved in ochratoxin A production of *Aspergillus carbonarius* under the influence of temperature and water activity

4.1 Introduction	57
4.2 Materials and Methods	59
4.2.1 Fungal isolates and culture media	59
4.2.2 OTA determination and growth	61
4.2.3 RNA isolation and cDNA synthesis	62
4.2.4 Real Time PCR	62
4.2.5 Data analysis	64
4.3 Results and Discussion	65
4.3.11mpact of ecophysiological factors on growth and toxin	
production over time	65
4.3.2 Impact of ecophysiological factors upon gene regulation over time	71

Chapter 5

In vitro evaluation of essential oils against *Aspergillus carbonarius* isolates and their effects on Ochratoxin A related gene expression in synthetic grape medium 82

5.1 Introduction	83
5.2 Materials and Methods	86
5.2.1 Essential oils	85
5.2.2 Fungal isolates and sample preparation	86
5.2.3 Growth assessment	88
5.2.4 Ochratoxin A detection	89
5.2.5 Gene expression assay	90
5.2.6 Data analysis	93
5.3 Results	94
5.3.1 Inhibitory effect of EOs on A. carbonarius growth	94
5.3.2 Inhibitory effect of EOs on A. carbonarius toxin production	100
5.3.3 Effect of EOs on A. carbonarius gene expression	104
5.4 Discussion	107

Chapter 6

Control of *Aspergillus carbonarius* in grape berries by *Lactobacillus plantarum*: A phenotypic and gene transcription study 113

6.1 Introduction	114
6.2 Materials and Methods	118
6.2.1 Microorganisms and inocula preparation	118
6.2.2 In vitro experimental settings	119
6.2.3 In situ antagonistic assay	120
6.2.4 Ochratoxin A determination	122

6.2.5 Gene expression study	123
6.2.6 Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) at in situ co-cultures	126
6.2.7 Statistic analysis	126
6.3 Results	127
6.3.1 In vitro screening of the effect of L. plantarum on A. carbonarius	
growth and OTA production	127
6.3.2 Population dynamics of L. plantarum on grapes	129
6.3.3Evaluation of antagonistic activity of L. plantarum against	
A.carbonarius growth in grapes	131
6.3.4 In situ assessment of L. plantarum to control OTA production	
by A. carbonarius	133
6.3.5 Transcriptional responses of A. carbonarius isolates under	
co-cultivation with L. plantarum	135
6.3.6 Microstructural analysis of grape surface by SEM	137
6.4 Discussion	140
Chapter 7	
Closing remarks and future perspectives	146
References	154
Acknowledgements	187
List of publications	189

General introduction, scope and outline of the thesis

1.1 Fungal secondary metabolites production regulation

In nature, filametous fungi are challenged by multiple biotic and abiotic stressors, such as environmental conditions, nutrient deprivation, or even the interaction with other organisms. As a physiological response to all the above, fungi produce a diverse number of secondary metabolites (SMs). Fungal genes encode enzymes which are responsible for the main synthesis steps of SMs (Keller et al., 2005) that can be divided into four main chemical classes: polyketides, terpenoids, shikimic acid derived compounds, and non-ribosomal peptides (Pusztahelyi et al., 2015). Polyketides are the most abundant fungal secondary metabolites. Analysis of available fungal genomes revealed that ascomycetes have more genes for secondary metabolism than basidiomycetes, whereas zygomycetes have none (Collemare et al., 2008). Ascomycetes genomes code on average 16 polyketide synthases (PKS), 10 non-ribosomal protein synthases (NRPS), 2 tryptophan synthetases (TS), and 2 dimethylallyl tryptophan synthetases (DMATS) with crucial importance in SM synthesis.

Fungal secondary metabolites production regulation does not follow a strict hierarchical regime since inter-connection and even overlapping of metabolic pathways exist. Their physiological function in nature exists in multiple levels of regulation, including epigenetic control (Li and Reinberg, 2011; Venkatesh et al., 2015), signal transduction pathways and pathway-specific transcription factors (TFs), whereas global regulators translate environmental cues into SMs (Alkhayyat and Yu, 2013). Moreover, pathway-specific transcription factors typically control transcriptional activation for most of structural genes (Yin and Keller, 2011). The modifications in several regulatory levels at the same time could possibly lead to the induction of silent SM gene clusters (Bvadhage and Schoeckh, 2010).

2

Fungi are organisms that are prone to changes in environmental conditions which influence SM formation (Fountain et al., 2014). Fungal genes involved in stress factors (such as temperature, a_w, etc.) are highly represented in phytopathogenic fungi (Karányi et al., 2013) and fungal toxins often play a key role in triggering these responses. The transaction from stimulus to response is based on signaling pathways, which regulate gene expression and activation of secondary metabolism (Fox and Howlett, 2008).

Mycotoxins stand among the most important SMs of filametous fungi. These metabolites are mainly low molecular weight compounds, not directly essential for fungal growth and/or survival. Secondary metabolism has proven to be advantageous for the fitness and proliferation of the producing fungus (Howard and Valent, 1996; Fox and Howlett, 2008). Studies have suggested that mycotoxins serve as a molecular arsenal to aid the fungus in successful competition against other microorganisms in its natural environment (Keller et al., 2005). On the other hand, pigments, a kind of secondary metabolic products, have a broad range of functionality, ranging from protecting the fungus from UV damage to serve as fungal virulence factor. As already mentioned, mycotoxins biosynthesis as SM are under the control of common global transcriptional factors implicated in responding to environmental cues (pH, nutrition, light, and temperature) and stresses (Hoffmeister and Keller, 2007). Several developmental pathways have been linked to mycotoxin regulation as reported for the velvet complex (VelB/VeA/LaeA) (Bayram et al., 2008) which coordinates light signal with fungal development and secondary metabolism. This complex consists of proteins fully finctional in the nucleus under dark conditions (Knox et al., 2015). The nuclear protein LaeA is a master regulator of secondary metabolism in Aspergilli (Bow and Keller, 2004; Keller et al., 2006). Deletion of laeA gene led to conidial reduction and OTA decrease in A. carbonarius (Crespo-Sempere et al., 2013). Interestingly, no global

3

regulator has been identified for other environmental factors such as temperature, as it has for light regulation. These regulators act as an upper level governor of mycotoxin biosynthesis in comparison to the pathway-specific regulators (Ehrlich et al., 2003; Yu and Keller, 2005). This system of regulation usually mediates its function through genes that are associated with physiological responses, but as a consequence, it influences the fate and amount of the mycotoxin produced (Martin, 2000; Yu et al., 2011).

Functional analysis of biosynthetic gene clusters usually relies on disrupting key genes in the cluster and examining the resulting secondary metabolic profile. However, genes in many clusters are expressed at extremely low levels and often particular metabolites cannot be detected in fungi cultured under standard conditions (Brakhage, 2013). Another challenge is that many SMs are not readily produced under laboratory conditions although several approaches have been successfully employed (Yaegashi et al., 2014; Wiemann and Keller, 2014).

Knowledge about the influence of upstream regulatory mechanisms, like global regulatory factors or signal transcription pathways, is also important for assessing biosynthesis data. It has to be kept in mind however that the correlation between transcription and biosynthesis is not given. Transcription data about the regulation of mycotoxins in relation to the food environment have provided important hints to improve the safety of a certain food with respect to mycotoxin biosynthesis. From the food safety perspective, the evaluation of the induction of the OTA biosynthesis genes can be a good indicator for determining the risk from specific toxigenic species, since the gene transcription always precedes phenotypic production (Zhang et al., 2016).

Molecular monitoring approaches would help to understand the complex mechanisms of mycotoxin production in a natural habitat. Experiments already conducted have used a

series of technical methods like Real Time PCR, droplet digital PCR (ddPCR), Microarray or RNA-seq. Nucleic acid amplification and detection techniques are among the most valuable tools in biological research today. Scientists in all areas of life science basic research, biotechnology, medicine, diagnostics and more, utilize these methods in a wide range of applications. For some applications, qualitative nucleic acid detection is sufficient. Other applications, however, demand a quantitative approach. Real-time PCR can be used for both qualitative and quantitative analysis (Filion, 2012), but choosing the best method for a specific application requires a broad knowledge of this technology. Quantitative PCR (qPCR) assays are widely used for the quantitative measurement of gene copy. In combination with Reverse-transcription PCR (RT-PCR), qPCR assays can be used to precisely quantify changes in gene expression. Thus, an increase or decrease in gene expression in response to different environmental conditions could be quantified by measuring changes in cellular mRNA levels (Bustin and Nolan, 2013).

1.2 Aim of the PhD thesis

In general, synthesis of mycotoxins is closely related to primary metabolic pathways, since the actual toxin production is modulated by both ecophysiological and genetic factors. Even though several molecular studies have been carried out recently for other mycotoxins, the genes and the enzymatic stages involved in the biosynthesis pathway of OTA have remained long unknown and still the length and composition of OTA clusters are not completely defined. Despite the fact that *A. carbonarius* stands among the most prevalent mycotoxigenic fungi and OTA as one of the most toxic metabolites relevant to food safety, there is limited information concerning the way this secondary metabolite incorporates the ecophysiological factors through regulation of related genes.

In food safety assessment, knowledge about the variables that influence the regulation of mycotoxin biosynthetic genes is of utmost importance. Therefore, new parameters have to be investigated to fully elucidate the mechanism of the biosynthetic pathway and clarify the molecular regulation on the basis of OTA production. Hence, knowledge of the genetic pathway and regulators that activate or inhibit (directly or indirectly) the biosynthetic genes could provide the means for the development of prevention strategies, diagnostic methods and remediation measures concering toxin production.

Taking this into consideration, this thesis focused on the study of OTA production by *A*. *carbonarius* intergating gene expression in relation to interacting abiotic and biotic factors, focucing on two key genes localized in the ochratoxigenic biosynthetic cluster, and one global regulator.

The main research objectives of this thesis are the following:

- To perform an initial screening study on *A. carbonarius* grape isolates from an intrastrain perspective, employing different growth assessment methods (diameter, biomass, dry weight, colony density, colony area) and investigate their correlation with OTA production potential under optimal growth conditions on a synthetic grape medium (SGM).
- 2. To employ Reverse Transcription Real Time PCR (RT-qPCR) in order to study the influence of temperature, water activity (a_w) and time on OTA related gene expression on fungal isolate level.
- 3. To evaluate the impact of essential oils (EOs) antifungal activity on growth behavior and the effect of their anti-ochratoxigenic activity on gene transcription level.

4. To investigate the efficacy of LAB strains as biocontrol agents against *A. carbonarius* growth and OTA accumulation on molecular level.

Literature Review

2.1 MYCOTOXINS PRODUCTION

2.1.1 Relation between growth, environmental factors and regulation

Production of fungal secondary metabolites possibly follows a pathway parallel to growth with a slight delay. However, regulation of secondary metabolism and the relationship between the rates of primary and secondary metabolism are still ambiguous (Calvo et al., 2002; Garcia et al., 2013). Moreover, as secondary metabolites, mycotoxins could be affected by factors that are not correlated with fungal growth (Cendoya et al., 2014, 2017; Vipotnik et al., 2017) and are directly regulated by other metabolic pathways. Even though in cases where environmental factors (temperature, water activity, CO₂, nitrogen sources, light, etc.) or co-existed microorganisms have been showed to exert little effect on growth, they have been proved to pose significant impact on the regulation of toxin production through biosynthetic gene expression (Fig. 1A). In a recent study, it was reported that temperature and a_w modifications affect aflatoxin biosynthetic pathway in A. flavus and A. parasiticus (Medina et al., 2014). In another work (Zong et al., 2015), it was indicated that patulin biosynthesis was mainly regulated at transcriptional level by ecophysiological factors such as carbon, nitrogen and pH, since gene up-regulation was observed under conditions that favor toxin production and down regulation under conditions that did not support patulin accumulation. Later, De Clercq et al. (2016) studied the impact of environmental conditions on patulin production and corroborated that conditions affecting toxin acted at transcriptional level on *idh* gene. Temperature has also been reported to act as the key factor affecting aflatoxin B1 (AFB1) production, strictly related to the induction of biosynthetic genes, but not aflatoxin regulatory ones, suggesting that *aflR* gene is not a good indicator for toxin prediction (Gallio et al., 2016). Furthermore, Liu et al. (2017) observed complex influence of temperature and a_w on gene regulation since significant differences were revealed between AFB₁ production and *laeA* expression. Several reports have been published on the impact of individual environmental factors on mycotoxin production (Tannous et al., 2016; Peromingo et al., 2016). Nevertheless, it is also the combined effect of these abiotic factors that has a significant contribution in toxin production (Akbar et al., 2016; Medina et al., 2017).



Fig. 1A. Ecophysiological factors along with multispecies interactions form the stimulation of secondary metabolism regulation (modified from Netzker at al., 2017)

Temperature and a_w represent two environmental key factors affecting both the rate of fungal spoilage of food commodities and mycotoxin accumulation. In this regard, plenty of studies have reported optimal environmental conditions of fungal growth and toxin production (Esteban et al., 2006; Spadaro et al., 2010; Lahouar et al., 2016). However, the knowledge of interaction among marginal and suboptimal environmental conditions could provide useful information for the prediction of possible risk and elucidate possible modes of action (Abdel-Hadi et al., 2011; Rodriguez et al., 2014). Despite the existing studies to explain toxin induction on molecular level, several attempts have

been undertaken in the last years to relate key environmental factors to the transcriprional regulation of mycotoxin biosynthetic genes. For instance, Fanelli et al. (2012) studied *Fusarium proliferatum* and revealed correlation between FUM1 fumonsin biosynthetic gene and toxin production. On the other hand, Bernaldez et al. (2017) investigated the interaction of temperature and a_w on AFB₁ studying *aflR* gene expression and reported that both factors presented a strong impact on toxin production, but no specific trend could be established on gene expression level.

The investigation of these environmental parameters which induce toxin production would allow the development of control strategies to minimize mycotoxin contamination. In many cases, inter and intra specific variability of mycotoxigenic fungi restricted the development of models for mycotoxin prediction, since it was not possible to obtain general conclusions and define optimal conditions for mycotoxin production since inter and intra strain variability was observed for different ecophysiological conditions. In a recent work (Marino et al., 2014), it was suggested that OTA synthesis by *A. niger* appeared to be an intrinsic strain dependent mechanism. Due to this complexity, contradictory results on mycotoxin production have been reported in the literature (Moussa et al., 2013; Yogendrarajah et al., 2016).

2.1.2 Current trends in mycotoxin control

2.1.2.1 Essential Oils (EOs)

In the last decade, over 25% of the world's agricultural commodities were estimated to be contaminated with mycotoxins (Stepien et al., 2007; Koopen et al., 2010). Therefore, the scientific community has focused on strategies about mitigating the concentration of mycotoxins in food. As a common practice, several synthetic preservatives have been effectively used in the management of food contamination by fungi, which despite their

continuous application has led to the development of fungal resistance (Brul et al., 1999) and numerous potential adverse environmental and health effects (Damalas et al., 2011). For this reason, the food industry has been put under pressure to find ways to inhibit the growth of toxigenic fungi and the presence of mycotoxins in raw materials and end products, while at the same time consumers demand high quality, preservative free, safe and mild processed foods with extended shelf life. Hence, there is a continuous need for alternative ways to control fungi such as biological agents and/or natural substances.

Among natural products, essential oils (EOs) from aromatic plants present promising perspectives as food additives and are widely accepted by consumers because of their relatively low toxicity, high volatility, transient nature and biodegradability. In the last years, several EOs from different plants have been proved efficient against fungal growth as an eco-friendly alternative of synthetic fungicides. The antifungal potential of EOs and their possible role as natural control agents in agriculture has been described in detail against *Aspergillus* spp., *Fusarium* spp., *Mucor* spp., *Alternaria alternate* (Sharma and Tripathi, 2006; Tzortzakis and Economakis, 2007; Viuda-Martos et al., 2008; Singh et al., 2010; Tian et al., 2012). However recent studies focus on the investigation of their effects not only against food-born fungi but also against their associated mycotoxins. Significant anti-toxigenic activity of different EOs such as *Rosmarinus officinalis, Salvia officinalis, Eucalyptus glovus, Origanum bacilicum, Mentha spicata, Zingibe officinale, Thymus vularis, Curcum longa*, has been reported (Yamamoto-Ribeiro et al., 2013; Prakash et al., 2017; Pandey et al., 2016; Nazzaro et al., 2017; Pandey et al., 2016;).

In addition, many studies have been performed using essential oils from aromatic plants as potential aflatoxin inhibitors of *A. flavus* and *A. paraciticus* (Passone et al., 2013;

Esper et al., 2014; Tian et al., 2014; Soares et al., 2016). Moreover, Dambolena et al. (2010) reported that control of fumonisin production by EOs was a result of fungal growth inhibition. Few reports are also available on the effects of EOs on anti-ochratoxigenic potential. Hua et al. (2014) reported EOs antifungal and anti-toxigenic effect on *A. ochraceus*, suggesting that toxin inhibition by EOs was mainly due to fungal biomass reduction. Rao et al. (2015) explored the impact of EOs on the reduction of *Penicillium verrucosum* and *P. nordicum* biomass and OTA production, observing a positive correlation between the inhibitory effect of essential oils on fungal growth and toxin production.

In contrast, Mossini et al. (2009) conducted in vitro trials to investigate OTA production by P. verrucosum and P. brevicompactum under the influence of oil extracts and reported significant reduction in fungal growth and sporulation, although no OTA inhibition was observed. Meanwhile, Passone et al. (2012) observed complete OTA inhibition of Aspergillus section Nigri even though total fungal growth inhibition did not occur. These data underline a different mode of action compared to antifungal mechanisms on cell membrane disruption, alteration, inhibition of cell wall formation, disfunction of fungal mitochondria (Nazzaro et al., 2017). EOs and their components can also inhibit the expression of some enzymes considered as key elements in the catabolism of carbohydrates. Concerning mycotoxin synthesis, EOs could possibly act in the regulation mechanism of toxin biosynthetic pathway. Jahanshiri et al. (2015) reported the effect of eugenol on down-regulating the expression of AFB1 key genes of A. parasiticus. These findings are also in accordance with Caceres et al. (2016) who showed that eugenol treatment resulted in a complete inhibition of the expression of all but one genes of the AFB1 biosynthesis cluster in A. parasiticus. Moreover, Hu et al. (2017) found that turmeric EO inhibited the aflatoxin

biosynthetic gene expression in *A. flavus* and referred to toxin reduction as consequence of down-regulation in the transcription level of structural genes. Recently, it was shown that *Eugenia cariophyllus* EO can not only decrease *A. carbonarius* growth but also affect OTA biosynthetic pathway by suppressing key biosynthetic genes resulting in a significant toxin reduction (Lappa et al., 2015, 2017). It must be emphasised that literature data are still limited in this research field and further studies must be undertaken to elucidate the mode of action of EOs and their use in a more useful and safer way for mycotoxin control, since stimulation of fungal growth and/or toxin production has been occasionally observed (Murthy et al., 2009).

2.1.2.2 Biological control

Biological control studies using microbial antagonists against mycotoxigenic fungi have also been undertaken (Tsitsigiannis et al., 2012; Fapohunda et al., 2017; Medina et al., 2017) and proved to be an effective way to reduce the use of chemical compounds. Yeasts and bacteria such as *Bacillus subtilis, Rhizobacteria* spp., *Rhodotorula* spp., *Debaryomyces hansenii, Aureobasidium pullulans*, are well known for their antifungal potential (Salas et al., 2017) and inhibition of mycotoxin production (Samsudin and Magan, 2015; Alberts et al., 2016; Souza et al., 2017; Zheng at al., 2017; Peromingo et al., 2018).

While early reports indicated that competition of space or nutrients on food commodities play a major role in biocontrol activity, recent studies have suggested much more complex interactions among antagonists including mycotoxin molecular regulations. Several microorganisms proposed as effective agents inhibiting the growth of filamentous fungi may also have a direct inhibitory effect on mycotoxin production which is independent of their growth suppressing effect (Verheecke et al., 2015).

Recently, Li et al. (2017) reported growth and patulin biosynthesis inhibition of *P. expansum* through reduction of gene expression of isoepoxydon dehydrogenase by *Saccharomyces cerevisae*. In addition, Al-Saad et al. (2016) investigated the impact of bacterial biocontrol agents on aflatoxin structural and regulatory genes of *A. flavus* under different environmental and nutritional regimes. Results showed that some bacteria stimulated AFB1 production whereas some other could not inhibit toxin production even though relative gene expression was suppressed. More recently, Ponsone et al. (2016) evaluated the effectiveness of potential biocontrol yeasts against *Aspergillus* section *Nigri* and ochratoxin A occurring under commercial greenhouse grape production conditions, indicating toxin reduction and highlighting harvesting time or year of the study as affecting parameters.

Lactic acid bacteria (LAB) have been proved a promising biological agent, since many published reports refer to their potential to inhibit fungal growth (Olivera et al., 2014; Russo et al., 2017) and mycotoxin production (Vinderola and Ritieni, 2015). The biocontrol potential of LAB, isolated from various sources, has been demonstrated in the prevention of fungal infections (Crowley et al., 2013; Gajbhiye and Kapadnis, 2016) and interaction with mycotoxin production (Lipinska et al., 2016). Biocontrol of aflatoxin using LAB has been investigated by Ghazvini et al. (2016) who reported *Bifidobacterium bifidum* and *Lactobacillus fermentum* as suitable biocontrol agents against the growth and aflatoxin production by *Aspergillus* parasiticus. In another work, Khachuri et al. (2014) reported the potential of *Lactobacillus plantarum* to adhere on the surface of olives forming biofilms, which affected the attachement of other undesirable microorganisms, increasing thus the antioxidant activity and consequently weakening the production of AFB1. Moreover, Ngang et al. (2015) studied the antifungal potential of LAB on three ochratoxin-A producing fungi namely, *A*.

15

carbonarius, *A. niger*, and *A.ochraceus* reporting growth and OTA reduction both *in vitr*o and also during cocoa fermentation. In a recent study, the transcriptomic and morphological profile of *A. fumigatus* was investigated under the effect of cell free supernatant (CFS) by *L. plantarum* suggesting a global metabolic shutdown (Crowley et al., 2013).

Despite the great progress on antifungal biocontrol research during the last decades, it was proved difficult to select one microbial species capable of controlling major postharvest pathogens and suppressing at the same time the production of mycotoxins. This could be attributed to the fact that some bacterial may exert fungal antagonistic activities, whereas some other may interfere with mycotoxin synthesis in a different way resulting in toxin stimulation (Zhu et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2017). Moreover, strain variabity along with nutritional and temporal studies concerning environmental factors are some parameters that must be involved in future research (Samsudin et al., 2017).

2.2 Ochratoxin A

2.2.1 Physico-chemical properties

Ochratoxin A (OTA) is a secondary metabolite predominantly produced by a group of different filamentous fungi belonging to the genera *Aspergillus* and *Penicillium*. OTA ($C_{20}H_{18}CINO_6$; IUPAC name: N-{[(3R)-5-chloro-8-hydroxy-3-methyl-1-oxo-3,4-dihydro-1H-isochromen-7-yl]carbonyl}-L-phenylalanine) is an odorless, crystalline solid agent (melting point: 168–173°C) with poor aqueous solubility. It is a weak organic acid with a pKa value of 7.1 and a molar mass of 403.8 g mol⁻¹. With crystalline structure varying from colorless to white, this molecule presents an intense green

fluorescence under UV light in acid medium and blue fluorescence in alkaline conditions (El Khoury et al., 2010).

It is resistant to acidic conditions and high temperatures and it is only partially degraded at normal cooking conditions (Müller, 1982). Once foodstuffs are contaminated, it is very difficult to totally remove the toxin. Hence, common food processing treatments fail to substantially reduce its presence in foods and beverages since it can resist three hours of high pressure steam sterilization at 121.1 °C and even at 250 °C its destruction is not complete (Boudra et al., 1995).

2.2.2 Occurance and toxicological profile

OTA is a highly abundant food and animal feed contaminant as naturally occurring foodborne mycotoxin and is frequently detected in a wide variety of agricultural commodities worldwide. Many drinks (e.g., wine, beer, coffee, tea, milk, etc.), common meals (meat and dairy products) wheat and maize contain high or low amounts of OTA (Hashimoto et al., 2016; Alshannaq and Yu, 2017; Limay-Rios et al., 2017; Gil-Serna et al., 2018; Peromingo et al., 2018). Recent studies also revealed its presence in herbal medicines (Shim et al., 2014), food coloring agents (Solfrizzo et al., 2015), spices (Do et al., 2015; Jeswal and Kumar 2015), bottled water (Mata et al., 2015) and even eggs (Lee et al., 2016). The wide occurrence of OTA and its high thermal stability makes the eradication of this toxin from the food chain very difficult.

The presence of OTA in blood from healthy humans confirms a continuous worldwide exposure. The human dietary exposure has been estimated to 15–60 ng OTA kg⁻¹ body weight (b.w.) per week for adult consumers in the EU (EFSA, 2006). Recently, a human biomonitoring study of 33 mycotoxins in the Belgian population revealed that about 1%

of the investigated population exceeded the tolerable daily intake level (Heyndrickx et al., 2015).

Various public health agencies and national/international authorities including the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC), the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA), the European Commission, the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (National Toxicology Program, NTP) have set OTA limits described in the *Codex Alimentarius* of the FAO/WHO (JCFA, 2002, 2007).

The kidney is the main target organ for OTA, as it has been connected to the disease of Balkan endemic nephropathy (BEN) and chronic interstitial nephropathy (CIN) (Pavlovi et al., 1979; Vrabcheva et al., 2004; Bui-Klime and Wu., 2015). Nevertheless, more toxic effects of OTA have been investigated in numerous studies and also extensively reviewed (Koszegi et al., 2015; Heussner and Bingle, 2015) showing neurotoxic, hepatotoxic, teratogenic and immunotoxic effects in various animals and *in vitro*, with renal toxicity and carcinogenesis being the key adverse effects. Meanwhile, a direct genotoxic mechanism involving OTA bioactivation and DNA adduct formation in particular for renal carcinogenesis is still under debate (Zepnik et al., 2003; Petkova-Bocharova et al., 2003).

2.2.3 OTA biosynthetic genes

OTA is biosynthetically a pentaketide derived from the dihydrocoumarins family coupled to β -phenylalanine (El Khoury et al., 2010) (Fig. 2A) Unlike other mycotoxins, the genes involved in OTA biosynthesis have been long unknown. Nevertheless, the considerable increase of genomic data at species level along with the successive studies on molecular aspects in the last decade, has led to the identification of several genes and their biosynthetic role in OTA production. However, the gene cluster for OTA biosynthesis remains uncomplete until today.



Fig. 2A. OTA molecular srtucture

A putative gene cluster encoding for polyketide synthase (PKS) and a non-ribosomal peptise synthetase (NRPS) was identified in *P. nordicum* revealing *otapksPN* and *otanrpsPN* genes to be involved in OTA biosynthetic pathway (Karolewiez et al., 2005; Karolewiez and Geisen, 2005; Geisen et al., 2006). Lately, the identification of *otapksPV* gene to be responsible for OTA biosynthesis by *P. verrucosum* was confirmed through gene disruption (Abbas et al., 2013; O'Callaghan et al., 2013). Recently, the genome of a *P. thymiola* strain was sequenced and analyzed for the presence of OTA biosynthetic cluster. Interestingly, no proteins homologous to OTA genes from *P. verrucosum* and *P. nordicum* were found. Instead, OTA clusters were more related to *Aspergillus* species that to *P. verrucosum* and *P. nordicum* (Nguyen et al., 2016).

In 2009, a Ac*pks* gene related to OTA production was identified by Gallo and coworkers (Gallo et al., 2009). Later on, and after the complete genome sequence of *A*. *carbonarius* ITEM 5010, the investigation of OTA cluster was feasible *in silico*. Recently, the same group confirmed the role of AcOTA*pks* gene in OTA biosynthetic pathway by gene inactivation (Gallo et al., 2014). Meanwhile, inactivation of
AcOTA*nrps* confirmed this specific gene as responsible of the linking of phenylalanine to the polyketide dihydroisocoumarin (Gallo et al., 2012). Even more recently, a flavinhalogenase was found to be implicated in OTA biosynthesis of *A. carbonarius*. Inactivation of the encoding gene AcOTA*hal* confirmed its role in toxin biosynthetic pathway, indicating a strong correlation of the gene with the kinetics of OTA accumulation in *A. carbonarius* (Ferrara et al., 2016). So far the most recent information on OTA biosynthetic pathway steps is presented in Fig. 2C.



Fig. 2C. Schematic presentation of the order of reactions of OTA biosynthesis in *A. carbonarius* (adapted by Gallo et al., 2017)

A. niger is the OTA producing fungus phylogenetically most related to *A. carbonarius*. An15g07920*pks* gene of the putative OTA cluster was recently described and its crucial role in the biosynthesis of OTA was proved (Ferracin et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2016). The whole genome of *A. westerdijkiae* was released by Chakrabortti and Liang (2016) leading to the identification of two putative OTA clusters including a *pks* gene among others. Likewise, *A. ochraceus* genome sequence analysis further revealed two more *pks* genes (Wang et al., 2015), namely AoOTA*pks*-1 that was proved to be directly involved in toxin biosynthesis and AoOTA*pks*-2 that might complement the expression of the former and be involved indirectly in toxin biosynthesis.

Numerous studies have been conducted to elucidate molecular aspects of OTA biosynthesis, but still the length and composition of OTA cluster remains partially clarified (Fig. 2D) Secondary metabolism is a mechanism that may utilize different pathway-specific regulator elements by controlling expression of the corresponding biosynthetic genes. Environmental signals are transduced to this toxin biosynthesis mechanism by global regulators and multiprotein complexes even though these regulatory processes are often interconnected and overlapping (Gallo et al., 2016).

Among the global regulators, deletion of laeA and veA in *A. carbonarius* resulted in conidiation reduction and decreased OTA production (Crespo-Sempere et al., 2013), confirming the role of the two proteins in the regulation of conidiation and OTA biosynthesis in response to light. Moreover, laeA has been reported to have also a regulatory effect on production of citric acid and cellulolytic enzymes in *A. carbonarius* (Linde et al., 2013).

21



Fig. 2D. Organization of OTA clusters in different <u>Aspergillus</u> and <u>Penicillium</u> species.. (adapted from Gallo et al., 2017)

Studies concerning the influence of biotic and abiotic stressors on OTA biosynthesis in different fungal species have been often released. However, results are not consistent in all reports, since regulation of secondary metabolism is very complex and acts at different regulatory levels. Nowadays, most of the regulatory aspects underlying OTA production remain still unclear.

2.2.4 Transcriptional regulation

Environmental factors, namely temperature, water activity (a_w), relative humidity, rainfall are crucial for black aspergilli and penicillia to biosynthesize OTA (Battillani et al., 2015). Various ecophysiological studies have been conducted to identify conditions (e.g., temperature, a_w, pH, substrates) favoring the growth, sporulation and toxin production by potential ochratoxigenic species (Spadaro et al., 2010; Delgado et al., 2018).

Due to the fact that mycotoxin biosynthesis is also responsive to environmental factors and given the considerable amount of data generated in the last decade on gene regulatory pathways, there is considerable interest to understand the relationship between environmental factors, fungal interactions and expression of genes involved in toxin production. However, little information is available on the link between physiological factors and induced expression of genes responsible for OTA production.

Geisen et al. (2004) analyzed a key gene of the ochratoxin-A biosynthetic pathway (ota*pks*PN) of *P. nordicum* under the influence of environmental conditions such as temperature, pH, and NaCl. Results highlighted that the induction of this gene coincided with OTA production. Furthermore, this study indicated that the expression of the ota*pks*PN gene was greatly dependent on the media used for fungal growth.

Later, Schmidt-Heydt et al. (2007) tried to elucidate the relationship between food preservatives, environmental factors, OTA and ota*pks*PV gene expression by *P. verrucosum* in a temporal study. Some correlation was demonstrated between regulation of the ota*pks*PV gene expression data and phenotypic quantified OTA under the experimental conditions assayed for water activity (a_w), type of preservative and concentration. Generally, an increase in ota*pks*PV activity was observed after fungal growth in the presence of preservatives, indicating apparently two different regulatory mechanisms of toxin production, one acting under optimal and one under stress conditions.

Moreover, a study on the influence of NaCl rich foods on *P. nordicum* and OTA production was conducted by Schmidt-Heydt et al. (2012). The transcriptional activity of ota*pks*PN paralleled that of toxin production. Specifically, at higher NaCl

23

concentrations increased OTA production appeared to be in accordance with induction of ota*pks*PN gene.

Meanwhile, the effect of nutritional parameters of carbon and nitrogen sources has been investigated by Abbas et al. (2009) concerning gene expression of ota*pks*AO by *A*. *ochraceus*. The authors reported low gene induction due to glucose, glucerol, maltose or succinate as well as strong induction by lactose. In addition, the influence of various nitrogen sources on ota*pks*AO expression appeared to correlate well with toxin production. Gene expression analysis revealed important modulator impact at gene transcription level.

The influence of salt on two genes involved in OTA biosynthetic pathway (ota*pks*PN and ota*nps*PN), growth and phenotypic OTA production has been reported (Rodriquez et al., 2014) for three strains of *P. nordicum* on a dry-cured ham-based medium. RTqPCR revealed that only two strains were able to express the two genes in salt concentrations of 10% and 22%, corresponding to 0.94 and 0.87 water activity (a_w). The relative expression profiles of these two genes differed and the expression levels of ota*pks*PN were much higher compared with ota*nps*PN. Significant differences were also found between transcription levels on different sampling days. Inter-strain differences in the transcription levels of both genes were also observed along with intra-strain differences in the relative expression values of the two strains in both a_w conditions assayed. Expression of these two genes occurred after 3 days of incubation, while phenotypic OTA production was observed only after 6 days. It was finally concluded that there was partial relationship between the temporal relative expression of ota*pks*PN and ota*nps*PN genes and phenotypic OTA production.

Recently, a gene expression study was published for *P. nordicum* during seasoning process of salami (Ferrara et al., 2016). Molecular analysis detected the expression of ota*pks*PN gene after 4 days along with the presence of OTA at a concentration not significantly different from that detected on days 5 and 6. During seasoning, OTA increased in line with up-regulation of ota*pks*PN gene expression, indicating that modulation of ota*pks*PN gene expression was consistent with observed OTA production until day 7. After the expression peak, the level of ota*pks*PN gene transcript was reduced but OTA content did not vary significantly. The reduction of copy number of ota*pks*PN gene could be related to degradation of mRNA transcripts of the target gene (Geisen et al., 2004). These results confirm also the activation of OTA pathway from the early stage of mycelium development.

Studies with gene transcription approaches are limited concering *A. carbonarius*. Ferrara et al. (2014) studied the phenolic components of wine, namely hydroxycinnamic acids (HCAs), on the expression level of AcOTA*pks* and AcOTA*nrps* by RT-qPCR. Germination of conidia was not affected in contrast to growth and toxin production. From gene expression analysis, AcOTA*pks* gene showed a marked reduction of expression level in the presence of *p*-coumaric and ferulic acids. On the contrary, caffeic acid did not seem to influence transcription levels of any gene, implying a different mode of action on the regulation of OTA biosynthesis.

A gene expression analysis was also published concerning ochratoxigenic *Aspergillus* spp. and *Penicillium* spp. species under co-culture with *Kluyveromyces thermotolerans* strains (Ponsone et al., 2013). This yeast species was used as a biocontrol agent in order to investigate if its presence could affect ota*pks* gene expression. However, no direct correlation between the influence of the biocontrol yeast on ota*pks* gene expression and OTA production could be established. Even though the obtained results could indicate

an inhibitory mode of action by the yeast, post-transcriptional regulation was apparently involed.

It must be underlined that despite the important progress achieved on the elucidation of ochratoxin biosynthetic pathway and the confirmation of the role of specific genes, there is a limited number of published studies investigating the influence of OTA related genes by ecophysiological factors, such as environmental conditions, nutrients or bio-antagonism.

2.3 Aspergillus carbonarius

2.3.1 Ecophysiology

The most important species in the group of Black *Aspergilli* (*Aspergillus* section *Nigri*) either for its high capacity to produce OTA or for its high percentage of toxigenic strains is *Aspergillus carbonarius* (Battilani et al., 2003). It is a xerophilic filamentous fungus that can be easily distinguished from other biseriate species due to its large conidia and stipes up to several millimeters long (Figs. 2E,F). It is considered to be mainly responsible for OTA contamination in grapes, vines as well as in cocoa and coffee to a lesser extent (Cabanes et al., 2002; Abarca et al., 2004). In addition, it has been recorded as the predominant species in raisins (Abarca et al., 2003; Magnoli et al., 2004).

Greek isolates of *A. carbonarius* have been reported to be high OTA producers (Tjamos et al., 2004). A correlation has been established between the prevalence of *A. carbonarius* from grape berries in Southern Europe and high concentrations of OTA in wines (Mateo et al., 2007). Strains of this fungus have been isolated and identified in several Mediterranean countries, including Spain, Italy, Portugal and Greece (Battilani et al., 2004; Bellí et al., 2004a; Mitchell et al., 2004; Tjamos et al., 2006). The incidence

of *A. carbonarius* has been correlated with latitude indicating that meteorological conditions and especially proximity to the sea can play a major role in OTA presence. Pateraki et al. (2007) reported higher isolation frequencies and OTA levels from sultanas dried near the sea level from those at higher latitudes. Moreover, Batillani et al. (2006) created thermo-wetness maps using temperature and rainfall parameters illustrating the incidence of *A. carbonarius* in the Mediterranean basin.



Fig. 2E,F. Illustration of *A. carbonarius* conidiophores (E) (genome.jgi.doe.gov) and growth of the fungus on solid media (F) (personal record)

Factors affecting *A. carbonarius* growth in the vineyard such as temperature, humidity, photoperiod, damaged grapes, are of great importance for fungal proliferation (Hocking et al., 2007). The significance of fungi in the soil lies in the dispersal of spores by air movement from the soil onto berry surfaces. It was observed that the incidence of *A. carbonarius* spores in air samples increased closer to the soil, and a severe dust storm could result in increased presence of fungal spores on grape bunches (Leong et al., 2006a). Moreover, there are other factors affecting *Aspergillus* spp. and ochratoxin A production in grape berries. Black aspergilli prevalence typically increases from berry

set until harvest (Leong et al., 2007). This is probably due to the surface of immature green berries and exposure to UV light that represent a hostile environment for *A*. *carbonarius* spores (Leong et al., 2006). At veraison, the berry skin softens and sugar content increases; from this stage onwards until harvest, berries are most susceptible to infection by *A. carbonarius* and they are also susceptible to OTA contamination, particularly when damaged (Battilani et al., 2006; Leong et al., 2006a). Consequently, delayed harvest of mature berries has been found to increase the risk of OTA contamination (Gambuti et al., 2005).

The frequent presence of A. carbonarius could be attributed to its rapid growth in a wide range of temperature, a_w, and pH conditions. However, the optimal conditions for toxin production are generally different from those for fungal growth (Belli et al., 2005; Passamani et al., 2014). In a previous work (Tassou et al., 2007), the growth boundaries of A. carbonarius were reported in the range of 15-37 °C and 0.85-0.95 aw. The respective boundaries for OTA production were 15-35 °C and 0.90-0.95 aw. These ecophysiological parameters have been studied by growing fungal isolates on a synthetic grape juice medium (SGM) designed to simulate the composition of grape berries at early veraison. In this medium, the optimum temperature (T_{opt}) for growth has been observed at 30 °C in many studies (Belli et al., 2005; Battilani et al., 2006d; Leong, 2007; Tassou et al., 2007), even though Mitchell et al. (2004) reported higher optimum temperature (35 °C). In contrast, Esteban et al. (2006) observed optimum tempetature for growth at 15 °C and 0.95-0.98 aw, studying isolates of A. carbonarius from different beverages. In another study (Leong et al., 2006b), optimum OTA production was reported at 15 °C and 0.95-0.98 aw, whereas other researchers (Belli et al., 2005; Marin et al., 2005) reported optimum OTA production at 20 °C. There are several studies reporting high intra-specific variability of fungal growth and OTA

production when several isolates were studied (Bellí et al., 2004b; Pardo et al 2005; Romero et al., 2007; Tassou et al., 2009; Garcia et al., 2011) as also observed in the present thesis.

The relative importance of temperature and a_w on fungal growth and OTA production in grape berries is difficult to assess. As the sugar content increases from veraison until harvest, the water activity decreases and comes within the optimal range to support OTA production. High temperatures and relative humidities at the time of fungal penetration of grapes results in higher OTA content. Rainfall increases OTA content by increasing relative humidity and causing damage to the grapes; berry splitting and high fungal colonization may occur if rain falls within a month before harvest (Stratakou and van der Fels-Klerx, 2010). Moreover, alternating photoperiods increase fungal growth rate and consequently OTA production (Bellí et al., 2006).

2.3.2 Infection preventive strategies in grapes

Grapes are susceptible to fungal diseases that can reduce the quality of harvested berries and affect the organoleptic attributes of wines. *Aspergillus* bunch rot is a preharvest fungal disease caused by species belonging to *Aspergillus* section *Nigri* (Battilani et al., 2006; Perrone et al., 2006; Tjamos et al., 2006). Ochratoxin A control remains a challenge in the face of continuous efforts to produce quality wine and table grape berries to meet food safety standards. *A. carbonarius* is the dominant cause of OTA production in grapes and their derivatives. The most effective strategy to control OTA contamination in grapes and their products is the prevention of fungal growth before crop harvest (Magan and Aldred, 2007). Inhibition of OTA-producing fungi is the most effective way to diminish the entry of this mycotoxin in the food and feed chain.

There are hardly any data to characterize the behaviour of *A. carbonarius* in relation to fungicide treatments. Effective fungicide applications have been reported (Belli et al., 2007; Valero et al., 2007) even though in some cases treatments resulted in a significant stimulation of OTA production (Medina et al., 2007). Interactions between ecophysiological factors, such as a_w, on fungal growth and OTA production in the presence of fungicides have been reported. Twenty-six fungicides were studied *in vivo* and showed that they could suppress *A. carbonarius* growth and also inhibit OTA synthesis in grapes (Belli et al., 2006). Medina et al. (2007) also examined the efficacy of natamycin to control *A. carbonarius* growth and OTA production under various combinations of a_w and temperature and revealed a strong inhibition effect of both parameters on fungal growth and toxin production.

However, alternative prevention approaches to synthetic fungicides have drawn the attention of scientists in the last years due to the eco-friendly attitude of consumers. Abdollahi et al. (2014), studing the effect of postharvest spraying with essential oils in a storage assay showed that essential oils, especially thyme and fennel, presented good inhibitory effect on fungal decay in Thompson table grapes. In addition, the application of essential oils reduced weight loss, berry and rachis browning and had no considerable adverse effect on the flavour of the fruits.

Biological control has been proposed as a natural method to reduce the impact of ochratoxigenic species in vineyards, since it is able to restrict the proliferation and detrimental effects of plant pathogens on grapes. Control of OTA-producing fungi in grape berries by microbial antagonists is an ongoing attempt (Ponsone et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2016) gaining increasing attention in the last decade. The application of biological control agents (BCAs) in the field is necessary for the biocontrol of fungi that initiate colonization and pathogenic activity before harvest, which is the case for *A*.

carbonarius in the vineyard, where environmental factors such as humidity and temperature cannot be controlled.

In this context, Ponsone et al. (2011) described two epiphytic yeast strains of Kluyveromyces thermotolerans that were able to control the growth and OTA accumulation of A. carbonarius and A. niger both in vitro and in situ. The inhibitory effects were depended on ochratoxigenic species, on the yeast strain, aw and temperature as well as their interactions. The results of the above work are in accordance with other studies presenting significant potential of different yeast species to inhibit A. carbonarius growth and OTA production both on grape berries and in vitro experiments (Fiori et al., 2014; Zhu et al., 2015). The impact of temperature and relative humidity (RH) on the efficacy of the yeast species Metschnikowia pulcherrima and two strains of the yeast-like fungus Aureobasidium pullulans against infection by A. carbonarius and OTA accumulation was investigated in wine grape berries (De Curtis et al., 2012). The presence of wounds on grape skin enhanced infection of berries by A. carbonarius, since unwounded berries showed very low levels of infection regardless of RH and temperature conditions. These results showed that biocontrol treatment positively affected the incidence of infection by A. carbonarius on wine grape berries. A positive effect of biocontrol treatment was also recorded on the level of OTA accumulation, even when protection from fungal infection was not satisfactory. It was revealed that the positive effects of biocontrol were dependent on environmental factors, particularly temperature which appeared to be more important than relative humidity. Furthermore, protection efficacy by the biocontrol strains decreases when environmental conditions foster infection by the pathogen.

A limited number of reports have shown the potential use of bacteria as biocontol agents against *A. carbonarius* in grapes. Jiang et al. (2014) investigated the inhibitory

effect of *B. subtilis* liquid culture against *A. carbonarius* contamination in grapes in a storage assay. Fungal contamination was significantly inhibited and the inhibitory effects differed according to grape cultivar and storage temperature. However, bacterial species evaluated in other studies did not prove to be effective inhibitors for *A. carbonarius* (Kapetanakou et al., 2012).

Comparative study of growth responses and screening of intra-specific OTA production kinetics by A. *carbonarius* isolated from grapes

Iliada K. Lappa, Dimosthenis Kizis, Pantelis I. Natskoulis, Efstathios Z. Panagou

Published in: Frontiers in Microbiology, 2015, 6, 502

Abstract

The aim of this work was to assess Ochratoxin A (OTA) production of different Aspergillus carbonarius isolates, evaluate their growth profile through different growth measurements, and reveal any underlying correlation between them. Ten different isolates of A. carbonarius isolated from Greek vineyards located in different geographical regions were examined in vitro for their OTA production potential after an incubation period of up to 11 days. All fungal isolates grew on a synthetic grape juice medium (SGM) similar to grape composition at optimum conditions of temperature and water activity (25°C and 0.98 a_w). Samples for OTA determination were removed at 3, 5, 7, 9 and 11 days of growth and analyzed by HPLC. Based on OTA measurements the isolates were characterized by diverse OTA production ranging from 50-2000 ng/g at day 11. The different fungal growth responses (colony diameter, colony area, biomass, biomass dry weight, and colony density) have been measured and correlated with toxin production by means of principal components analysis (PCA), confirming satisfactory correlation and explained over 99% of data variability. Leudeking-Piret model was also used to study OTA production with time, revealing a mixed-growth associated trend and pointing a fail-safe model with slightly better prediction through colony area. This approach contributes to the assessment of correlation between mycotoxin production and different methods of fungal growth determination in relation to time.

3.1 Introduction

Ochratoxin A (OTA) is a widely detected mycotoxin that was first described as a wine contaminant by Zimmerly and Dick (1996). Abarca et al. (1994) were the first that revealed the role of *Aspergillus* section *Nigri* and especially *Aspergillus* carbonarius in OTA production (Abarca et al., 2001). OTA is now known as a secondary metabolite

produced by fungal species belonging to Aspergillus and Penicillium genera that are related with nephrotoxic, hepatotoxic, genotoxic, teratogenic, and immunotoxic impact to humans and animals (Castegnaro et al., 1998; IARC, 1993). There is a great food safety concern regarding the presence of OTA in foods and thus the European Union has established maximum OTA levels of 2 µg kg⁻¹ for wine, grape juice, grape nectar and grape must intended for direct human consumption and 10 µg kg⁻¹ for direct dried wine fruits (European Commission, 2005). Fungal isolates identification around the Mediterranean and other parts of the world have shown the occurrence of OTAproducing Aspergillus species in grapes. There is strong evidence of the significance of A. carbonarius in OTA production since there is high incidence of ochratoxinproducing isolates within A. carbonarius spp. (Stefanaki et al., 2003). Other studies showed that considerable climate differences related to geographical region influenced mould contamination and OTA (Cabañes et al., 2001; Battiliani et al., 2003; Visconti et al., 2008). Batillani et al. (2001) pointed that the major source of OTA in grapes is the skin of berries and considering that grape juices, musts and wines are produced by pressing berries, the diffusion ability of OTA becomes evident (Valero et al., 2006a), making thus OTA contamination a problem originating in the field. Black Aspergilli responsible for OTA are already present in vineyards (Tjamos et al., 2004) and the amount of toxin seems to be dependent on the latitude of the production (Battilani et al., 2006). The lower the latitude the more frequent the occurrence and the grater the concentration of the toxin (Rosari et al., 2000; Pietri et al., 2001; Eder et al., 2002; Chiotta et al., 2013).

Although, plenty of studies have examined the ecophysiology of *A. carbonarius* in different environmental conditions (Bellí et al., 2004; Tassou et al., 2009; Spadaro et al., 2010), few studies provide growth response data along with mycotoxin data for the

35

same sampling time (Marin et al., 2004, Valero et al., 2006a, Taniwaki et al., 2006). However, these studies focused on the examination of growth responses between different fungal species. During the last decade many publications on mycotoxin production over time have been reported on either synthetic media or food substrates, but comparisons between different fungal quantification methods have been rarely reported. However, Marin et al. (2005) correlated different growth responses among them but not with toxin production. Moreover, Garcia et al. (2013) tried to quantify the total amount of aflatoxins from maize and relate it to the amount of mould biomass. Hyphal extension rate is usually reported as radial growth rate (mm h⁻¹) being probably the simplest and most direct measure of fungal growth. However, growth estimation for filamentous fungi from radial extension remains questionable due to differences in the height of mycelium and also its colony density (Taniwaki et al., 2006). In the quest of new methods for fungal quantification, the aim is to observe correlation among growth responses considering that biomass or diameter cannot be directly quantified in food systems (Marin et al., 2005). Garcia et al. (2013) used Aspergillus flavus as a model of mycotoxigenic fungus to relate aflatoxin to the amount of fungal biomass. Another attempt from Marin et al. (2007), demonstrated the correlation between colony diameter changes and toxin production in solid medium by means of model development. Fungal growth over time was investigated by Baranyi et al. (1993) who proposed a model that even though it had been developed for bacterial growth it was proved successful at fitting colony diameter increase (Gibson et al., 1994; Ghar et al., 2005). Mould growth was also empirically modeled with the modified Gompertz equation (Zwitering et al., 1990) selected for asymmetrical data (Ghar et al., 2005). Applying existing models to compare commonly employed parameters in growth assessment, as a fungal indicator will probably facilitate the establishment of secondary models. Moreover, correlation of

OTA with different growth responses and fitting data to known models may be a step promoting predictive mycology.

The objectives of this study were to (i) compare different fungal growth responses, (ii) determine the effect of time on OTA production, (iii) correlate toxin with fungal growth under optimum temperature and a_w conditions, and (iv) screen inter-specific kinetics of toxin based on different growth approaches. To our knowledge this is the first attempt to describe multiple ochratoxin kinetics with the existence of growth associated (proportional to growth rate) and no growth associated (proportional to existing biomass/ dry weight) production, and also correlate ochratoxin with a variety of growth responses concerning *A. carbonarius*.

3.2 Materials and Methods

3.2.1 Fungal isolates and growth medium

Nine different wild isolates of *A. carbonarius* (coded as Ac27, Ac28, Ac29, Ac30, Ac31, Ac33, Ac34, Ac43, and Ac47) previously isolated from grapes collected from different geographical areas of Greece and a reference strain of *A. carbonarius* ITEM 5010 (Institute of Science of Food Production -ISPA, Bari, Italy) were used throughout this study. Isolates belonged to the fungal culture collection of the Laboratory of Food Microbiology and Biotechnology (LFMB) of the Agricultural University of Athens (stored in glycerol at -20 °C). All isolates were tested for their potential for OTA production on Czapek yeast extract agar (CYA), after incubation at 25 °C for 7 days as described by Kizis et al. (2014). OTA is classified as a possible human carcinogen within the 2B Group by IARC (IARC, 1993) and the related precautions were taken into account during laboratory work. The experiment was performed on Synthetic Grape juice Medium (SGM), a culture medium that simulates grape composition between

37

véraison and ripeness (Delfini, 1982). Media were prepared by adding D(+) glucose, 70 g; D(–) fructose, 30 g; L(–) tartaric acid, 7 g; L(–) malic acid, 10 g; (NH₄)H₂PO₄, 0.67 g; KH₂PO₄, 0.67 g; MgSO₄·7H₂O, 1.5 g; NaCl, 0.15 g; CaCl₂, 0.15 g; CuCl₂, 0.0015 g; FeSO₄·7H₂O, 0.021 g; ZnSO₄·7H₂O, 0.0075 g; (+) Catechin hydrate, 0.05 g; agar, 25 g, to 1000 ml distilled water. The a_w of this basal medium was 0.98, measured by an AquaLab LITE (Degacon, USA) water activity meter at 25 °C. The pH of the SGM was adjusted to 3.8 with KOH (2 M).

3.2.2 Inoculation and incubation

Spore suspensions of each *A. carbonarius* isolate were prepared by collecting spores from 7-day old colonies grown on Malt Extract Agar at 25 °C. Conidia were harvested from sub-cultures in an aqueous solution of 0.05% Tween 80 by scraping the surface of the mycelium. The final concentration of spores was assessed by a Neubauer counting chamber (Brand, Wertheim, Germany) and adjusted by appropriate dilutions to 10^6 spores/mL. Sterilized cellophane membranes were placed on the top of SGM agar plates in order to help biomass assessment. It has been shown that membrane allows fungus to obtain nutrients from the substrate and grow very similarly as with no cellophane layer (Ramos et al., 1999). Petri dishes were centrally single spotted with 10^3 spores on the surface of the membrane. Incubation was performed at 25 °C and a_w 0.98, which is optimum for *A. carbonarius* growth (Bellí et al., 2004; Garcia et al., 2010; Kapetanakou et al., 2011). Plates were sampled over time for the determination of biomass dry weight, colony radius, colony area and OTA production, for a period of 11 days. All the assays were replicated in triplicate.

3.2.3 Growth assessment

Colony diameter (mm), colony area (mm²) and biomass (mg dry weight) were measured at the same time in days 3, 5, 7, 9 and 11. Colony radius was observed on a daily basis and recorded at right angles by the aid of a ruler. Colony area was calculated by estimating the surface of the circle (π R²) formed by each fungal colony. The mycelium remained intact and collected from the cellophane membrane to monitor biomass. Fungal dry mass was determined by drying the mycelium at 105 °C (Passanen et al., 1999), and measured after cooling at room temperature using desiccators (Taniwaki et al., 2006). Measurements were carried out periodically until weight was stabilized. Fungal biomass (mg) was recorded before drying as well. Finally, colony density was calculated by dividing mycelium dry weight by colony area (Marin et al., 2005; Garcia et al., 2013).

3.2.4 Extraction and detection of Ochratoxin A

The whole content of each plate was used for OTA extraction at 3, 5, 7, 9, and 11 days of incubation. Studies have indicated that OTA can be diffused throughout the culture medium, so taking into account the content of the Petri dish would ensure determination of the whole amount of OTA produced by the fungus (Valero et al., 2006b). Each sample was weighted and mixed with a 4-fold quantity of extraction solution (80% methanol: 20% water) using the Ultra Turrax (Heidolph Instruments, Schwabach, Germany) for 2 min at the highest speed (26 x 10^3 rpm) (Kapetanakou et al., 2009). Extracts were filtered through a Whatman No2 filter paper, then through a 0.2 µm syringe-driven filter unit (Millex, Millipore Co., Bedford, Mass.) and stored at 4°C until HPLC analysis.

OTA was detected using an HPLC system equipped with a JASCO LC-Net II/ADC system controller, a JASCO AS-2055 Plus auto sampler, with a Model PU-980 Intelligent pump, a Model LG-980-02 ternary gradient unit pump and an FP-2020 Plus fluorescent detector (JASCO Inc., Easton, USA). The analysis was performed under isocratic conditions at a flow rate of 1 mL/min of the mobile phase (water/acetonitrile/acetic acid; 49.5/49.5/1) through a Waters spherisorb C18 analytical column, 5μ m ODS2 (4.6 x 250 mm) (Resteck Co., Pinnacle II, Bellefonte, USA). Injection volume was 10 μ L and run time for samples was 20 min with OTA detected at about 11 min. The detection limit of the analysis was 1 ppb.

3.2.5 Statistical analysis

Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed allowing an overview of all the results and establishing correlations among the diverse growth parameters and OTA concentration of the different fungal isolates. The data set was analyzed by the statistical package JMP8 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA). Pearson's correlation matrix and descriptive statistics (means, standard deviations and coefficients of variance, CV%) were also computed by JMP8. Multivariate statistical analysis (Principal component analysis, PCA) was also employed to investigate any underlying relationship among the different variables through Statistica software ver. 8.0 (Statfoft, Tulsa, Oklahoma).

For ochratoxin modeling, the Leudeking-Piret mixed-growth associated model was used for product (OTA) formation as detailed previously by Garcia et al. (2013). In this work, fungal growth and OTA production were expressed by different equations depending on the fungal growth assessment parameter employed. Thus, when fungal growth was expressed as changes in diameter (X) versus time, then growth and OTA production were fitted by the following equations:

If
$$t < \lambda$$
, $X = 0$; $P = 0$

If $\lambda < t < t_{Xmax}$, X = at + b; $P = (a\alpha + b\beta)t + a\beta \frac{t^2}{2}$

Where P is product concentration (g/L), α is the growth-associated coefficient for P production (gP/gX), β is the non-growth-associated coefficient for P production (gP/gX h) and t_{Xmax} is the time point where the linear model reaches its maximum value For colony area (X), the respective equations are the following:

If
$$t < \lambda$$
, $X = 0$; $P = 0$
If $\lambda < t < t_{Xmax}$, $X = \pi(at + b)^2$; $P = \pi\beta a^2 \frac{t^3}{3} + (\pi\alpha a^2 + \pi\beta ba)t^2 + (2\pi\alpha ba + \pi\beta b^2)t$

Finally, for biomass dry weight (X):

If
$$t < \lambda$$
, $X = 0$; $P = 0$

If $\lambda < t < t_{Xmax}$, $X = ct^2 + dt + e$; $P = \beta c \frac{t^3}{3} + \left(\alpha c + \frac{\beta d}{2}\right)t^2 + (\alpha d + \beta e)t$

Product formation (P) as well as fungal growth expressed as changes in diameter, colony area, and biomass dry weight were estimated by means of nonlinear regression based upon the Marquardt algorithm using Statgraphics® Centurion XV, version 15.1.02 (Statpoint, Inc., Maryland, USA).

3.3 Results and Discussion

3.3.1 Growth responses

Differences in fungal growth variables concerning colony diameter, biomass, mycelium dry weight, colony area, and colony density versus time are presented in Fig. 3.1. The influence of colony age on the data obtained by the five different methods used to

measure fungal growth is also shown in this Fig., where the actual values presented an increasing trend with incubation time (Fig. 3.1A,B,D,E) with the exception of colony density (Fig. 3.1C) where the opposite effect was evident. All five growth responses were found to be highly positively correlated among them, except colony density that was negatively correlated with the remaining growth parameters (Table 3.1). Similar significant positive correlations between dry weight and diameter of A. *carbonarius* were also confirmed by Marin et al. (2004) and of *Aspergillus flavus* by Garcia et al. (2013). Biomass dry weight correlation ($R^2 = 0.96-0.98$) with diameter indicated that colony diameter in single cultures is an easy-to-use and acceptable choice for fungal growth estimation for research purposes even though it is difficult to be applied on food substrates.











43



Fig. 3.1: Changes in growth responses of 10 isolates of *A. carbonarius* plotted against incubation time (A: changes in biomass; B: changes in dry weight; C: changes in colony density, D: changes in diameter, E: changes in colony area; data points indicate mean values \pm standard deviation of 3 replicates; for clarity of the Fig. no error bars were included when standard deviation was less than 5%).

There are studies suggesting that colony diameter is not an acceptable indirect measure of fungal biomass since colonies seem to become denser with thicker morphologies in older areas (Watt et al., 1995; Taniwaki et al., 2006). Coefficients of variation (CV%) among growth responses were also estimated revealing higher dispersion for colony area and lower for mycelium diameter (Table 3.2). Moreover the values of the CV index indicated that day 3, corresponding to the early stage of fungal development, presented the highest variation compared to day 11, where all fungal isolates seemed to have similar growth responses (Table 3.2).

	diameter	dry weight	biomass	colony area	colony density
diameter	1	0.9528	0.9552	0.9763	-0.4784
		(<.0001)	(<.0001)	(<.0001)	(<.0001)
dry weight	0.9528	1	0.9858	0.9234	-0.2716
	(<.0001)	(<.0001)	(<.0001)	(<.0001)	0.0008
biomass	0.9552	0.9858	1	0.9201	-0.2975
	(<.0001)	(<.0001)	(<.0001)	(<.0001)	0.0002
colony area	0.9763	0.9234	0.9201	1	-0.5203
	(<.0001)	(<.0001)	(<.0001)	(<.0001)	(<.0001)
colony					
density	-0.4784	-0.2716	-0.2975	-0.5203	1
	(<.0001)	0.0008	0.0002	(<.0001)	

Table 3.1 Correlation among growth responses (Pearson coefficients and corresponding P-values in parentheses)

Table 3.2 Coefficients of variation (CV%) of growth responses along time

Time				
(days)	biomass CV%	dry weight CV%	diameter CV%	colony area CV%
3	17.55	18.28	12.44	24.76
5	9.40	14.05	10.85	22.07
7	21.55	17.11	10.06	20.11
9	11.93	9.52	10.58	21.08
11	13.02	12.93	9.56	17.98

3.3.2 Ochratoxin A data kinetics

Ochratoxin A was detected after 3 days of incubation and reached a maximum at 9-11 days (Fig. 3.2). Regarding OTA production, fungal isolates could be discriminated into three broad classes containing low (<100 ng/g), medium (between 100-1000 ng/g) and high (>1000 ng/g) OTA producers at 11 days of incubation. Observation of OTA concentration in agar plates showed that the toxin increased with time reaching a plateau at the end of incubation period. However, for some strains maximum OTA levels were attained earlier followed by a decrease thereafter (Fig. 3.2).



Fig. 3.2 Changes in OTA production over time for A. carbonarius isolates on SGM medium.

This decrease was observed after the 9th day of mycelium growth could be attributed to toxin degradation by the fungus in an attempt to find an alternative carbon source to maintain its metabolic activity (Valero et al., 2006a). Analysis of variance for OTA production revealed that all single factors and their 2-way interactions were statistically significant at p<0.001. The significance of the factor 'isolate' was obviously biased by the differences in the OTA producing capacity of the different isolates studied. Analysis of variance for OTA between the different sampling times pointed an almost 2-fold higher effect of day 11 on OTA production than all the other days (data not shown). Moreover Coefficients of variation (CV%) revealed a wider dispersion of detected OTA production among isolates than among the five sampling days for each isolate (Table 3.3).

Isolates	Day 3	Day 5	Day 7	Day 9	Day 11	Mean
Ac30	106.01	111.81	132.62	5.40	32.07	77.58
Ac27	113.37	86.09	109.03	24.77	13.92	69.43
Ac43	74.54	1.80	90.8	65.42	49.54	56.42
Ac31	56.48	8.50	68.37	24.01	70.81	45.63
5010	94.44	24.71	27.22	38.47	24.73	41.91
Ac47	27.58	34.92	36.18	94.49	102.98	59.23
Ac34	78.42	7.20	46.32	12.02	70.81	42.95
Ac33	45.34	10.62	3.60	13.38	24.16	19.42
Ac28	31.81	47.81	38.24	1.54	13.57	26.59
Ac29	27.12	29.05	33.16	38.18	22.49	32.00

Table 3.3 OTA dispersion and CV% values.

This observation points the significance of inter-specificity of the *A. carbonarius* species. The analysis of variance pointed an almost 2-fold higher effect of day 11 on OTA production than all the other days. Few studies (Marin et al., 2004; Taniwaki et al., 2006) have reported on the effect of incubation time on the amount of OTA produced. Contrary to long incubation periods employed by many authors, in the present study the focus was given on the early stage of fungal infection. As inferred by the analysis of variance, the significance of time on OTA production was extremely high, confirmed by the fact that day 11 seemed to have in most cases the highest effect. Moreover, observations of the CV index among isolates showed that decreasing the mean OTA producing ability resulted in increasing OTA dispersion, as illustrated by the CV values for isolates Ac27 and Ac30, with higher values observed at early days of production (Table 3). With regard to the isolates used in the current work, they were originated from the areas of Crete and Attica, corresponding both to a geographical localization of low altitude and hot and dry regions. As mentioned before, several reports point also the

impact of region and climate (Visconti et al., 2008; Perrone et al., 2013) in A. carbonarious presence and OTA production in grapes. In addition to that, there are similar works indicating the importance between different grape cultivation practices (Bau et al., 2005; Tjamos et al., 2014). In the present work one isolate presented significantly higher toxin production, even from the early stage of growth, among all isolates. This particular isolate, Ac29, was originated from the same vineyard as isolate Ac27, which presented a 40-fold lower OTA production. So the variability in toxin potential between these specific isolates cannot be explained exclusively in terms of geographical location and cultivation practices and hence further investigation is necessary in terms of OTA related genetic factors. The focus of the present work was the in vitro investigation of the growth pattern of A. carbonarius in a growth medium resembling grape juice between véraison and ripeness, since this fungus has been isolated more frequently during this period in Greece (Tjamos et al., 2006; Meletis et al., 2007). Since grapes are considered one of the greatest sources of OTA contamination by these fungi, it is crucial to know their growth behavior and correlation with toxin production. R^2

3.3.3 Correlation between growth and OTA production

A statistically significant positive correlation (p < 0.05) was observed between most isolates' OTA production and growth responses on SGM, as derived by the Pearson correlation coefficients (Table 3.4), with the exception of colony density where a negative correlation was noticeable. OTA production was found to be correlated with each growth response parameter for ten of the isolates examined. The higher OTA producers (isolates Ac28, Ac29, and Ac33) seemed to be better correlated with the measured growth parameters (p < 0.001) compared to the rest of the isolates.

Isolate	Diameter	Dry weight	Biomass	Area
	mm	mg	mg	mm^2
Ac27	0.7370*	0.7847*	0.7409*	0.722*
Ac28	0.8725**	0.8923**	0.8949**	0.7994*
Ac29	0.8932**	0.9015**	0.8942**	0.8658**
Ac30	0.5913*	0.5771*	0.5870*	0.5782*
Ac31	0.7213*	0.6642*	0.6817*	0.7896*
Ac33	0.8776**	0.8932**	0.8930**	0.8572**
Ac34	0.6963*	0.7640*	0.7497*	0.6508*
Ac43	0.6312*	0.6295*	0.6577*	0.5812*
Ac47	0.3092	0.5221	0.4831	0.1815

Table 3.4 Correlation among OTA production and growth responses (Pearson coefficients)

** Significance P<0.001, * P<0.05

Principal component analysis (PCA) was performed taking as variables all 10 fungal isolates, the different growth measurements, OTA levels, and sampling times, confirming the correlation reported above (Fig. 3). PC1 explained 70.6% of the variability in the dataset and it was positively correlated with all growth variables except colony density. PC2 explained the second larger variation in the dataset (14.4%) and it was associated with OTA production, including mainly the group of high OTA producer isolates. Finally, PC3 explained 13.91% of the variability and it was related to colony density. From the plot of scores (Fig. 3.3), it can be inferred that Ac29 was highly correlated with OTA presenting an increasing trend with time. The first PC was related to time as there was a gradual transition of the growth assessment parameters from the left to the right quadrant of the plot, corresponding from low to high incubation times. Valero et al. (2006a) also showed correlation between colony radius and OTA production using also an isolate of *A. carbonarius*, however this research highlights the great impact of diverse fungal isolates (inter-specific variability) on OTA production.



Fig. 3.3 Plot of loadings (A) and scores (B) resulting from PCA analysis for growth and OTA production of *A. carbonarius* isolates considering time of 5 incubation days.

3.3.4 Modeling Ochratoxin A data

Based on correlation results (Table 3.4), a selection in the initially employed fungal growth parameters was made and only three of them were finally taken into consideration, namely colony diameter, colony area and biomass dry weight that presented the highest correlation with OTA. The selected growth parameters were further modeled using the Leudeking-Piret mixed-growth associated model to predict the amount of OTA produced in relation to incubation time.

Table 3.5 shows the estimated model parameters and Fig. 4 provides a graphical illustration of the fitting results for Ac27, Ac29, Ac34, and 5010. Generally, predicted OTA concentration through diameter, colony area or biomass dry weight, led to a mixed-growth associated model, since no specific trend of toxin formation was predicted.

Moreover, a low A_f mean value of 1.385 suggested small differences between predicted and observed data as presented in Fig. 3.5. Also, B_f mean values as 1.24 for colony diameter, 1.04 for colony area and 1.22 for biomass suggested a fail-safe model (Table 3.6). For isolates Ac31, Ac43, and Ac47 the Leudeking-Piret model could not predict OTA at day 3 for some of the growth parameters measured, so B_f and A_f values could not be estimated.

	Diameter			Area			Dry weight		
	α (ng/g mm)	β (ng/g mm d)	r ²	α (ng/g mm ²)	β (ng/g mm ² d)	r ²	α (ng/g mg)	β (ng/g mg d)	r ²
Ac27	0.80 ± 0.30*	$0.40 \pm 0.31*$	83.85	0.01 ± 0.004	0.003±0.001*	91.10	0.17 ± 0.03	$0.02 \pm 0.02*$	84.33
Ac28	6.01 ± 2.52*	$0.14\pm0.72*$	82.11	0.38 ± 0.04	-0.08±0.01	96.61	2.63 ± 0.53	$0.31 \pm 0.31*$	83.10
Ac29	6.78 ± 4.11*	4.54 ± 1.14	97.30	0.94 ± 0.09	-0.15 ± 0.02	99.36	8.74 ± 1.46	2.52 ± 0.69	97.19
Ac30	0.24 ± 0.01	$0.008 \pm 0.003*$	99.64	0.01 ± 0.004	0.003±0.001*	82.28	0.09 ± 0.002	0.0003 ± 0.001	99.64
Ac31	-0.74±0.85*	$0.61 \pm 0.24*$	83.70	$-0.02 \pm 0.02*$	$0.01 \pm 0.008*$	93.00	$0.16\pm0.25*$	$0.16\pm0.25*$	83.70
Ac33	$3.91 \pm 5.18 *$	$1.61 \pm 1.43*$	78.90	$0.48\pm0.22*$	$0.08\pm0.07*$	82.90	$2.75 \pm 1.00 *$	$0.84\pm0.57*$	79.46
Ac34	2.17 ± 1.08*	0.67 ± 0.31*	94.14	$0.19\pm0.04*$	0.01±0.008*	95.16	1.86 ± 0.38	$0.32\pm0.17*$	94.04
Ac43	$0.62\pm0.57*$	$0.11 \pm 0.17*$	70.45	$0.06\pm0.02*$	-0.01±0.009*	77.09	$0.17 \pm 1.11 *$	-0.46±0.69*	52.14
Ac47	$3.26 \pm 2.64*$	$0.84 \pm 0.66*$	64.16	0.23 ± 0.07	$0.04\pm0.02*$	80.92	$12.20 \pm 7.45*$	-2.78±2.15*	52.14
5010	$0.27 \pm 0.72*$	0.70 ± 0.21	93.92	$0.07 \pm 0.03*$	$0.007 \pm 0.03*$	94.55	0.66 ± 0.17	0.38 ± 0.09	94.25

Table 3.5 Parameters and standard errors concerning OTA estimated by the Leudeking-Piret model

*=not significant





Ac34



Fig. 3.4 Fitting of OTA (\blacktriangle) concentration data to Leudeking-Piret models based on the different growth assessments (\bullet).



Fig. 3.5 Indicative diagrams of observed versus predicted values of OTA through diameter (■), colony area (▲), biomass (♠).
	diameter				colony area			biomass dry weight				
	\mathbf{B}_{f}	A _f	у	ľ2	B _f	A_{f}	у	ľ2	\mathbf{B}_{f}	A _f	У	r ²
Ac27	1.11	1.24	0.9573x	0.79	1.03	1.19	0.9765x	0.89	1.10	1.23	0.9585x	0.80
Ac28	1.56	1.80	0.955x	0.71	1.39	1.46	0.991x	0.95	1.54	1.77	0.958x	0.74
Ac29	1.21	1.28	0.9908x	0.97	0.92	1.13	0.9979x	0.99	1.22	1.29	0.9906x	0.96
Ac30	1.01	1.02	0.9994x	0.99	0.54	1.93	0.9703x	0.90	1.01	1.02	0.9995x	0.99
Ac33	1.32	1.63	0.9243x	0.73	1.18	1.40	0.9386x	0.78	1.29	1.60	0.9263x	0.74
Ac34	1.36	1.52	0.9824x	0.93	1.20	1.37	0.9855x	0.94	1.37	1.53	0.9822x	0.93
5010	1.08	1.18	0.975x	0.93	1.02	1.22	0.9776x	0.94	1.03	1.21	0.9763x	0.93

Table 3.6 Accuracy (A _f) and Bias (B _f) factors derived from OTA data	
--	--

In our study of OTA production in tandem with growth assessments, observations showed a decrease in concentration without any sign of decrease in mycelium growth. It must be stressed that as new plates were analyzed at each time period, an increase in the already recognized intrinsic variability in mycotoxin production was expected. Overall, modeling OTA concentration along time and taking inter-specificity into consideration, pointed a slightly better prediction through colony area.

Conclusions

In conclusion, all growth responses studied were found to be correlated with each other. However, higher dispersion expressed as CV% was observed at the early stage of fungal development. Regarding OTA, dispersion was higher among isolates than between the sampling days, and also among isolates of lower ochratoxigenic potential. Multivariate statistical analysis showed that PCA explained more than 99% of the data-set variability in the 3 first PC with component 1 corresponding to the sampling time for all isolates.

In relation to Leudeking-Piret mixed-growth associated model, OTA production in the present study followed a rather mixed growth associated trend among the *A*. *carbonarius* isolates. Statistical indices of A_f and B_f for model performance suggested that the model is a safe approach for OTA prediction. The present work highlights that the dependence of the results from each method assayed lays not only at species level but also among species isolates. Due to the variability of *A*. *carbonarius* to diverse environmental conditions further research is needed to validate our results with additional experimental data. Understanding, and even more, predicting fungal growth, could become an important step in the evaluation and prediction of OTA production of *A*. *carbonarius*, since toxin formation was highly correlated with growth parameters. So if growth could be limited, OTA presence could also be limited.

A deeper understanding of isolates' diversity of this species may trigger a better intervention for toxin prevention in field, while the primary modeling approach could serve as a tool for generating secondary models, promoting predictions for a better toxin control.

Monitoring the Temporal Expression of Genes Involved in Ochratoxin A Production of *Aspergillus carbonarius* under the Influence of Temperature and Water Activity

Iliada K. Lappa, Dimosthenis Kizis, Efstathios Z. Panagou

Published in: Toxins, 2017, 9, 296

Abstract

The objective of this study was to investigate the effect of environmental factors, namely temperature and water activity, on genes involved in the regulation of ochratoxin A (OTA) production over time. For this purpose, the previously characterized toxigenic Aspergillus carbonarius Ac29 isolate from Greek vineyards and the A. carbonarius ITEM 5010 reference strain were subjected to combined temperature and water activity (a_w) treatments to study OTA production and relative gene expression. The fungal isolates were grown on a synthetic grape juice liquid medium (SGM) under different temperature (20 °C, 25 °C and 30 °C) and a_w (0.94 and 0.98) regimes. The expression of the AcOTApks, AcOTAnrps, and laeA OTA related genes was investigated using real time PCR. Gene expression was monitored at the same time points, along with fungal biomass and OTA accumulation at three, six and nine days of incubation. In gene expression analysis, stimulation of the biosynthetic genes was observed a few days before any toxin could be detected. This fact may underline a possible early indicator of potential toxin contamination of grapes. However, the transcript levels varied with respect to the different combinations of ecophysiological conditions and time, highlighting a complex regulation of OTA related gene expression of A. carbonarius in the specific medium.

4.1 Introduction

Ochratoxin A (OTA) is the most important mycotoxin encountered in grapes and grape products, which is widely distributed as a natural contaminant. It is categorized as group 2B carcinogen by the World Health Organization (WHO) (WHO, 1990) as it displays nephrotoxic, hepatotoxic, teratogenic and immunosuppressive properties affecting seriously human health. In general, ochratoxins (OTs) are secondary metabolites

produced by several species of filamentous fungi belonging to the *Aspergillus* or *Penicillium* genera. *Aspergillus carbonarius* is considered the most important OTA producer in grapes, especially for those cultivated in warm climates (Battilani et al., 2006).

The basic chemical structure of OTs, concerning OTA, OTB, and OTC, consists of an isocumarin nucleus bonded to a L-phenylalanine unit by an amide bond. OTA is the chlorinated form of the toxin, which is most prevalent, whereas B and C, the non-chlorinated and esterified forms, respectively (Bayman and Baker, 2006). Its structure indicates that enzymatic reactions are needed for metabolite biosynthesis. Even though this part has not been fully explored, a number of putative pathways have been recently revealed and genes related to OTA biosynthetic pathway and regulations have been suggested.

More specifically, according to OTA molecular structure and proposed biosynthetic pathways, its synthesis requires several proteins, including a polyketide dihydroisocoumarin synthase (PKS), a non-ribosomal peptide synthase (NRPS) for ligation of the amino acid phenylalanine and the polyketide, and a halogenase for chlorination (Gallo et al., 2012). As Hertweket (2009) reported, most of the known mycotoxins produced by fungi consist of a polyketide or peptide catalyzed by PKS or NRPS large multimodular enzymes. The functional role of pks and nrps genes has been revealed in studies concerning different fungal genera such as Penicillium nordicum, A. carbonarius, A. ochraceus, A. westerdijkiae and they have been established to date as OTA biosynthetic key enzymes (Geisen et al., 2006; Gallo et al., 2014). Since both genes have been demonstrated to be necessary in toxin biosynthesis, they have been used as targets to detect and quantify OTA producing molds by molecular techniques. Furthermore, among mycotoxin gene clusters, regulatory genes also exist to control the

61

expression of these biosynthetic genes. LaeA is a protein known as secondary metabolite regulator of various filamentous fungi, being also involved in the regulatory pathway for OTA biosynthesis as a global transcriptional factor (Crespo-Sempere et al., 2013).

The presence of OTA in food products could be the result of direct contamination by molds and its accumulation may be affected by different factors such as temperature, a_w, pH and substrate composition such as carbon and nitrogen sources (Mohamnadreza and Neda, 2011). From the food safety perspective, evaluation of induction of these key genes could become an indicator tool for risk assessment of toxigenic species since gene transcription usually precedes phenotypic production.

The purpose of this study was to employ reverse transcription quantitative PCR (RT-qPCR) to explore the influence of temperature, a_w and time on OTA related gene transcripts expression pattern. While plenty of data exist on the effect of the above factors on growth and OTA production of *Aspergillus carbonarius*, there are no data on the impact of these factors at gene expression level. To our knowledge this work is the first attempt to investigate the effect of ecophysiological factors such as temperature and a_w on *Aspergillus carbonarius* gene expression along with OTA production in relation to time.

4.2 Materials and Methods

4.2.1 Fungal Isolates and Culture Media

A wild isolate of *A. carbonarius* from grapes of Greek vineyards was used throughout this study. The isolate, coded Ac29, has been previously characterized by molecular methods (Kizis et al., 2014) and belongs to the fungal culture collection of the Laboratory of Food Microbiology and Biotechnology (LFMB) of the Agricultural

University of Athens (AUA). In addition, *A. carbonarius* ITEM 5010 was kindly provided by Prof. Tsitsigiannis from the AUA Phytopathology Department and used as reference strain. It is a genome sequencing ochratoxigenic strain of *A. carbonarius*, isolated from grape berries (Apulia, Italy) and it has been already used as reference strain in similar gene expression studies (Gallo et al., 2012; Ferrara et al., 2016).

Spore suspensions of each fungus were prepared using 7-day-old colonies grown on Malt Extract Agar at 25 °C. Conidia were harvested from sub-cultures in an aqueous solution of 0.01% Tween 80 (Merck, Schuchardt, Hohenbrunn, Germany) by scraping the surface of the mycelium with a sterile glass rod. The concentration of the final spore suspension was assessed using a haemocytometer (Brand, Wertheim, Germany) and adjusted by appropriate dilutions to approximately 10⁶ spores/mL.

The study was performed on a Synthetic Grape Juice Liquid Medium (SGM) with pH adjusted to 3.8 using 2M KOH, according to Lappa et al. (2015). SGM was used in Erlenmeyer flasks (Fig. 4A) containing 50 mL of medium inoculated with fungal spore suspension to provide an initial count of 10⁶ conidia/mL in the flask. The a_w of this basal medium was 0.98, as measured by an AquaLab LITE (Decagon Devices Inc., Pullman, WA, USA) water activity meter at 25 °C, and modified to the required level of 0.94 by adding glycerol (Mitchell et al., 2004). Incubation was carried out at 20 °C, 25 °C and 30 °C for 9 days in a rotating shaker at 100 rpm. Rotation helped mycelia to be submerged into the liquid medium and suppress sporulation in order to avoid melanin production which would disturb RNA extraction procedure (Lappa et al., 2017).

63



Fig 4A. Liquid shaking flask cultures of A. carbonarius.

4.2.2 OTA Determination and Growth

For toxin determination, the whole content of each flask was analyzed at Days 3, 6 and 9 as reported elsewhere (Lappa et al., 2017). Specifically, each sample of 50 mL was homogenized using an Ultra Turax homogenizer (Heidolph Instruments, Schwabach, Germany) for 1 min at the highest speed. Subsequently, 5 mL of each homogenate were mixed with 5 mL of 100% methanol and left still for 30 min for OTA extraction. Furthermore, extracts were filtered through a Whatman No 2 filter paper in order to remove any suspended solids and filtered again through a 0.2 μ m syringe-driven filter unit (Millex, Millipore Co., Bedford, MA, USA). All extracts were stored at -20 °C until analysis. OTA was determined by HPLC analysis as detailed elsewhere (Lappa et al., 2015). Briefly, a Model PU-980 Intelligent pump and an FP-2020 Plus fluorescent detector (JASCO Inc., Easton, PA, USA) were used. The analysis was performed under isocratic conditions at a flow rate of 1 mL/min of the mobile phase (water/acetonitrile/acetic acid; 49.5/49.5/1) through a Waters spherisorb C18 analytical

column, 5 μ m ODS2 (4.6 × 250 mm) (Resteck Co., Pinnacle II, Bellefonte, PA, USA). Injection volume was 10 μ L and run time for samples was 20 min with OTA detected at about 11 min. Additionally known concentrations of OTA were spiked on SGM and a recovery assay for the HPLC method was assessed (Lappa et al., 2017). The detection limit of the analysis was 1 ng/mL of the measurement solution. For growth determination, fungal mycelium was harvested from the flasks, and biomass wet weight was determined at Days 3, 6, and 9. Both toxin and growth determination were conducted in triplicate.

4.2.3 RNA Isolation and cDNA Synthesis

RNA was extracted as described by Lappa et al. (2017). Briefly, 3 biological samples of grown mycelia were collected from SGM, washed with double distilled H₂O (ddH₂O), dried in Whatman No 2 paper, flash frozen in liquid nitrogen for stabilization of expression, and stored at -80 °C until extraction. Frozen tissues were lyophilized and approximately 10 mg of fungal mycelium were grounded to powder and used for nucleic acid extraction. Invitrogen, PureLink RNA mini kit (Ambion, Carlsbad, CA, USA) was used for total RNA isolation according to manufacturer's protocol and Trizol (Ambion, Carlsbad, CA, USA) was employed in RNA extraction. Moreover, to remove genomic DNA contamination, samples were treated with Turbo DNase (Ambion, Carlsbad, CA, USA) according to kit instructions. The quality of RNA samples was checked through an RT-qPCR amplification to ensure absence of genomic DNA. RNA concentration and purity of each sample were assessed spectophotometricaly using a NanoDrop spectrophotometer (IMPLEN GmbH, Munchen, Germany). RNA integrity was also verified on 3% agarose ethidium–bromide staining gel (Fig. 4B). Extended preliminary experiments were conducted evaluating several isolation protocols, in order

to select the most appropriate extraction method for A. carbonarius samples concerning RNA concentration, purity, and genomic DNA absence.

First-strand cDNA was synthesized using PrimeScript Reverse Transcriptase (Takara, Kukatsu, Japan) according to manufacturer's instructions. A concentration of 500 ng of total RNA was used for each sample in a 20 μ L final reaction volume. Reaction mixture was incubated for 5 min at 65 °C and the specific set up program was maintained at 30 °C for 10 min, 42 °C for 60 min, and 70 °C for 15 min.



Fig. 4B. Indicative 3% agarose jel of A. carbonarius RNA

4.2.4 Real Time PCR

For gene expression assay, Real Time PCR was used to amplify the *Ac*OTA*pks*, *Ac*OTA*nrps* and *laeA* target genes. Constitutively expressed β -*tubulin* gene served as internal reference for gene expression normalization as this is a widely used housekeeping gene reported in relevant studies (Gallo et al., 2012; Crespo-Sempere et al., 2013). Nucleotide sequences of primers used in the qPCR assays are shown in Table 4.1.

The Applied Biosystems 7500 Fast Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA) was used to carry out Real time PCR experiments which were conducted in 96-well plates. To monitor cDNA amplification, qPCRBioSyGreen Mix High-Rox (PCR BIOSYSTEMS, London, UK) was used in a 10 µL reaction. Cycling conditions according to the specific SYBRGreen protocol were: 95 °C for 0.5 min, 60 °C for 0.25 min, and 72 °C for 0.25 min (40 cycles). Melting curve analysis of the PCR products was performed by heating to 95 °C for 0.15 min and 60 °C for 1 min, and continuous measurement of the fluorescence to verify the PCR product. Template-free negative controls were also used at every run. Data analysis was assessed by StepOnePlus RT-PCR System Software v2.1 and transcription levels of the target genes were determined after normalization with the reference gene (tub- β). An indicative amplification plot is presented in Fig. 4C. In all cases, transcript values were expressed as normalized individual data points, based on the formula $E^{\Delta Ct}$ (Schmittgen and Livak. 2008), according to each primer pair efficiency, where $\Delta C_t = C_t$ gene of interest and C_t internal control. Gene expression measurements were considered to be comparable since equal amounts of RNA were used as template and also reaction conditions were the same in all qPCR assays. Gene expression was assayed in triplicate for each individual biological sample.



Fig 4C. Indicative amplification of targeted genes of *A. carbonarius* from liquid cultures.

Primer pair	Gene	Nucleotide sequences 5'—3'	Reference
F-pks	AcOTApks	GTC AAG GTC GGG TGC TAC AA	Lappa et al. (2017)
R-pks		TCG GAA TGA TAC GCG ACT TT	
F-nrps	AcOTAnrps	CTC CAC CCA TCC TCC CGT TC	Crespo Sempere et al. (2013)
R-nrps		AAT CCA TGT CCT CAC CAT CGC	
F-laea	laeA	CAC CTA TAC AAC CTC CGA ACC AC	Crespo Sempere et al. (2013)
R-laea		GGT TCG GCC AAC CGA CGA CGC TG	
F-tubβ	β -tubulin	CGC ATG AAC GTC TAC TTC AAC GAG	Crespo Sempere et al. (2013)
R-tubβ		AGT TGT TAC CAG CAC CGG ACT	

Table 4.1 Nucleotide sequences of primers for qPCR assay

qPCR efficiency tests for each primer were performed under the specific experimental conditions and evaluated as 96% for *AcOTApks*, 101% for *AcOTAnrps*, 98% for *laeA* and 94% for β -tubulin genes, respectively.

4.2.5 Data Analysis

Data concerning toxin production and gene expression levels were analyzed to investigate how these responses were distributed across the experiment treatments, determining also any intra-species differences. Data were subjected to general linear model (GLM) analysis to investigate the effect of time, temperature and a_w on measured fungal responses. Moreover, effect test was employed pointing the significant effects among treatments and biological responses. Statistical analysis was performed using JMP software (SAS, Institute INV, Cary, NC, USA). The statistical significance was set at $p \leq 0.05$. Furthermore, two-dimensional (2D) surface response contour plots were generated using Minitab 14 (Minitab Inc., State College, PA, USA) in relation to the combinations of temperature \times time for biomass and OTA production for each considered fungus and aw level. Finally, Principal Component Analysis (PCA) was performed on the correlation matrix of the variables as described elsewhere (Ringener et al., 2008). The explanatory variables used in the analysis were biomass and OTA production, aw levels, incubation temperature and time, fungal strain and the expression of the three selected genes. For the selection of the optimum number of Principal Components (PCs), factors with eigenvalues greater than 1.0 were selected. The results of the PCA analysis were graphically presented by the plots of loadings and scores for the first two principal components indicating a condensed representation of the correlation between the original variables and the distribution of the samples. PCA analysis was implemented with XLStat software version 2006.06 using a (Addinsoft, Paris, France) varimax rotation.

69

4.3 Results and Discussion

4.3.1 Impact of ecophysiological factors on growth and toxin production over time

Two-dimensional (2D) contour plots representing biomass production (g) of *A*. *carbonarius* Ac29 and *A*. *carbonarius* ITEM 5010 in relation to temperature and incubation time for each a_w level assayed are shown in Fig. 4. Higher biomass was produced at 0.98 a_w (Fig. 4.1 B,D) for both fungi irrespective of temperature and incubation time compared to 0.94 a_w (Fig. 4.1 A,C).

Moreover, an intra-strain difference was observed since the Ac29 isolate produced more biomass compared to the reference strain ITEM 5010 in all combinations of temperature × time for the same a_w level. In general, biomass production increased proportionally with time for both fungi, and reached a maximum at 25 °C and 0.94 a_w , whereas for 0.98 a_w maximum biomass production has shifted to 26 °C. It needs to be noted that at day 3 no growth was observed for both strains at 0.94 a_w regardless of temperature and at 0.98 a_w at 20 °C. The above results are consistent with other ecophysiological studies for *A. carbonarius* regarding optimum growth temperature (Mateo et al., 2009; Kapetanakou et al., 2009). These results indicate that the combination of specific temperature and water activity has an important effect on fungal growth. There are reports investigating a number of *A. carbonarius* isolates, showing that low a_w (ca. 0.94) is restrictive not only to growth, but also to OTA production, especially when they act in parallel with other environmental parameters (Romero et al., 2005).

Fig. 4.5 presents 2D contour plots for OTA production of the two fungal strains in relation to temperature and time for each a_w level separately. OTA accumulation levels varied reaching a maximum value of 423 ng/mL, with the isolate Ac29 being a higher OTA producer compared to the reference strain ITEM 5010, enforcing thus the finding of a previous study in which the selected fungal strains present high OTA potential

(Lappa et al., 2015). In general, a similar trend was observed in both strains as OTA gradually increased throughout incubation time. It has already been reported (Belli et al., 2004) that reduction of a_w in grapes results in reduction of OTA accumulation. On the other hand, high a_w levels (in the range of 0.98) enhance OTA production as reported by other researchers (Mitchell et al., 2003). The optimum temperature for OTA production was different for the two strains at 0.98 aw, since Ac29 presented the highest toxin concentration at 28-30 °C in contrast to ITEM 5010 where maximum toxin accumulation was observed at ca. 26 °C (Fig. 4.2 B,D). However, at 0.94 a_w, both fungi presented maximum OTA production at ca. 25-26 °C (Fig. 4.2 A,C). Our results are consistent with previous studies which have reported 25 °C as optimum temperature for OTA production by A. carbonarius (Mitchell et al., 2003), and also agree with Belli et al. (2005) who reported 30 °C as the temperature of maximum OTA production observed. However, other studies report 20 °C as the optimum temperature for toxin production (Marin et al., 2006; Tassou et al., 2009). Such differences are possibly associated with the use of different isolates (Esteban et al., 2006), growth media (Pardo et al., 2006) and experimental conditions such as solid or liquid growth cultures (Lappa et al., 2017). Furthermore, even thought it has been demonstrated previously that toxin production is well associated with biomass for both strains (Lappa et al., 2015), the fact that Ac29 produced higher amounts of OTA at 30 °C could suggest that this strain is adapted to high temperatures, since it has been isolated from vineyards in Crete, a warm climate region in Southern Greece.

Finally, it needs to be noted that isolate Ac29 did not produce any OTA at 20 °C and 30 °C/0.94 a_w , whereas no toxin was detected for strain ITEM 5010 at 20 °C/0.94 a_w . In the cases where no toxin was detected, growth was macroscopically visible, pointing that ecophysiological conditions that allow fungal growth are broader than those required for

OTA production (Tassou et al., 2009). This highlights the significance of the combination of the above ecological factors on toxin production and also the importance of intra strain studies. Furthermore, analysis of variance performed on OTA revealed highly statistical significance (p < 0.0001) for all single factors assayed (strain, temperature, a_w and time) (Table 4.2). Among the parameters tested, a_w had the strongest effect followed by strain, time and finally temperature. Moreover, ANOVA assessed the impact of cross effect among the parameters assayed and the combination of strain x a_w presented the highest impact. Furthermore, comparison of the mean values for OTA revealed differences between the two strains at each incubation time at 25 °C and 30 °C/0.98 aw which is also graphically confirmed by the 2D contour plots (Fig. 4.2 B,D). In addition statistically significant differences were observed between the two strains at 20 °C/0.94 aw after nine days of incubation. From the intra-species perspective, temperature had the same impact on both strains in terms of toxin production. However, a_w had greater impact on strain Ac29 (p < 0.0001) in contrast to reference strain (p < 0.0004) which appeared to be more sensitive to the parameter of time. Biomass and OTA raw data are also provided in Fig. 4.3.



Fig. 4.1 Two-dimensional contour plots showing the effect of temperature and incubation time on biomass production (g) for: *Aspergillus carbonarius* Ac29 (A, B); and *A. carbonarius* 5010 (C, D).



Fig. 4.2 Two-dimensional contour plots showing the effect of temperature and incubation time on OTA production (ng/mL) for: *Aspergillus carbonarius* Ac29 (A, B); and *A. carbonarius* 5010 (C, D).



Fig. 4.3.: Effect of temperature, a_w and time on (A) biomass and (B) OTA production of *Aspergillus carbonarius* strains on SGM (Synthetic grape medium). Error bars when visible represent the standard error of the mean value of 3 replicates.

DF	Sum of Squares	F Ratio	Prob > F
1	102,931.82	152.7185	< 0.0001
2	137,844.54	102.259	< 0.0001
1	200,240.91	297.0947	< 0.0001
2	153,981.37	114.23	< 0.0001
2	88,487.9	65.6441	< 0.0001
2	100,385.72	74.4705	< 0.0001
4	60,879.31	22.5814	< 0.0001
4	43,630.88	16.1836	< 0.0001
2	52,627.61	39.0414	< 0.0001
1	86,572.75	128.4468	< 0.0001
2	45,901.93	34.052	< 0.0001
2	40,530.5	30.0673	< 0.0001
4	25,880.57	9.5997	< 0.0001
4	23,840.98	8.8431	< 0.0001
2	39,596.13	29.3741	< 0.0001
	$ \begin{array}{c} 1 \\ 2 \\ 1 \\ 2 \\ 2 \\ 4 \\ 4 \\ 2 \\ 1 \\ 2 \\ 1 \\ 2 \\ 4 \\ $	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1 102,931.82 152.7185 2 137,844.54 102.259 1 200,240.91 297.0947 2 153,981.37 114.23 2 88,487.9 65.6441 2 100,385.72 74.4705 4 60,879.31 22.5814 4 43,630.88 16.1836 2 52,627.61 39.0414 1 86,572.75 128.4468 2 40,530.5 30.0673 4 25,880.57 9.5997 4 23,840.98 8.8431

Table 4.2 Analysis of variance for the effect of ecophysiological factors on OTA production.

4.3.2 Impact of ecophysiological factors upon gene regulation over time

The effect of incubation temperature, a_w and time on the expression of AcOTA*nrps*, AcOTA*pks* and *laeA* genes during *A. carbonarius* growth in SGM are presented in Fig.s 4.4 and 4.5 for Ac29 and ITEM 5010, respectively. In general, with regard to the expression of the two biosynthetic genes and the global regulator, both strains showed regulation in all cases studied and different expression patterns were observed. Statistical analysis showed that gene expression of all three genes was significantly affected by the parameters used in the study (Table 4.3A). Analysis of variance for the

whole response of the selected genes revealed high statistical significance for every single factor (Table 4.3B). The effect of temperature on gene expression was analyzed at different incubation times. A *t*-test revealed that AcOTA*pks* (p < 0.0225) and *laeA* (p < 0.0328) were the genes mostly affected by the different temperature regimes, especially at Day 6 where the highest gene expression was observed.

Table 4.3 Analyses of variance for the effect of ecophysiological factors on: inter-straindifferences (A); and intra-strain differences (B) in transcriptional profiles

Genes	Factor	P value	F ratio
AcOTAnrps	temperature	0.0541	2.10
(p<0.0103)	a _w	0.6840	0.0005
	time	0.2600	0.53
	strain	0.0016**	10.40
AcOTApks	temperature	<.00021***	3.97
(p<0.0001)	a_{w}	0.2339	0.63
	time	0.0476*	2.79
	strain	<.0001***	37.27
laeA	temperature	0.0158*	3.56
(p<0.0028)	a _w	0.0368*	4.11
	time	0.9761	0.11
	strain	0.0045**	8.58

B.

Α.

Strain	Cross effect	P value	F ratio
	AcOTA <i>nrps</i>		
	time x temperature	0.0061**	6.14
	AcOTApks		
Ac29	time x temperature	0.0011**	8.78
	laeA		
	time x temperarture	0.0047**	6.54
	temperature x aw	0.0023**	11.27
	time x temperature x aw	0.0018**	7.96
	AcOTApks		
	time x temperature x aw	<.0001***	13.72
5010	laeA		
3010	time x temperarture	<.0001***	20.86
	time x aw	0.042*	4.53
	time x temperature x aw	0.0023**	7.61

Moreover, a_w effects were evaluated at different sampling times indicating that gene expression at Day 6 was highly affected by a_w levels. Specifically, AcOTA*nrps* expression of Ac29 was higher at 25 °C/Day 6 at both a_w levels assayed. In addition, at 20 °C and 30 °C, gene expression levels for the same fungus increased with time at 0.94 a_w (Fig. 4.4A). AcOTA*pks* expression did not present any difference at 20 °C, but upregulation was observed at 25 °C and 30 °C (Fig. 4.4 B). The levels of *laeA* expression increased from 20 to 25 °C followed by a decrease at 30 °C (Fig. 4.4 C). On the other hand, the general trend of AcOTA*nrps* expression for the strain 5010 followed an increase with temperature and the same holds for AcOTA*pks* transcripts (Fig. 4.5 A, B). Finally, the expression of *laeA* gene decreased with increasing temperature (Fig. 4.5 C).

Differences among transcript levels were also observed at different sampling times when *A. carbonarius* grew at constant temperature. Increase of incubation time resulted in a strong trend of turning up transcription of AcOTA*nrps* for strain ITEM 5010 at all three temperatures assayed and for Ac29 at 20 °C and 30 °C. Furthermore, for the reference strain, expression of *laeA* followed an increasing trend with time at 20 °C and 30 °C/0.98 a_w (Fig. 4.5 C). Hence, sampling time caused greater transcriptional changes than growing conditions. The influence of time on AcOTA*pks* at different sampling times did not provide a clear trend in both fungi.

According to Table 4.3A, fungal strain caused the highest variation in gene response for the ecophysiological parameters studied. Moreover, results showed that AcOTA*pks* (p < 0.0001) gene was most highly affected by fungal strain. Further, analysis of interactions by ANOVA showed the impact of the combined effect of the ecophysiological parameters studied on gene expression at intra-strain level (Table 4.3B). The highest impact is presented for each strain underlying the complexity of interactions of all parameters on gene expression results.

Principal Components Analysis (PCA) undertaken on the samples corresponding to different combinations of temperature, a_w , time, and fungal strain resulted in the identification of three Principal Components (PCs) with eigenvalues higher than 1.0 which explained 67.3% of the total variance. Moreover, the results of the analysis are graphically illustrated in Fig. 4.6 where the original variables are projected onto the plane formed by the selected two first PCs. Specifically, Fig. 4.6A can be used to establish relationships among variables. Thus, a strong positive correlation was observed for OTA and biomass production, indicating that the higher the biomass the higher the amount of OTA (Lappa et al., 2013). A close relationship was also evident for temperature and AcOTA*pks* and AcOTA*nrps* gene expression, indicating that higher temperatures resulted in higher expression of these genes, whereas the opposite was observed for temperature and *laeA* gene expression as the two vectors corresponding to these variables form an angle close to 90 °C (Rodriquez-Gomez et al., 2012).







Fig. 4.4 Effect of temperature and a_w on transcript levels of: AcOTA*nrps* (**A**); AcOTA*pks* (**B**); and *laeA* (**C**) genes of *Aspergillus carbonarius* Ac29 through time. Error bars indicate standard error of three replicates. In the case of absence of fungal growth at Day 3, no values are displayed.







Fig. 4.5 Effect of temperature and a_w on transcript levels of: AcOTA*nrps* (**A**); AcOTA*pks* (**B**); and *laeA* (**C**) of reference strain *Aspergillus carbonarius* ITEM 5010 through time. Error bars indicate standard error of three replicates. In the case of absence of fungal growth at Day 3, no values are displayed.



Fig. 4.6 Plot of: variables (**A**); and cases (**B**) of the principal components analysis illustrating the correlation between a_w , temperature, fungal biomass, OTA production and temporal expression of *Aspergillus carbonarius* OTA related genes by Ac29 and reference strain ITEM 5010, grown on SGM. (Cases are coded as follows: W and R correspond to wild and reference fungal strain, respectively; the following two numbers correspond to incubation temperature; the next two digits indicate a_w level; and the last digit incubation time).

It is also notable that the vectors for AcOTA*nrps* and AcOTA*pks* gene expression are located in diagonally opposed quadrants in relation to *laeA* gene expression, meaning that, when the former two genes are up regulated, the latter gene is down regulated. Finally, the vector for time is correlated to AcOTA*nrps*, and AcOTA*pks* genes, indicating higher expression of these genes with the course of time.

The distribution of the samples on the plane formed by the first two PCs is illustrated in Fig. 4.6B. The wild strain Ac29 is mainly located in the right part of the plot, especially for the cases characterized by high a_w (0.98) and high incubation time (nine days) at 25 and 30 °C. Moreover, by taking into account the plot of variables (Fig. 4.6A), it is clear that the fungus Ac29 grown at these conditions is associated with higher biomass and OTA production and higher expression of the AcOTA*pks* and AcOTA*nrps* genes. The remaining cases for Ac29 corresponding to low a_w (0.94) regardless of temperature and time as well as those cases associated with 20 °C irrespective of a_w and time are located in the left part of the plot together with the reference strain without presenting a clear pattern. Certain cases of the ITEM 5010 located in the upper left quadrant of the plot, corresponding to high a_w (0.98), 20 °C and 25 °C and diverse incubation times, are associated with the expression of the *laeA* gene that seems to present high expression at these conditions.

As reported above, AcOTA*nrps*, AcOTA*pks* and *laeA* have been systematically correlated with OTA production. However, it should be highlighted that there are no previous studies investigating the combined effect of different temperature regimes, a_w levels and time on the transcriptional responses of *A. carbonarius*. In the current work, the focus was given on two structural genes localized in the ochratoxigenic biosynthetic cluster, and one global regulator. In general, there are limited studies elucidating the expression of toxigenic related genes with different ecophysiological parameters.

Specifically, the association between temperature, a_w and transcript profiles concerning mycotoxin production has already been published (Magan and Medina, 2016; Medina et al., 2013). In the present work, even though a_w was the key factor affecting OTA production, this was not observed with expression patterns, where temperature seemed to act as the key factor influencing transcript levels. These results are in accordance with Yu et al. (2011) who reported that temperature is a modulator of mycotoxin production, such as aflatoxins, indicating that high temperature negatively affects aflatoxin production by turning down transcription of the two key transcriptional regulators. However, mixed responses of different regulation between evaluated parameters occurred elsewhere. Recently, Gallo et al. (2016) also observed that temperature was correlated to the induction of expression of structural biosynthesis genes, but not to that of aflatoxin regulatory genes. Rocha et al. (2015) also reported weak association between fumonisin production by Fusarium verticillioides and some of FUM genes expression levels. In another work, it was found that FUM2 and FUM21 gene expression levels were slightly affected by modification of a_w whereas temperature was the main controlling factor in fumonisin B₁ production by two strains of *Fusarium* verticillioides (Lazzaro et al., 2012). Furthermore, the profiles of gene expression of both toxigenic strains analyzed were quite different. These differences on gene regulation indicate the importance of strain variability in these experiments, since the majority of studies usually investigate the behavior of one fungal strain.

The regulatory mechanism underlying OTA biosynthesis is not completely understood yet, possibly due to its complexity through different levels of regulation. This mechanism could act within the biosynthetic cluster or external to it and its phenotypic expression is likely to subordinate to other regulatory processes acting at posttranscriptional level. It is also notable that translational or post translational control may

84

also occur in a co-regulation mechanism of the genes studied (Sonenberg et al., 2009). Growth conditions that favor the expression of OTA biosynthetic genes do not always result in OTA biosynthesis by fungi. This could suggest that the influence of abiotic factors is mediated via induction of transcription of ochratoxin A biosynthetic genes. In fact, production of fungal secondary metabolites could be affected by numerous signals of inhibitory or promotional effect on the regulatory systems. Patterns in transcript biosynthesis are not necessarily correlated with phenotypic metabolites produced.

Finally, gene expression was assayed by RT-qPCR in relation to abiotic factors known to influence ochratoxin A biosynthesis. Molecular measurements are more sensitive compared to the analytic quantification of OTA, indicating the successful implementation of analysis of transcriptome response. Black aspergilli are normally present in vineyards, but OTA is not always detected even though it can be quantified at very low concentrations (Battilani et al., 2003). In this regard, RT-qPCR provides very useful information to relate molecular changes under different ecological conditions in a rapid and convenient way.

Conclusions

The influence of the environmental factors of temperature and a_w has been studied in this work and different profiles were observed in response to time concerning OTA and gene expression levels by *Aspergillus carbonarius*. The expression of OTA key biosynthetic genes during growth on SGM at different environmental conditions was successfully assessed, since transcripts were detected in all cases. Early activation of both OTA biosynthetic key genes confirmed the predictive nature of RT-qPCR analysis, since molecular indicator genes were expressed a few days before any OTA could be detected. High variation between the wild fungal isolate Ac29 and the reference strain

ITEM 5010 has been observed underlying the significance of intra-species variability. Temperature and a_w were involved in the transcription process of the specific genes for mycotoxin production. Stimulation of genes and the observed transcript levels may suggest a different regulation action evolved. This indicates that expression is possibly closely related with control at the post-transcriptional level and requires further investigation. Even though OTA and biomass appeared to have a constant trend with the environmental parameters under study, a determined pattern could not be clearly established between transcript levels and toxin production. Results constitute a first indication on the responses in different ecophysiological environments, highlighting the complexity of regulation mechanisms at gene expression level of *A. carbonarius* and suggesting further research on the fine regulation of gene expression.

In vitro evaluation of essential oils against *Aspergillus carbonarius* isolates and their effects on Ochratoxin A related gene expression in synthetic grape medium.

Iliada K. Lappa, Eleni Simini, Efstathios Z. Panagou

Published in: Food Control, 2017, 73, 71-80

Abstract

Clove, mandarin, cinnamon and lemongrass essential oils (EOs) were tested for their efficacy against 2 wild isolates (Ac29, Ac28) and a reference strain (5010) of Aspergillus carbonarius. Two different assays were performed on Malt Extract Agar (MEA) and Czapek Yeast Extract Agar (CYA) solid cultures, as well as on synthetic grape medium (SGM) liquid cultures. The impact of EOs on fungal growth and toxin production was measured after 7 days of incubation at 25 °C. Furthermore, the effect of clove, lemongrass and mandarin EOs on A. carbonarius OTA related genes AcOTAnrps, AcOTApks and laeA was investigated by relative expression using Real Time PCR on SGM cultures. Results showed that in solid cultures, complete fungal inhibition was obtained at 100-300 µL/L of EOs revealing a dose dependant effect of clove, cinnamon and lemongrass, whereas mandarin was proved to be less effective. EOs could not completely inhibit OTA production but reduce it by 15-98% depending on the type and concentration of EO, even though in certain cases of low concentrations, EOs showed to enhance toxin production. In liquid cultures, a major effect on growth inhibition and OTA reduction was observed for all EOs. Regarding gene expression, down regulation of AcOTAnrps was observed in the majority of treatments that could be associated with toxin reduction. Moreover, AcOTApks exhibited some differential expression but laeA did not show any differences in the transcriptional profile. The above gene expression results may indicate a possible mode of action of EOs in OTA biosynthetic pathway.

5.1 Introduction

The ability of different filamentous fungal species to excrete mycotoxins has drawn the attention of the scientific community as a serious potential health issue. Their presence as natural contaminants of agricultural products is still a major food safety problem.

Research on mycotoxin contamination is a major priority for scientists worldwide, since the specific toxins are stable and resistant to heat or acidic environment and could remain in the food chain during distribution and storage for a long period causing serious safety issues. Aspergillus genera belong to the most important fungal group, as they can biosynthesize toxic secondary metabolites. Aspergillus carbonarius has been defined as one of the most important opportunistic pathogen in grapes, since it has the highest incidence of ochratoxin-producing isolates within the Aspergillus group (Stefanaki et al., 2003) and high potential of toxin production. Ochratoxin A (OTA) is considered to be a prevalent and most toxic mycotoxin of the ochratoxins group, since it is rated as potential carcinogen (group 2B) by the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC, 1993), nephrotoxic (JECFA, 2008) with immunotoxic and hepatotoxic impact to humans and animals. Mycotoxins may reach consumers by direct contamination of plant material or carry over their metabolites to food products. The European Union has established strict legislation for many products, including grapes, concerning the use of chemicals and maximum residue levels of pesticides (MRLs). Therefore, over the last few decades the interest of scientists has been focused on alternative applications of natural antimicrobials to control fungal growth on grapes and grape products.

It has been demonstrated that essential oils (EOs) contain diverse bioactive components that prevent moulds and their toxic metabolites, having at the same time the advantage of non-phytotoxicity and biodegradation. The Federal Regulation Code has recognized, EOs of clove, cinnamon, lemongrass, etc., as safe (GRAS) in the United States (U.S. Code of Federal Regulation, 2012). Several experiments with EOs have reported that clove, cinnamon and lemongrass are promising candidates for the inhibition of foodborn pathogens and spoilage microorganisms (Soliman and Badeaa, 2002; Tian et al., 2012). There are also reports on the inhibition of spore formation in *Aspergillus* species by

lemongrass, cinnamon and clove (Paranagama et al., 2003; Pawar and Thaker, 2006), spore germination (Tzortzakis and Economakis, 2007), or interaction with the cells of hyphae as reported for *Citrus sinensis* on *A. niger* (Sharma and Tripathi, 2006). Low molecular weight and highly lipophilic compounds of EOs pass easily through cell membranes and disrupt the fungal cell. On the other hand, regarding the effect of EOs on mycotoxin biosynthesis there are studies indicating actions like inhibition of lipid peroxidation during aflatoxin B1 formation (Bluma et al., 2008). Moreover, a gene expression study has reported that a-terpinen affected genes involved in ergosterol biosynthesis in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* (Parveen et al., 2004).

OTA is a polyketide mycotoxin linked to the amino acid phenylalanine. This molecular structure indicates that enzymatic reactions are needed for metabolite biosynthesis and even today this pathway has not been completely elucidated. However, a number of putative pathways have been proposed and recently the role of two genes has been revealed, namely NRPSs and PKSs that have been confirmed to be key enzymes of OTA biosynthesis gene cluster (Gallo at al., 2009, 2012, 2014). Moreover, LaeA protein has been reported to govern secondary metabolites production on *Aspergillus* genome (Bow and Keller, 2004) and recently *laeA* gene has been correlated with the regulation of OTA biosynthesis in *A. carbonarius* (Crespo-Sempere et al., 2013).

During the last decade many studies have examined the ecophysiology of *A. carbonarius*, however very few deal with agents for growth inhibition and toxin control such as gallic acid, *Matricaria chamomilla* essential oil, natamycin and pine resin (Romero et al., 2010; Tolouee et al., 2010; Kogkaki et al., 2015). Moreover, there are few publications on the use of EOs as anti-ochratoxigenic agents (Santos et al., 2010; Hua et al., 2014) and even less on their impact on the growth and toxin production of *A. carbonarius* (Garcia-Cela et al., 2011; Passone et al., 2012).

90

Thus, the objective of this work was to determine the efficacy of the EO of clove, mandarin, cinnamon and lemongrass in the control of *A. carbonarius* growth in different media and investigate any potential influence on the expression of OTA related genes. To our knowledge this is the first report on EOs which along with intra-specific OTA production investigates also their effect on *A. carbonarius* gene expression.

5.2 Materials and methods

5.2.1 Essential Oils

Four EOs were evaluated in the present study, namely *Eygenia cariophyllus* (clove oil, 87% eugenol), *Citrus reticulata* (mandarin, 89% limonene), *Cinnanomum cassia* (cinnamon, 78% e-cinnamaldehyde) and *Cymbopogon citratus* (lemongrass, 45% geranial, 25% neral) purchased from Pranarôm Intenational S.A. (Ghislenghien, Belgium). The concentration of the main active compounds for each EO was provided by the manufacturer.

5.2.2 Fungal isolates and sample preparation

Two different wild isolates of *A. carbonarius* (Ac28 and Ac29) from the fungal collection of the Laboratory of Microbiology and Biotechnology of Foods (LMBF) of the Agricultural University of Athens were used in this work. The fungi have been previously isolated from grapes, characterized by molecular methods (Kizis et al., 2014) and their OTA potential has been reported elsewhere (Lappa et al., 2015a). In addition, a strain of *A. carbonarius* ITEM 5010 kindly provided by Prof. Tsitsigiannis from the Laboratory of Phytopathology of the same University was used as reference. The study was performed on 3 different growth media: (a) Malt extract agar (MEA, malt extract, 20 g; peptone, 1 g; glucose, 20 g; bacteriological agar, 20 g; distilled water, *c.* 1000 ml) which favors fungal
sporulation, (b) Czapek Yeast extract Agar (CYA, SD, Oxoid) which is recommended for the determination of OTA in A. carbonarius (Bragulat et al., 2001), and (c) Synthetic Grape Juice Medium (SGM) that simulates grape composition between véraison and ripeness (Delfini, 1982). The pH of the SGM was adjusted to 3.8 with 2M KOH. MEA and CYA were used for the preparation of solid media whereas SGM for liquid media. Spore suspensions of each A. carbonarius isolate were prepared by collecting spores from 7-day old fungal colonies grown on MEA at 25 °C. Conidia were harvested from subcultures in an aqueous solution of 0.01% Tween 80 (Merck, Schuchardt, Germany) by scraping the surface of the mycelium with a sterile glass rod. The final spore suspensions were assessed using a haemocytometer (Brand, Wertheim, Germany) and adjusted by appropriate dilutions to approximately 10⁶ spores/mL. EOs were initially dissolved in sterile Tween 80 (0.01% aqueous solution) that was used as a nonionic emulsifier to facilitate dispersion into the media (Fu et al., 2007). Further on, EOs were individually diluted in autoclaved media under constant agitation, dispersed into petri dishes, and allowed to solidify within 5 min. Plates containing 50 - 1000 μ L/L of EOs (Table 5.1) were prepared by adding the respective amount of EO directly into the autoclaved medium that was further centrally single spotted with 10^3 spores on the surface. All plates were sealed using Parafilm to minimize desiccation of the medium and loss of the EO. For gene expression studies, SGM was used in shaking flask cultures. Specifically, conidia were inoculated into 100 ml Erlenmeyer flasks containing 50 mL of the medium supplemented with 50-100 µL/L of EOs and sealed with Parafilm (Table 5.1). Incubation was carried out for 7 days at 25 °C in a rotating shaker at 100 rpm. Control samples (i.e., cultures without EOs) were also used. Cultures showing no growth were incubated for 7 more days and then transferred to plates without EO to determine fungicidal or fungistatic effects.

Essential Oils	Concentrations (µL/L)	
	SOLID MEDIA	LIQUID MEDIA
Lemongrass	50, 100, 200, 300	50, 75, 100
Clove	50, 100, 200, 300	50, 75, 100
Cinnamon	50, 75, 100, 150	50, 75, 100
Mandarin	400, 700, 1000	400, 700, 1000

Table 5.1: Concentrations of essential oils employed in the experimental work.

For kinetic studies in solid media cultures, colony radius was observed on a daily basis and recorded at right angles with the aid of a ruler, while for liquid cultures mycelium was harvested from broth and fungal biomass weighed. The growth of fungal cultures containing different concentrations of EOs was compared with the control culture. All the assays for fungal growth and OTA production were replicated in triplicate.

5.2.3 Growth assessment

At the beginning of this work, preliminary tests were undertaken to select the appropriate concentration range for each EO in solid and liquid media. Specifically, isolate Ac28 was employed in establishing the concentration range of EOs according to growth inhibition results. The interaction between fungal mycelia and EOs was observed through growth changes over time and inhibition was recorded as mycelial diameter reduction over time. It must be noted that mandarin essential oil did not show any inhibition effect at 300 μ L/L as the other EOs and thus higher concentrations (400, 700, and 1000 μ L/L) were evaluated. Moreover no growth inhibition was observed for this EO at CYA therefore no further experiments were undertaken for OTA production in this medium. Percentage of inhibition (%) was calculated on day 7 for growth and OTA production as follows:

Inhibition (%) =
$$\left(1 - \frac{T}{c}\right) \cdot 100$$
 (1)

where T is the diameter of fungal mycelium treated with EO or OTA concentration at day 7 and C is the respective value in the control sample (i.e., treatment without EO).

Based on the antifungal effects observed in solid media from a previous work (Lappa et al., 2015b), it was decided to investigate further the anti-ochratoxigenic action of EOs at gene expression level. For this assay, a specific medium which simulates grape juice was used along with the two wild isolates of *A. carbonarius* (Ac28 and Ac29) from grapes. For this task, preliminary experiments showed that a good yield of RNA could not be achieved in solid cultures, due to conidial melanin produced after the mycelium started to sporulate (approximately on day 3 of incubation). On the contrary, evaluation of shaking flask cultures showed limited conidiation, achieving thus high yield of RNA for gene expression studies.

5.2.4 Ochratoxin A detection

For solid cultures, OTA production was assessed according to the method of Bragulat et al., (2001). Specifically, six agar plugs (6 mm diameter each) were removed across the diameter of the mycelium by means of a sterile cork borer, weighed into a 1.5 mL eppendorf tube and extracted with 1 mL of 100% methanol. After shaking the tubes for 5 min in a rotating shaker, they were left still for 1 h and then filtered through a 0.2 μ m syringe-driven filter unit (Millex, Millipore Co., Bedford, Mass.). For liquid cultures, the whole content of each flask was analyzed for toxin determination. Specifically, each sample of 50 mL was homogenized using an Ultra Turax homogenizer (Heidolph Instruments, Schwabach, Germany) for 1 min at the highest speed (23x10³ rpm) and 5 mL of each homogenate was mixed with 5 mL of 100% methanol for 30 min. Extracts were filtered through a Whatman No 2 filter paper to remove any suspended solids and

then through a 0.2 μm syringe-driven filter unit (Millex, Millipore Co., Bedford, Mass.). All extracts were stored at -20 °C until HPLC analysis.

OTA was detected using an HPLC system equipped with a JASCO LC-Net II/ADC system controller, a JASCO AS-2055 Plus auto sampler, with a Model PU-980 Intelligent pump, a Model LG-980-02 ternary gradient unit pump and an FP-2020 Plus fluorescent detector (JASCO Inc., Easton, USA). The analysis was performed under isocratic conditions at a flow rate of 1 mL/min of the mobile phase (water/acetonitrile/acetic acid; 49.5/49.5/1) through a Waters spherisorb C18 analytical column, 5µm ODS2 (4.6 x 250 mm) (Resteck Co., Pinnacle II, Bellefonte, USA). Injection volume was 10 µL and run time for samples was 20 min with OTA detected at about 11 min. The detection limit of the analysis was 1 ng/g. Recovery assay for OTA extraction method was performed by spiking known concentrations of OTA (50 and 500 ng/mL) on media with each EOs providing satisfactory results (80-110%).

5.2.5 Gene expression assay

Mycelia were collected from liquid SGM, washed with ddH₂O, dried in Whatman No 2 paper, flash freezed in liquid Nitrogen (IN₂) for stabilization of expression, and stored at -80 °C until extraction. Frozen tissues were lyophilized for 24h and approximately 10 mg of fungal mycelium were used for nucleic acid extraction. Invitrogen, PureLink RNA mini kit was used for RNA isolation according to manufacturer's protocol and Trizol (Ambion, USA) was used as the phenol for RNA extraction. Samples were also treated with Turbo DNase (Ambion, USA) to eliminate possible trace amounts of contaminating genomic DNA according to kit instructions. Further on, the quality of RNA samples was checked through a qPCR amplification to ensure absence of genomic DNA. Nucleic acid quantification was assessed spectophotometrically by measuring the absorbance at 260 nm. Moreover, the purity of samples was evaluated using a NanoDrop spectrophotometer (IMPLEN, Germany) through the $A_{260 \text{ nm}}$ / $A_{280 \text{ nm}}$ ratio and RNA integrity was verified on 3% agarose ethidium-bromide staining gel. First-strand cDNA was synthesized using PrimeScript Reverse Transcriptase (Takara, Japan) according to manufacturer's instructions in a 20 µL final reaction volume. RNA used was 0.5 µg for each sample. For priming Random Hexamers (Invitrogen, USA) was used. Reaction mixture was incubated for 5 min at 65 °C and the specific set up program was 30 °C for 10 min, 42 °C for 60 min, and 70 °C for 15 min.

For the relative quantification assay, Real Time PCR was used to amplify AcOTApks (polyketide synthase) and AcOTAnrps (non ribosomal peptide synthase) genes as target genes, and also *laeA* gene as a global regulator for secondary metabolites in Aspergillus spp. Constitutive expressed β -tubulin gene served as internal reference for gene expression normalization because this is a widely used housekeeping gene in relevant studies (Gallio et al., 2012; Crespo-Sempere et al., 2013). New primers were designed for the gene pks on the basis of a recently published work (Gallio et al., 2014) referring to A. carbonarius (Gene Bank Accession no. GW327951). Homologous genes have been searched through the genome database of the genus *Aspergillus* (<u>http://www.aspd.org</u>) for *Acar5010-173482* using the BLAST algorithm. The sequence of the fungal genes was recovered by the Joint Genome Database Institute. OligoPerfect Designer Software TM (Invitrogen, USA) and AspGDweb-primer were employed to determine possible pairs of oligonucleotides following standard primer design criteria for use in Real Time PCR reactions. Nucleotide sequences of primers used in the qPCR assays are shown in Table 5.2.

Primer pair	Gene	Nucleotide sequences 5'—3'	Reference
F-pks	AcOTApks	GTC AAG GTC GGG TGC TAC AA	Present study
R-pks		TCG GAA TGA TAC GCG ACT TT	
F-nrps	AcOTAnrps	CTC CAC CCA TCC TCC CGT TC	Crespo Sempere et al. (2013)
R-nrps		AAT CCA TGT CCT CAC CAT CGC	
F-laea	laeA	CAC CTA TAC AAC CTC CGA ACC AC	Crespo Sempere et al (2013)
R-laea		GGT TCG GCC AAC CGA CGA CGC TG	
F-tubβ	β -tubulin	CGC ATG AAC GTC TAC TTC AAC GAG	Crespo Sempere et al. (2013)
R-tubβ		AGT TGT TAC CAG CAC CGG ACT	

 Table 5.2: Nucleotide sequences of primers for qPCR assay

qPCR efficiency tests for each primer were performed under the specific experimental conditions and evaluated as 96% for *AcOTApks*, 101% for *AcOTAnrps*, 98% for *laeA* and 94% for β -tubulin genes, respectively.

Real time PCR experiments were conducted in 96-well plates in an Applied Biosystems 7500 Fast Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems, USA) using the SYBR Green chemistry to monitor cDNA amplification. qPCRBioSyGreen Mix High-RoxRox (PCR BIOSYSTEMS, UK) was used in a 10 µL reaction. Optimization of the amount of primers and template was also performed. Cycling conditions according to the specific SYBR Green protocol were: 95 °C for 0.5 min, 60 °C for 0.25 min, and 72 °C for 0.25 min [40 cycles]. Melting curve analysis of the PCR products was performed by heating to 95 °C for 0.15 sec and 60 °C for 1 min, with continuous measurements of the fluorescence to verify the PCR product. Template-free negative controls were also used at every run. Data analysis was assessed by StepOnePlus RT-PCR System Software v2.1 and expression levels were determined according to Pfaffl method (Pfaffl, 2001, 2004) using the equation:

 $R = E_{target} \Delta Cttarget (control-sample) / E_{ref} \Delta Ctref (control-sample)$. Data were converted to relative expression and presented in log2 values as fold changes (Kubista et al., 2007). The above method calculates the expression ratio of a target gene between a treated with EO sample

and a control sample ('relative calibrator'). Gene expression measurements were considered to be comparable since equal amounts of RNA were used as template and also reaction conditions were the same in all qPCR assays. Gene expression assays were replicated in duplicate.

5.2.6 Data analysis

Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed allowing an overview of all the results, determining differences and establishing significant effects between transcription levels and EOs treatments for fungal isolates. The data set was analyzed by the statistical package JMP8 (SAS Institute INV., Cary, NC, USA). Moreover, multiple linear regression (MLR) was employed to investigate any underlying relationship among the different variables and treatment effects through XLSTAT ver. 2014.2.03 software (Addinsoft, Paris, France). The model for multiple linear regression is given by the following formula:

$$Y = a_0 + a_1 \cdot X_1 + a_2 \cdot X_2 + \dots + a_i \cdot X_i$$
(2)

where *Y* is the dependent variable, *X* are the independent or predictor variables, and $\alpha_0...\alpha_i$ are parameters to be estimated. In our case, the dependent variable (*Y*) was the diameter of the fungal mycelium or OTA production after 7 days of incubation for the different EOs assayed, and the independent variables (*X*) were the type of the EO (clove, cinnamon, lemongrass, mandarin), the concentration of the EO (100-300 µL/L), the growth medium (MEA or CYA), and the fungal strain (Ac28, Ac29, and 5010). In the case of liquid cultures in SGM the growth was expressed as fungal biomass after 7 days of incubation. The relative contribution of the independent variables on fungal growth and OTA production was graphically illustrated by taking into account the standardized (beta) coefficients of the linear model.

5.3 Results

5.3.1 Inhibitory effect of EOs on A. carbonarius growth

The growth of fungal isolates on different solid media in the presence of EOs is shown in Fig. 5.1. Antifungal effects differed with the type and concentration of EO, growth medium and fungal isolate. The statistical analysis revealed significant effects (p<0.0001) of treatments in terms of fungal growth. EOs and concentration factors presented the highest impact (p<0.0001) followed by the growth medium (p=0.005). As shown in Fig. 5.2A, cinnamon proved to have the greatest effect (p<0.001) among the EOs tested. Clove, cinnamon and lemongrass EOs could significantly inhibit the growth of A. carbonarius in both MEA and CYA at 50-300 µL/L compared to the control (absence of EOs), whereas the EO of mandarin was proved to be the least effective. In both MEA and CYA media, A. carbonarius growth was totally inhibited by clove and lemongrass at 300µL/L for all fungal isolates. Clove EO presented very high dose-related impact on fungal growth. Specifically, growth inhibition in MEA for Ac29 was estimated to 21%, 40%, and 72% at 50, 100, and 200 µL/L, respectively. For the same concentrations of clove, strains Ac28 and 5010 showed growth inhibition of 15%, 34%, and 76%, as well as 8%, 35%, and 73%, respectively. This gradual decrease was also observed in CYA cultures and the effect of growth inhibition was more pronounced in CYA compared to MEA for all concentrations of EOs assayed. The highest effect of clove EO was observed for isolates 5010 and Ac28 where total inhibition occurred at 100 and 200 µL/L, respectively, whereas Ac29 was not inhibited even at 300 μ L/L. In MEA, lemongrass EO presented inhibition for Ac29 of 1%, 10% and 58% at 50, 100 and 200 µL/L, respectively. Moreover, Ac28 was also inhibited at 3%, 8%, and 72% as the concentration of lemongrass EO progressively increased, similarly with 5010, where the respective inhibition rates were 3%, 13%, and 55%. In the case of CYA medium higher

percentages of fungal growth inhibition were observed in all concentrations of lemongrass EO compared to MEA. The effect of selected EOs on *A. carbonarius* growth in solid cultures is exemplified in Fig.s 5A,B.



Fig. 5A. Inhibition of *A.carbonarius* growth by clove oil in CYAmedium in the 3^{rd} day of incubation.



Fig. 5B . Inhibition of A.carbonarius growth by clove oil in MEA medium at the 5^{th} day of incubation

100

Α.



101



Fig. 5.1 Changes of growth of *Aspergillus carbonarius* isolates in solid cultures of MEA (A) and CYA (B) under the influence of EOs against incubation time. (standard deviation was < 5% of the respective value)

Β.

Cinnamon presented the highest antifungal effect among all EOs tested, since 100, 75, and 50 µL/L totally inhibited the growth of Ac28, 5010, and Ac29, respectively. Cinnamon EO showed also different effects between the two media employed to assess fungal growth, as in CYA inhibition occurred at lower concentrations for Ac29 and Ac28, but the opposite was observed for 5010 where lower concentrations resulted in very low inhibition of fungal growth. More specifically, in MEA 50 µL/L of cinnamon EO reduced diametric growth by ca. 5%, whereas at 75 µL/L the respective inhibition was 43% and 11% for Ac29 and Ac28, respectively. In CYA low levels of inhibition occurred at 50 µL/L concentration of EO resulting in 10%, 8% and 3% growth reduction for Ac29, Ac28 and 5010, respectively. However higher concentrations totally inhibited growth. These results may suggest a stronger effect of cinnamon EO in spore germination. Finally, mandarin EO, even though it was used in higher concentrations compared to other EOs, could not completely inhibit fungal growth even at 1000 µL/L. For strains Ac29 and Ac28 inhibition was observed at 30% and 17%, respectively, whereas strain 5010 presented a dose dependent effect since inhibition of 10%, 21%, and 30% was observed at 400, 700, and 1000 μ L/L, respectively.

EOs of clove, lemongrass and mandarin were also evaluated in SGM liquid cultures and proved highly effective in fungal growth inhibition as expressed by changes in biomass (Fig. 5.3A). Statistical analysis revealed that clove and lemongrass EOs had the greatest impact (p = 0.005 and p = 0.001, respectively) on biomass reduction. Specifically, 50 μ L/L lemongrass EO reduced fungal biomass by 64% and 48% in Ac29 and Ac28, respectively, whereas no growth was observed in higher concentrations. Clove and mandarin EOs showed a high dose dependent effect for both fungal isolates.



Fig. 5.2 Relative contribution (standardized coefficients) of different EOs, EO concentration, medium (MEA, CYA), and fungal strain on growth (A, B) and OTA production (C, D) as derived from multiple linear regression analysis. The asterisks indicate the level of *p*-value (*=p<0.05, **=p<0.01, ***=p<0.001, ***=p<0.001).

Specifically, growth inhibition of Ac29 by clove EO was 39%, 76%, and 97% at 50, 75, and 100 μ L/L, respectively, whereas for the same concentrations Ac28 presented a decrease in biomass of 22%, 46%, and 77%.Mandarin EO showed gradual inhibition in biomass growth of 75%, 86%, and 89% at 400, 700 and 1000 μ L/L, respectively, for Ac29. The respective decrease for Ac28 was 47%, 60%, 76%. Moreover, evaluation of all concentrations of EOs showed an isolate dependent inhibition effect, indicating that Ac29 seemed to be most affected by the presence of all EOs (Fig. 5.2B).

5.3.2 Inhibitory effect of EOs on A. carbonarius OTA production

The effect of the different EOs and solid growth media on OTA production by the isolates of *A. carbonarius* is presented in Fig. 5.2. EOs showed the greatest impact regarding OTA (p < 0.0001) and Ac28 was the most affected isolate (p < 0.0001). Specifically, in MEA clove EO showed the highest OTA reduction even at low concentrations (Fig. 5.4A), namely 89%, 98%, and 98% for Ac29 and 82%, 59%, 72% for 5010 at 50, 100, and 200 µL/L, respectively. Clove EO was less effective but more dose dependent against Ac28, inhibiting OTA by 27%, 59%, and 72% as the concentration of EO progressively increased. In CYA growth medium (Fig. 5.1B) clove EO was more effective in isolates Ac29 and Ac28 decreasing OTA levels to 91% and 84% at 300 and 200 µL/L, respectively. On the other hand, stimulation of OTA production was observed for lemongrass EO in most cases, with the exception of the highest concentration (200 µL/L) where toxin reduction of 77% and 90% was observed on MEA for isolates Ac28 and 5010, respectively. In addition, for the same concentration of lemongrass EO, *A. carbonarius* 5010 showed an OTA reduction of 97% in CYA growth medium. Results from cinnamon EO treatments were also differential.



Fig. 5.3 Effects of EOs on Aspergillus carbonarius biomass (A) and OTA (B) on SGM liquid cultures. Error bars indicate standard error of 3 replicates.

Cinnamon anti-ochratoxingenic effect was evident for Ac29 in both growth media since 58% and 82% OTA reduction was observed at 50 and 75 μ L/L, respectively, on MEA and 90% reduction at 50 μ L/L in CYA. However, isolate Ac28 presented a different profile in relation to the growth media. Specifically, in MEA all concentrations of cinnamon EO resulted in increased toxin production, with the exception of the lowest concentration (50 μ L/L) on CYA where OTA production was enhanced. Finally, mandarin EO affected mostly isolate Ac29 inhibiting OTA production by *ca*. 74% regardless of concentration. The same EO was less effective against the other two isolates enhancing toxin production at low concentrations but reducing OTA by 15% and 45% for Ac28 and 5010, respectively, at 1000 μ L/L in MEA.

In the case of liquid cultures, the decrease in OTA production was proportional to the concentration of EOs (Fig. 5.3B). In addition, *A. carbonarius* appeared to be more sensitive to the various EOs assayed in liquid compared to solid cultures. Lemongrass EO was very effective as it reduced toxin by 96% at the lowest concentration assayed (50 μ L/L) for Ac28 and Ac29. Regarding clove EO the behavior of the 2 ochratoxigenic isolates was similar since both showed a gradual decrease in OTA production with increasing concentration of EOs. Clove EO showed a milder effect (Fig. 5.3A) at the same concentration compared to lemongrass EO, however its inhibition effect increased gradually to 39%, 76% and 97% at 50, 75 and 100 μ L/L, respectively, for Ac29 and 22%, 46%, and 77% for *Ac28*. The anti-ochratoxigenic effect of mandarin increased proportionally with concentration resulting in OTA reduction ranging from 73%, 83%, and 100% at 400, 700, and 1000 μ L/L, respectively, for Ac29 and 80%, 91%, and 100% for Ac28. It needs to be noted that even though higher levels of toxin reduction were observed for clove and lemongrass EOs, only mandarin treatment at 1000 μ L/L completely inhibited toxin production for both ochratoxigenic isolates.

Α.



Fig. 5.4 Changes in OTA production of *Aspergillus carbonarius* isolates by the use of EOs in MEA (A) and CYA (B) growth media. Data points indicate mean values \pm standard error of 3 replicates.

The statistical analysis showed that OTA decrease was affected by growth inhibition (p = 0.004) due to the presence of EOs. Furthermore, Ac28 isolate was most affected with regard to OTA production (Fig. 5.2D). Cinnamon results are not presented in liquid cultures due to the fact that inconsistent data were obtained during this treatment. However complete inhibition by cinnamon EO was observed for both Ac28 and Ac29 isolates at 100 μ L/L.

5.3.3 Effect of EOs on A. carbonarius gene expression

The influence of EOs in the gene expression assay of A. carbonarius was evaluated and compared with the control samples. Both isolates (Ac28 and Ac29) used in this study showed expression of the biosynthetic cluster genes AcOTAnrps and AcOTApks, whereas laeA also exhibited regulation in all control samples and treatments. The different relative expression profiles of these specific three genes related to each isolate are presented in Fig. 5. Furthermore, the interaction between different EOs and concentration levels was apparent in fungal isolates affecting expression levels. Regarding AcOTAnrps, transcriptional levels were down regulated in a response to the majority of treatments. More specifically, Ac29 expression was affected at 50 µL/L lemongrass EO, 75 µL/L clove EO, and 1000 µL/L mandarin EO. On the other hand, Ac28 expression was mostly affected by mandarin, since gene expression decreased proportionally as EO concentration increased. Moreover, AcOTApks seemed to be influenced only in Ac29 where almost the same level of down regulation was observed in all treatments. In the case of laeA (Fig. 5.5C), no effect in expression levels was observed between treatments and control samples. Statistical analysis confirmed the interactions between treatments and gene regulation. Table 5.3 presents intra-strain differences in the transcription profile of both genes and also inter-strain differences in

relative expression values between the two isolates in the treatments studied. Analysis of variance for the whole response of genes revealed highly statistical significance (p < 0.0001) of *Ac*OTA*pks* for all single factors assayed (fungal isolates and EOs). Two-way ANOVA also assessed the impact of combined effect of fungal isolate and EO on gene expression (p = 0.005). Moreover, it was observed that the impact of EOs on both OTA biosynthetic genes was proved statistically significant only for *Ac*28.

Table 5.3: Significance of EOs impact on inter- and intra-strain differences in relative gene expression profile.

Factor	Parameter	P value	F ratio			
Inter-strain differences						
AcOTAnrps	EOs	0.1501	2.12			
	Isolate	0.5031	0.46			
AcOTApks	EOs	0.0007***	11.56			
	Isolate	0.0185**	6.70			
Intra-strain differences						
Ac28	AcOTAnrps	0.005**	11.76			
	<i>Ac</i> OTA <i>pks</i>	0.0002***	34.70			
Ac29	AcOTAnrps	0.1984	2.00			
	<i>Ac</i> OTA <i>pks</i>	0.0021**	16.81			

The asterisks concentrated on the bars indicate the relative level of *p*-value (*=p<0.05, **=p<0.01, ***=p<0.001, ***=p<0.0001).











Fig. 5.5 Effect of EOs on the relative expression of *Ac*OTA*nrps* (A), *Ac*OTA*pks* (B) and *laeA* (C) during the growth of *Aspergillus carbonarius* isolates on SGM. Error bars indicate standard error of 2 replicates.

5.4 Discussion

The EOs evaluated in this study revealed antifungal activity against A. carbonarius in all treatments. In solid media, the inhibitory effect of clove EO on fungal growth increased proportionally with concentration. The results indicated also increasing antiochratoxigenic activity in all concentrations assayed on MEA but differential effects on CYA. The determination of anti-toxigenic effect of clove EO observed in this study was also consistent with previous reports that evaluated EOs for mycotoxin control. Pereira et al., (2006) also observed that clove EO was able to inhibit totally the growth of Aspergillus ochraceus but no significant effect in toxin prevention occurred. In another study (Passone et al., 2012) complete inhibition of OTA accumulation in peanut meal extract agar by Aspergillus niger was reported using clove EO at the concentration of $3000 \,\mu$ L/L. More recently, Hua et al. (2014) evaluated clove oil for OTA production by Aspergillus ochraceus and reported similar results with the present work, since complete fungal growth inhibition was observed at 500 µL/L of clove EO on MEA. The major component in clove EO is eugenol, which is a phenolic compound extracted from buds and leaves of clove (Eugenia cariophyllus). The effect of the principle compound of clove EO on growth and mycotoxin production has already been reported against toxigenic fungal genera (Amiri et al., 2006). The mode of action of eugenol could be attributed to the ability of this compound to permeabilize the cell membrane and interact with enzymes and proteins (Walsh et al., 2003; Omidbeygi et al., 2007), as well as its ability to inhibit enzymatic activity (Gill and Holley, 2006).

Cinnamon was the most effective EO since lower concentrations were needed for complete fungal growth inhibition in both solid media assayed. Moreover it was especially effective in CYA since a higher decrease of OTA production was observed in this medium, even though no complete inhibition of toxin was feasible. These results

emphasize the significance of different OTA conducive culture media in fungal responses and metabolite production. Our findings are in line with a previous study (Hua et al., 2014) where cinnamon EO was reported to be effective against A. ochraceus growth due to the antifungal activity of cinnamaldehyde, the main compound of cinnamon. In another work (Soliman et al., 2002) it was reported that 500 µL/L of cinnamon EO inhibited A. flavus, A. paraciticus, A. ochraceus, and Fusarium moniliforne on PDA medium. Significant inhibition of cinnamon EO was also reported by Sumalan, Alexa and Poiana (2013) against Fusarium spp. even though the level of concentrations used was higher compared to the concentrations applied in the present work. However, in a similar study (Hope et al., 2005) toxin production was enhanced even though fungal growth was inhibited. The additional stress imposed by fungicidal agents could possibly stimulate mycotoxin production as a defense response especially in suboptimal levels. Regarding the phenolic origin of EOs such as cinnamon, it has been suggested (dos Santos Oliveira et al., 2008) that phenolic structure is more important than concentration. Reports that phenolic compounds have greater antimicrobial impact compared with monoterpens and hydrocarbons (Burt, 2004) appeared to be in accordance with the results of the present study. Nevertheless as mentioned before, in liquid culture treatments, results among replicates were inconsistent. Specifically, it was observed that most fungi either did not manage to germinate or a small mycelium appeared after several days of incubation. However, there were also few cases where the observed fungal growth was similar to the control. Such inconsistency has been reported previously (Palumbo et al., 2007) indicating probably a strong effect of this EO and fungal incapability for an adaptive response.

Lemongrass EO has been reported for antifungal activity against *A. ochraceus*, *A. niger*, and *A. flavus* (Soliman and Badeaad, 2002; Tzortzakis and Economakis, 2007).

According to Tian et al. (2012), the hydroxylic group present in this compound allows hydrogen bonds to be formed with active enzymes resulting in deactivation and inhibition of fungal growth. In the present study, lemongrass EO presented antifungal activity similar to clove EO, showing also total growth inhibition at 300 µL/L. For all three fungal isolates assayed, lemongrass EO concentration of 200 µL/L was very effective in both MEA and CYA media, since prolonged fungal lag phase duration was observed. This fact indicates that lemongrass EO could be more effective to control fungal growth than toxin production. Indeed, ochratoxigenic effect was not clear since stimulation of OTA occurred in many cases. Low doses of EOs can probably create stress conditions enhancing thus secondary metabolism as a fungal defense mechanism. OTA stimulation by A. carbonarius even in the presence of high concentrations of EOs has been previously reported (Passone et al., 2012), whereas Garcia et al. (2011) also reported higher production of OTA by A. westerdijkiae in the presence of plant extracts. Regarding citrus EOs there are certain studies demonstrating their inhibitory effects on fungal growth but not on toxin accumulation (Sharma et al., 2006; Singh et al., 2010, Espina et al., 2011). Growth inhibition of A. niger by orange, mandarin and lemon EOs has been reported (Viuda-Martos et al., 2008), suggesting mandarin as the best inhibitor for A. *flavus* growth.

Mandarin EO in liquid cultures showed a different effect compared to the other two EOs, since it completely inhibited OTA production. This fact may suggest that a different mode of action was probably responsible for this anti-ochratoxigenic effect. In needs to be noted that all the isolates used in this work were able to produce high amounts of OTA. However, since no OTA was detected in mandarin EO at 1000 μ L/L, this could possibly indicate that inhibition was induced by suppression of OTA transcription biosynthetic pathway. The results demonstrated that EOs tested (clove,

114

mandarin and lemongrass) influenced the relative expression of the selected OTArelated genes, presenting differences between the two OTA producers (Ac28 and Ac29). These differences underline the complexity of A. carbonarius regulation mechanism concerning OTA biosynthetic pathways. Down regulation was observed in many cases that were related to changes in toxin accumulation. Meanwhile, *laeA* expression patterns were similar to all tested samples indicating that this gene was not affected by the specific treatments. In the literature there are limited reports on gene expression studies referring to EOs. Recently, the effect of eugenol on down regulation of aflatoxin biosynthetic genes has been demonstrated for A. parasiticus (Jahanshiri et al., 2015) and A. flavus (Liang et al., 2015). Down regulation of OTA biosynthetic genes may suggest two possible modes of action. The first refers to the direct inhibition by EOs through mRNA expression. The second refers to the reduction in gene expression that is partially responsible on OTA production, affecting other biosynthetic pathways. A number of post transcriptional mechanisms are tightly connected to gene expression. Results however, could suggest that the specific EOs treatments may present a possible underlying relationship between OTA key genes and OTA production levels that require further elucidation.

Conclusion

Our study demonstrated differences among *A. carbonarius* isolates, concerning the efficacy of the different EOs to inhibit fungal growth and toxin production. Overall, clove, cinnamon, lemongrass and mandarin EOs could become an attractive application for future use against the risk of OTA, since inhibition of fungal growth at certain concentrations of these EOs could result in mycotoxin prevention. Further on, a relationship between transcription levels of the genes *Ac*OTA*nrps*, *Ac*OTA*pks* and OTA production was observed in many cases, since relative expression profiles gave similar 115

trends with OTA production between treatments and control samples. Investigation of the two structural and one regulatory gene of OTA biosynthetic pathway by qPCR highlighted some variation between the two wild fungal isolates. This finding may result in the elucidation of a possible intra-strain signal pathway involved in the inhibitory effects of these natural compounds in order to develop better strategies to control of OTA contamination.

Control of *Aspergillus carbonarius* in grape berries by *Lactobacillus plantarum*: A phenotypic and gene transcription study.

Iliada K. Lappa, Sevasti Mparampouti, Barbara Lanza, Efstathios Z. Panagou

Published in: International Journal of Food Microbiology, 275, 56-65

Abstract

The antifungal activity of *Lactobacillus plantarum* against the ochratoxigenic fungus Aspergillus carbonarius was investigated in this study. Four different fungal isolates from grape berries were co-cultured with four different strains of L. plantarum on agar plates at 30°C. Bacterial strains inhibited fungal growth up to 88% and significantly reduced toxin production up to 100%. In addition, L. plantarum was evaluated as biocontrol agent against A. carbonarius growth and OTA production on table grapes. Temporal studies of bacterial antagonism were performed with two different grape cultivars. Artificially wounded and unwounded berries were pre-treated with 10^8 CFU/mL bacteria and inoculated with 10⁶ spores/mL of A. carbonarius ochratoxigenic isolates. Biocontrol agents displayed high rate of colonization on grapes during 5 days of incubation at 30 °C. Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) also determined microorganisms' presence in grape surface. Bacterial strains were effective in controlling fungal infection reaching up to 71% inhibition rates. However the presence of wounds on grape skin facilitated infection of berries by A. carbonarius, since unwounded berries showed lower levels of infection. Results also revealed significant reduction in mycotoxin production ranging between 32% and 92%. Transcriptome analysis following exposure to co-cultivation, exhibited differential expression for each gene studied (AcOTAnrps, AcOTApks, laeA) emphasizing the significance of strain variability. The genes AcOTAnrps and laeA were most influenced by the presence of L. *plantarum.* This work is a contribution for the potential biocontrol of toxigenic fungi in table grapes by lactic acid bacteria (LAB). The above findings underline the significance of bacterial strain variability on the effectiveness of biopreservative features of L. plantarum strains.

6.1 Introduction

Table grapes (Vitis vinifera L.) are one of the most nutritionally and economically important food products in the world. According to estimates by the US Department of Agriculture (USDA, 2017), Greece is is the second largest producer of table grapes in the EU-28, behind Italy. In recent years, EU production in 2017 is estimated at 1.5 million tons with that of Greece of 315.000 tonnes of table grapes. However, 30-40% of post-harvest table grapes are lost every year owing to inadequate handling and lack of proper methods to prevent decay and senescence (Hashem et al., 2013; Prusky, D. 2011). Fungal decay caused by Aspergillus spp. is hazardous to human health for direct consumption because of the production of mycotoxins. A. carbonarius is the main cause of Black rot in table grapes (Guzev et al., 2008, Rooney-Latham et al., 2008; Ayoub et al., 2010) and its ability of ochratoxin A (OTA) production is a great food safety issue. In Lasram et al. (2012) analysis of OTA showed the presence of the toxin in both wine and table grapes at a three year survey. Other surveys have been conducted reporting also A. carbonarius presence on table grapes demonstrating results shown A. carbonarius to be ubiquitous on table grapes (Belli et al., 2007). Melletis et al. (2007) in a survey conducted in Greece observing many varieties to be contaminated with OTA reporting that the incident of the infected berries is low before veraison while at harvest the frequency was twice as high. Exposure of OTA through food consumption poses a health risk. OTA remains a challenge in the face of continuous efforts to produce quality table grapes meeting with food safety standards. Control of fungal decay in table grapes has been achieved by application of sulfur dioxide gas, either by frequent fumigation in storage rooms, or by packing the grapes in polyethylene-lined boxes with SO₂ generator pads (Lichter et al., 2002). SO₂ is usually effective in preventing decay as long as levels are sufficiently high. However, high levels of SO₂ can injure grape

berries, have an unpleasant aftertaste, and could be harmful to humans (Zoffoli et al., 2008).

The use of chemicals is still the main practice to control fungal infection. However, this has fostered fungi to develop resistance to the extensive use of preservatives and antibiotics. Therefore, over the last few decades the interest of scientists has been shifted on natural antimicrobials to control fungal growth on grapes and grape products, employing strategies with less chemical control measures. The approach of biological control agents (BCAs) is increasingly considered by the scientific community as an alternative application either in the field and/or in post-harvest operations and has been already reported on table grapes (Jiang et al., 2014; Sonker et al., 2016). From the available BCAs, lactic acid bacteria (LAB) can inhibit fungal growth and they have also the potential to interact with mycotoxins (Dalié et al., 2010). LAB are generally recognized as safe (GRAS) which usually compete with other microorganisms by secreting antagonistic compounds and modifying the surrounding microenvironment producing several metabolites that are able to inhibit fungal growth (Hassan et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2012).

A number of putative pathways for OTA biosynthesis have been proposed and the role of two genes namely NRPSs and PKSs has been revealed as key enzymes in OTA biosynthetic pathway (Gallo et al., 2009, 2012, 2014). Therefore, they have been employed as targets to detect and quantify OTA producing molds by molecular techniques. Moreover, *laeA* gene has been correlated with the regulation of OTA biosynthesis in *A. carbonarius* as a global transcriptional factor (Crespo-Sempere et al., 2013). In general, there is a limited number of studies elucidating the expression of toxigenic related genes under different environmental and nutritional conditions. Only recently, Al-Saad et al. (2016) used relative gene expression as an indicator of the efficacy of bacterial antagonists against an aflatoxigenic strain of *A. flavus*. Also 120

Sumsudin et al. (2017) examined two bacterial antagonists for potential contamination of FUM1 in maize through gene expression studies.

The objective of this study was to: (a) investigate the *in vitro* and *in situ* antiochratoxigenic efficacy of different *L. plantarum* strains on *Aspergillus carbonarius* isolated from grape berries, (b) assess of antiochratoxigenic activity on gene transcription level, and (c) confirm bacterial/fungal co-existance on grapes by means of Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM) images.

6.2 Materials and methods

6.2.1 Microorganisms and inocula preparation

All the microorganisms used in the present study are indicated in Table 6.1. They consisted of four bacterial strains of *L. plantarum* (T571, 345, 195, and 1645), three *A. carbonarius* wild isolates (Ac29, Ac33, and A47) originated from grape berries and one reference strain of *A. carbonarius* (ITEM 5010). All strains were maintained in 20 % (v/v) glycerol at -22 °C.

Lactobacillus plantarum strains were grown in de Man-Rogosa-Sharpe (MRS, Biolife, Italy) broth for 24 h at 30 °C and sub-cultured in the same medium for 18 h at 30 °C. Cells were harvested by centrifugation at $5000 \times g$ for 10 min at 4 °C. The supernatants were discarded and the cells were washed twice with Ringer solution and resuspended in the same medium to obtain a final concentration of 10^5 CFU/mL (confirmed by plating on MRS agar) for use as inoculum.

Spore suspensions of each *A. carbonarius* isolate were prepared by collecting spores from 7-day old colonies grown on Malt Extract Agar (MEA: malt extract, 20 g; peptone, 1 g; glucose, 20 g; bacteriological agar, 20 g; distilled water, *ca.* 1000 mL) at 25 °C in the dark to induce sporulation. Conidia were harvested from sub-cultures by adding 10

mL of sterile distilled water containing 0.01 % Tween 80 (Merck, Schuchardt, Germany) and scraping the surface of the mycelium with a sterile glass rod. The suspensions were filtered through a four layer cleaning tissue to remove any mycelia fragments and left still for 5 min to allow spore settling. Supernatants were discarded and the spores were resuspended in Tween 80 to remove any nutrients from the medium. Conidia concentration was adjusted to a final volume of 10⁵ spores/mL assessed by a Neubauer counting chamber (Brand, Wertheim, Germany).

Microorganism	Strain number	Origin	Country
	Ac29 ^a	Grape berries	Greece
Aspergillus	Ac33 ^a	Grape berries	Greece
carbonarius	Ac47 ^a	Grape berries	Greece
	ITEM 5010 ^b	Grape berries	Italy
	T571°	Feta cheese	Greece
Lactobacillus	1645 ^d	Fermented cauliflower	Greece
plantarum	345 ^a	Black olive	Greece
	195 ^a	Grape berries	Greece

 Table 6.1 Microorganisms used in the present study.

^a Food Microbiology Culture Collection (FMCC), Laboratory of Microbiology and Biotechnology of Foods, Agricultural University of Athens.

^b Provided by Dr. D. Tsitsigiannis, Laboratory of Phytopathology, Agricultural University of Athens.

^c Provided by the Institute of Technology of Agricultural Products, Hellenic Agricultural Organization "DEMETER".

^d Provided by Dr. E. Drosinos, Laboratory of Food Quality Control and Hygiene, Agricultural University of Athens.

6.2.2 In vitro experimental settings

The *in vitro* experiments of bacterial/fungal co-cultures were performed in MRS agar for optimal growth of LAB. Specifically, 0.5 mL suspension of each *L. plantarum* isolate was poured into 9 mL of MRS medium (in 6-cm Petri plates) in a final concentration of *ca*. 10⁶ CFU/mL. Following media solidification, permeable cellulose membranes were placed onto the agar surface and *A. carbonarius* was centrally spot inoculated at a concentration of 10^6 spores/mL. Plates not inoculated with bacteria were used as control. Considering the importance of temperature as a modulator factor in fungus-bacteria interaction systems, co-cultures were incubated at 30° C for optimal growth and metabolic activity of fungi and bacteria for three days. The same volume of growth medium (10 mL) was added in the plates to avoid any variation that could contribute to differences in the results among co-cultures. All experiments were undertaken with three replicates per treatment. The percentage of fungal growth inhibition was determined 3 days after *A. carbonarius* inoculation using the formula:

Fungal inhibition (%) = $100 - \left[\frac{Biomass of fungal colony on agar treated with LAB}{Biomass of fungal colony on agar without LAB} \times 100\right]$

6.2.3 In situ antagonistic assay

Mature healthy table grapes from two seasonally different and widely consumed grape cultivars, namely Victoria from the area of Tirnavos (white cultivar) and Attika from the area of Korinthos (red cultivar) were purchased from a local retail market. Homogenous bunches were selected according to size, shape, color, weight and absence of mechanical damage and fungal infection. Grape berries were surface disinfected with 70% ethanol for 10 minutes (Tryphinopoulou et al., 2015), rinsed twice with sterile distilled water and allowed to air dry on absorbent paper in a laminar flow bench until inoculation.

Berries were separated into two groups. In the first group, a calibrated wound of about 2 mm in diameter was made on each berry by means of a sterile needle (wounded berries) (Curtis et al., 2012), whereas in the second group no such treatment was given and hence the berries remained intact (unwounded berries). Disinfected unwounded berries were also divided into two groups. The first was used to determine the adherence of

LAB on the surface of berries at the beginning of the experiments and the second to evaluate their ability as biocontrol agents against *A. carbonarius* infection. The artificially wounded berries were also divided into two groups. The first was used to evaluate the efficacy of bacteria to inhibit fungal growth and the second to determine the effectiveness of bacteria against OTA production. Three replicates of 10 equally sized (*ca.* 2 g each) grape berries were used in each treatment.

The potential of bacterial attachment on grape surface was determined by immersing the berries in a bacterial suspension (ca. 10⁸ CFU/mL) for 2 min and allow to air dry in a laminar flow cabinet for 45 min to facilitate bacterial attachment. Subsequently, the berries were rinsed by pipetting twice with 10 mL of Ringer solution to remove any loosely attached cells. For the assessment of the antagonistic activity, the berries were subsequently submerged in 10⁶ spores/mL conidial suspension for another 2 min, allowed to dry in the air, placed in plastic bags and incubated at 30 °C. Following the attachment step, the population dynamics of bacteria was evaluated according to Marin et al. (2016) with slight modifications. Each sample was weighted, transferred aseptically to Erlenmayer flasks containing the appropriate volume of Ringer solution and agitated in a rotary shaker at 150 rpm for 10 min to achieve maximum detachment of LAB from grape surface. Detached cells were enumerated in MRS agar plates by 10 fold serial dilutions after incubation at 30 °C for 48 h. The typical LAB colonies were counted and results expressed as log₁₀ CFU/g. The level of bacterial colonization on berries was recorded at days 0, 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5. Infection of berries was assessed either directly by visual inspection or with the aid of a stereomicroscope looking at the typical hyphae of A. carbonarius. The percentage of fungal infection was determined after 2, 3, 4, and 5 days of incubation according to Nally et al. (2012) by counting the number of berries with typical A. carbonarius infection, using the formula:

Disease incident (%) =
$$\frac{Number of decayed berries}{Number of total grapes} \times 100$$

For the fungal infection assay, *A. carbonarius* Ac29 was indicatively selected on the basis of its high OTA potential as determined in a previous work (Lappa et al., 2015). Positive control samples consisted of grape berries treated only with *A. carbonarius* were also prepared for the infection incidence assay. Finally, negative control samples were prepared by immersing disinfected wounded and unwounded berries in distilled water

6.2.4 Ochratoxin A determination

OTA production of co-cultures was assessed according to Lappa et al. (2017a) with slight modifications. Specifically, mycelium was collected and weighed into a 2 mL eppendorf tube. Mycelium biomass was extracted with 1 mL of 100% methanol. After agitating the tubes for 5 min in a rotary shaker, they were left still for 1 h for toxin extraction. Extracts were filtered through a 0.2 μ m syringe-driven filter unit (Millex, Millipore Co., Bedford, Mass) prior to toxin determination by HPLC. Furthermore, toxin extraction from grape berries was similarly assessed based on the toxigenic potential of *A. carbonarius* Ac29 as mentioned above. Specifically, 20 berries were weighted and homogenized using an Ultra Turax homogenizer (Heidolph Instruments, Schwabach, Germany) for 1 min at the highest speed (26 x 10³ rpm) and 5 mL of each homogenate was mixed with 5 mL of 100% methanol for 30 min. Extracts were filtered through a 0.2 mm syringe-driven filter unit (Millex, Millipore Co., Bedford, Mass.). All samples were stored at -20 °C until HPLC analysis. A recovery assay for the

OTA extraction method was performed, spiking known concentrations of OTA (50 and 100 ng/mL) on grape berries leading to satisfactory results with recovery rates of 84 and 95%, respectively.

OTA quantification was undertaken by an HPLC system equipped with a JASCO LC-Net II/ADC system controller, a JASCO AS-2055 Plus auto sampler, with a Model PU-980 Intelligent pump, a Model LG-980-02 ternary gradient unit pump and an FP-2020 Plus fluorescent detector (JASCO Inc., Easton, USA). Injection volume was 10 μ L and run time for samples was 20 min with OTA detected at about 11 min. The analysis was performed under isocratic conditions at a flow rate of 1 mL min ⁻¹ of the mobile phase (water/acetonitrile/acetic acid; 49.5/49.5/1) through a Waters spherisorb C18 analytical column, 5 μ m ODS2 (4.6 x 250 mm) (Resteck Co., Pinnacle II, Bellefonte, USA). The detection limit of the analysis was 1 ng/g. Percentage of OTA inhibition was calculated as follows:

 $OTA \ inhibition \ (\%) = 100 - \left[\frac{OTA \ production \ after \ LAB \ treatment}{OTA \ production \ without \ LAB \ treatment} \times 100\right]$

6.2.5 Gene expression studies

Mycelia were collected from Petri dishes, flash freezed in liquid Nitrogen (lN_2) for stabilization of expression and stored at -80 °C until extraction according to Lappa et al. (2017b). Frozen tissues were lyophilized overnight and subjected to nucleic acid extraction. For RNA isolation and extraction, Invitrogen, PureLink RNA mini kit along with Trizol (Ambion, USA) was used according to manufacturer's protocol. Turbo DNase (Ambion, USA) was also used to eliminate possible trace amounts of contaminating genomic DNA according to kit instructions. Quality of RNA samples was checked through a qPCR amplification to ensure absence of genomic DNA. Nucleic acid quantification was assessed spectophotometrically by measuring the absorbance at 260 nm using a NanoDrop spectrophotometer (IMPLEN, Germany). RNA purity of samples was evaluated through the $A_{260 \text{ nm}}/A_{280 \text{ nm}}$ and $A_{260 \text{ nm}}/A_{230 \text{ nm}}$ ratio and a 3% ethidium-bromide staining gel verified RNA integrity. First-strand cDNA was synthesized using PrimeScript Reverse Transcriptase (Takara, Japan) according to manufacturer's instructions in a 20 µL final reaction volume. RNA used was 0.5 µg at each sample. For priming Random Hexamers (Invitrogen, USA) was used. Reaction mixture was incubated for 5 min at 65°C and specific set up program was following as 30 °C for 10 min, 42 °C for 60 min and 70 °C for 15 min.

For the relative quantification assay, Real Time PCR was used to amplify AcOTApks (polyketide synthase) and AcOTAnrps (non ribosomal peptide synthase) genes as target genes, and also laeA gene as a global regulator for secondary metabolites in Aspergillus spp. Constitute expressed β -tubulin gene served as an internal reference for gene expression normalization. Nucleotide sequences of primers used in the qPCR assays are shown in Table 6.2. Real time PCR experiments were conducted according to Lappa et al. (2017). Briefly, for qPCR assays 96-well plates were used in an Applied Biosystems 7500 Fast Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems, USA). The SYBR Green chemistry was used to monitor cDNA amplification. qPCRBioSyGreen Mix High-Rox (PCR Biosystems, United Kingdom) was used in a 10 μ L reaction. Cycling conditions according to specific SYBRGreen protocol were as follows: 95 °C for 0.5 min, 60 °C for 0.25 min 72 °C for 0.25 min [40 cycles]. Melting curve analysis of the PCR products was performed by heating at 95 °C for 0.15 sec and 60 °C for 1 min and continuous measurement of the fluorescence to verify the PCR product. Template-free negative controls were used at every run also. Data analysis was undertaken by StepOnePlus RT-PCR System Software v2.1. Expression levels were determined according to Pfaffl
method (Pfaffl, 2002, 2004) by the equation $R = E_{target}^{ACttarget (control-sample)} / E_{ref}^{ACtref}$ (control-sample) and data converted to relative expression and presented in log₂ values as fold changes (Kubista et al., 2007). The above method calculates the expression ratio of a target gene between a test and a control sample ('relative calibrator'). These calibrators corresponded to fungal monocultures.

Primer pair	Gene	Nucleotide sequences 5'—3'	Reference
F-pks	AcOTApks	GTC AAG GTC GGG TGC TAC AA	Lappa at al. (2017a)
R-pks		TCG GAA TGA TAC GCG ACT TT	
F-nrps	AcOTAnrps	CTC CAC CCA TCC TCC CGT TC	Crespo Sempere et al. (2013)
R-nrps		AAT CCA TGT CCT CAC CAT CGC	
F-laea	laeA	CAC CTA TAC AAC CTC CGA ACC AC	Crespo Sempere et al. (2013)
R-laea		GGT TCG GCC AAC CGA CGA CGC TG	
F-tubβ	β -tubulin	CGC ATG AAC GTC TAC TTC AAC GAG	Crespo Sempere et al. (2013)
R-tubβ		AGT TGT TAC CAG CAC CGG ACT	

Table 6.2: Nucleotide sequences of primers for qPCR assay.

6.2.6 Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) at in situ co-cultures

Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) was used to evaluate the microstructure of the grape berry samples before and after microorganism colonization. To observe the skin avoiding alteration of the epicuticular waxes and, at the same time, preserving the interaction between berry surface and microorganisms, the samples (*ca.* 5.0 mm \times 5.0 mm \times 1.5 mm) were fixed with 70% ethanol at 0–4 °C for 36 h and slowly dehydrated through a short alcohol series (80, 95 and 100%), before drying with CO₂ at the critical point in a Critical Point Dryer CPD 030 (Oerlikon Balzers, Balzers, Liechtenstein). The dry tissues were then mounted on aluminium stubs and coated with gold (25 nm thick)

in a Sputter Coater SCD 040 (Oerlikon Balzers, Balzers, Liechtenstein). Representative specimens were examined with a FEI/Philips XL 20 Scanning Electron Microscope (Fei Company, Hillsboro, Oregon, USA) located at the CREA-IT Research Centre for Engineering and Agro-food Processing (Cepagatti (PE), Italy).

6.2.7 Statistical analysis

Measurements were averaged and presented as mean values \pm standard error. Statistical analysis was performed using the JMP ver. 10 software (SAS, Institute INV, Cary, NC, USA). Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) was applied to analyze the variation between and within group means at a significant level of $p \le 0.05$. Least Significant Difference (LSD) with α =5% was applied to evaluate any significant difference of the effect of each bacterial strain in the co-cultures performed.

6.3 RESULTS

6.3.1 In vitro screening of the effect of L. plantarum on A. carbonarius growth and OTA production

The growth of fungal isolates of *A. carbonarius* in the presence of *L. plantarum* strains is presented in Fig. 6.1A,, whereas an image of growth inhibition of *A. carbonarius* ITEM 5010 by LAB strains is illustrated in Fig. 6E. Antifungal effects in MRS medium were different for each bacterial strain depending on the combination of co-culture among LAB and fungi. All bacterial strains could significantly (p < 0.0001) inhibit fungal growth (Table 6.3). More specifically, growth inhibition by *L. plantarum* T571 was estimated from 34% to 88% of fungal biomass. The highest and lowest biomass inhibition rates were noticed in fungal isolates ITEM 5010, and Ac29 respectively. Moreover, *L. plantarum* 345 affected the growth of all fungal isolates with biomass inhibition rates ranging from 68% to 78%. Finally, *L. plantarum* 1645 showed biomass inhibition rates ranging from 44% for isolate Ac29 to 76% for isolate Ac33. In contrast, in co-cultures between *L. plantarum* 195 and fungal isolates, no biomass inhibition could be observed but rather the presence of the bacterium stimulated fungal growth, with the exception of the reference strain ITEM 5010 where a 30% biomass decrease was observed. Moreover, as shown in Fig. 6.1A, *L. plantarum* 345 displayed the greatest impact on *A. carbonarius* growth while the fungal strain ITEM 5010 was most affected by co-culture with bacterial strains.

 Table 6.3: Significance of bacterial impact on A. carbonarius growth and OTA production

Fungi	Bacteria	P-value	
		Growth	OTA
Ac29	T571	<.0001	<.0001
	345	<.0001	<.0001
	1645	<.0001	<.0001
	195	0.4160	<.0001
Ac33	T571	0.0042	<.0001
	345	<.0001	<.0001
	1645	< 0.001	<.0001
	195	0.6782	<.0001
Ac47	T571	<.0001	<.0001
	345	<.0001	<.0001
	1645	<.0001	<.0001
	195	0.0053	<.0001
ITEM 5010	T571	<.0001	<.0001
	345	<.0001	<.0001
	1645	<.0001	<.0001
	195	0.0025	<.0001



В.



Fig. 6.1 Growth inhibition % (A) and OTA % reduction (B) of *A. carbonarius* in MRS cocultures with *L. plantarum* strains for 3 days at 30 °C. Data points are mean values of two replicates \pm SE.



Fig. 6E. Growth inhibition of A. carbonarius ITEM 5010 by L. plantarum strains.

The effect of different *L. plantarum* strains on OTA production by *A. carbonarius* is presented in Fig. 6.1B. All bacteria had a significant impact regarding OTA accumulation (p < 0.0001) presenting a decrease in toxin ranging from 93% to 100%. *L. plantarum* 345 was proved again to have the greatest impact on every fungal isolate, reducing toxin production by 100%. Regarding OTA inhibition, the reference fungal isolate ITEM 5010 was less affected by the presence of LAB compared to wild isolates, although it was the most affected isolate concerning biomass reduction. It needs to be noted that *L. plantarum* 195 had in general a strong effect on OTA inhibition despite the fact that it enhanced fungal growth in the wild isolates of *A. carbonarius*.

6.3.2 Population dynamics of L. plantarum on grapes

The population dynamics of *L. plantarum* on grape berries is shown in Fig. 6.2, where high levels of colonization were observed in both cultivars. Bacterial populations

appeared to have similar trend, starting from almost the same initial counts for all strains and increased rapidly on berries surface. Specifically, the LAB stains presented high attachment on grape surface right after inoculation ranging from 4.6 to 5.1 log₁₀ CFU/g. The highest level of colonization was reached at day 3 (*ca.* 6.5 log units) followed by a slight decrease thereafter. As shown in Fig. 6.2, *L. plantarum* 345 and 571 presented higher populations in the white grape cultivar revealing slight differences among the strains tested.



Fig. 6.2 Population dynamics of *L. plantarum* isolates on the surface of grapes of two different table grape varieties stored at 30 °C for 5 days (st. deviation was <5% of the respective value).

6.3.3 Evaluation of antagonistic activity of L. plantarum against A. carbonarius growth in grapes

The efficacy of *L. plantarum* to prevent *A. carbonarius* infections on detached grape berries at 30 °C is illustrated in Fig. 6.3. All bacterial strains were able to reduce fungal infection in berries compared to control treatment. Further statistical analyses were conducted to highlight the efficacy of *L. plantarum* to control *A. carbonarius* growth and revealed significant differences (p<0.0001) between wounded and unwounded grape berries (Table 6.4). In both cultivars, the percentage of infected berries was lower in the unwounded compared to wounded grape berries group. Fungal infection was delayed for 2 days in wounded berries. With regard to the unwounded group, infection was observed at day 3 including both control samples and samples treated with *L. plantarum* 1645 and 195, whereas *L. plantarum* 345 and 571 delayed fungal infection by one more day.

Table 6.4 Analysis of variance (ANOVA) between the two grape cultivars and the parameters involved in the biocontrol experiment for *A. carbonarius* Ac29.

Grapes	Factor	DF	Sum of Squares	F Ratio	Prob > F
	Treatment (T)	1	163.3333	206.3158	<.0001*
	Bacterial strain (Bs)	4	469.9500	148.4053	<.0001*
	Day (D)	3	2644.0000	1113.263	<.0001*
WHITE	$T \times Bs$	4	6.5833	2.0789	0.0913
	Τ×D	3	46.6667	19.6491	<.0001*
	$Bs \times D$	12	249.2500	26.2368	<.0001*
	$T \times Bs \times D$	12	30.7500	3.2368	0.0008*
	Treatment (T)	1	147.4083	194.3846	<.0001*
	Bacterial strain (Bs)	4	481.8833	158.8626	<.0001*
	Day (D)	3	2269.0917	997.4029	<.0001*
RED	$T \times Bs$	4	12.0500	3.9725	0.0054*
	T×D	3	62.6250	27.5275	<.0001*
	$Bs \times D$	12	308.1167	33.8590	<.0001*
	$T \times Bs \times D$	12	18.7500	2.0604	0.0291*

Higher differences in infection rates were observed at day 4 in both groups. Specifically, unwounded grapes pre-treated with bacterial strains were able to control fungal infection ca. 25% more effectively than in wounded ones (Fig. 6.3). Even thought on day 5, 100% infection was observed in both groups (wounded and unwounded) for control samples, all bacterial strains displayed good biocontrol activity with considerable reduction in infection rates. Lactobacillus plantarum 571 and 345 have been proved as the most effective agents on fungal control. Specifically, the former strain reduced infection on the white grape cultivar to 53.3% and 33.3% for wounded and unwounded berries, respectively. Higher reduction was observed for the same strain in the red grape cultivar since the infection rate was reduced to 48.3% and 30.0% (Fig.s 6.3 A,B) for wounded and unwounded berries, respectively. Similarly, L. plantarum 345 reduced infection on the white grape cultivar to 60.0% and 36.6%, respectively, for wounded and unwounded berries, whereas the respective rates in the red grape cultivar were 56.6% and 28.3% (Fig.s 6.3A,B). Moreover, the cross effects between the two cultivars and the experimental parameters are presented in Table 6.4, highlighting the significance of interactions between strain, treatment and time on antifungal activity.





Fig. 6.3 Percentage of infection (%) of *A. carbonarius* on white grape cultivar (A) and red grape cultivar (B) berries during co-culture with *L. plantarum* strains for 5 days at 30 °C. Data points represent mean values of three replicates \pm SE.

6.3.4 In situ assessment of L. plantarum potential to control OTA production by A. carbonarius

On the basis of the results of antagonistic activity, the antiochratoxigenic potential of L. *plantarum* strains was evaluated against *A. carbonarius* Ac29 in grapes. This particular wild fungal isolate was selected as a high OTA producer isolated from grapes in Greek vineyards according to a previous study (Lappa et al., 2015). Infected grapes from wounded berries were also investigated for the presence of OTA. The average OTA accumulation under the interaction effects of *L. plantarum* after 5 days at 30 °C is presented in Fig. 6.4.

OTA content of grape berries was significantly reduced by the biocontrol agents (p<0.0001). Interestingly, *L. plantarum* 345 and 571 were proved more effective to reduce toxin production in the red grape cultivar by *ca.* 84.5% and 92.5% respectively, compared to *ca.* 78.7% and 81.4% reduction in the white grape cultivar. On the other hand, *L. plantarum* 1645 and 195 showed also antiochratoxigenic activity reducing OTA by 56.7% and 40.0% as well as by 44.5% and 32.3% for the white and red grape cultivars, respectively.





Fig. 6.4 Impact of *L. plantarum* strains on OTA production in white grape cultivar (W) and red grape cultivar (R) after 5 days at 30 °C. Bars represent mean values of two replicates \pm SE. Significant differences are indicated by * (p<0.05), ** (p<0.01), *** (p<0.001), and **** (p<0.001).

6.3.5 Transcription responses of A. carbonarius isolates under co-cultivation with L. plantarum

The influence of bacterial strains in the gene expression assay of A. carbonarius was evaluated and compared with the control samples (fungal growth without bacterial coculture). All fungal wild isolates used in this study along with the reference strain ITEM 5010, showed expression of the biosynthetic cluster genes AcOTAnrps and AcOTApks, whereas laeA exhibited also regulation in all samples. The interactions between microorganisms were apparent in fungal isolates affecting expression levels of these specific genes (Fig.s 6.5). Regarding isolate Ac29, transcriptional profile of AcOTAnrps and AcOTApks was down regulated up to 8 folds in the majority of treatments. However, laeA did not show any difference in transcription between cocultures and control samples (Fig. 6.5A). In contrast, in Ac33 the expression of laeA was highly affected by bacterial antagonists presenting up to 12 folds up regulation (Fig. 6.5B). However, the genes AcOTAnrps and AcOTApks exhibited differential expression in Ac33, whereas isolate Ac47 did not present any significant changes in transcription profile. More specifically, fungal co-culture with L. plantarum T571 and 1645 showed down regulation of both structural genes while L. plantarum 345 caused down regulation only to AcOTAnrps. On the other hand, up regulation of AcOTApks was observed for L. plantarum 195. Gene expression for the reference strain ITEM 5010 revealed also a different profile. Specifically, laeA was most affected by all bacterial strains, since it was up regulated up to 9.3 folds. AcOTApks seemed to be influenced only by L. plantarum T571 where down regulation was observed. In the case

of AcOTA*nrps*, up regulation was observed by treatments with *L. plantarum* T571, 345 and 1645.

6.3.6 Microstructural analysis of grape surface by SEM

The ultrastructure of grape berries untreated and treated with microorganisms as revealed by SEM images is presented in Fig. 6.6. Specifically, Fig. 6.6A illustrates fresh healthy berries before treatments where the surface shows uniformLy distributed epicuticular wax deposits. Fig. 6.6B shows the grape skin surface of berries inoculated with LAB where high levels of colonization by *L. plantarum* were observed. The structure of epicuticular waxes could be of paramount importance in the skin-adhesion by microrganisms, as in the case of table olives fermentation by *L. plantarum* (Lanza and Di Serio, 2015). The grape skin of berries inoculated with *A. carbonarius* is shown in Fig. 6.6C. The surface of injured berries shows spherical structures formed by a mass of vegetative hyphae that could represent the initial phase of infection starting from the inoculation point. Finally, the co-culture between *L. plantarum* and the fungus is illustrated in Fig. 6.6D, where the proliferation of lactobacilli seems to reduce the formation of the fungal plaques.



Fig. 6.5 Relative gene expression of *A. carbonarius* in MRS co-cultures with *L. plantarum* strains for 3 days at 30 °C. Bars represent mean values of two replicates \pm SE. Significant differences between relative gene expression for each OTA related gene and bacterial/fungal co-culture are indicated by different letters.





Fig. 6.6 Ultrastructure of grape berry skin before and after colonization of microorganisms. (A) untreated grape berry; (B) grape berry inoculated with *L. plantarum*; (C) grape berry inoculated with *A. carbonarius*; (D) grape berry inoculated with both microorganisms.

6.4 Discussion

Filamentous fungi are widely distributed food spoilage microorganisms responsible not only for significant losses in the field but also for safety concerns due to their potential to produce mycotoxins. LAB have already been highlighted as promising bioprotective agents, among which L. plantarum is considered as a prominent microorganism in the field of antifungal research (Djossou et al., 2011; Lavermicocca et al., 2000; Luz et al., 2017). In this work, the focus was given on screening different strains of L. plantarum isolated from heterogenous food matrices against A. carbonarius grape isolates. An in vitro co-culture assay was undertaken to determine the effects of L. plantarum strains on fungal growth and OTA production. Results revealed that L. plantarum presented significant effects on the growth of A. carbonarius and fungal inhibition was dependent on the bacterial strain assayed. Significant reduction in fungal biomass was observed for the majority of co-cultures with the exception of L. plantarum 195 that stimulated fungal growth in wild grape isolates. This could be indicative of bacterial strain dependent stress or some specific fungal/bacterial interaction. Therefore, the imposed additional stress by fungicidal agents could possibly stimulate fungal growth as a defense response of the fungus in sub-lethal levels of the agent employed. It is also likely that the specific bacterial strain is adapted to co-existence with fungi due to the fact that it is also isolated from grapes and it is less resistant against fungal competition. Another possible hypothesis of strain differences could be attributed to metabolic compounds presenting lower antifungal potential. Recently, Dong et al. (2017) elucidated the genetic diversity among L. plantarum strains associated with mechanisms of antifungal action and reported that the antimicrobial activity of LAB is expressed 143

either directly through competition of live cells for growth substrates or indirectly as a result of the synthesis of a wide variety of active antagonistic metabolites. Our results are also consistent with previous studies which have reported great inter-specific variability among the antifungal activity spectrum of *L. plantarum* (Russo et al., 2017).

It is known that certain LAB are able to pose anti-mycotoxins such as patulin (Fuchs et al., 2008), aflatoxins (Sangwanee et al., 2014) and fumonsin B1 (Pizzolitto et al., 2012). In a recent work, (Saladino et al., 2016), the effect of L. plantarum to reduce growth of Aspergillus parasiticus and Penicillium expansum was reported together with a reduction in AFs biosynthesis. Even though there is little information about the antiochratoxigenic effect of LAB against A. carbonarius, the results obtained in this study are in agreement with previous reports that evaluated L. plantarum mycotoxigenic control. Specifically, Belkacem-Hanfi et al. (2014) reported high effects against an A. carbonarius strain concerning OTA reduction in liquid medium. Concerning the mechanisms of action involved in the inhibition of OTA accumulation by L. plantarum, it is hypothesized that the acid compounds produced by bacteria could also be partly responsible for OTA reduction apart from their direct interaction effect on growth. Nevertheless, binding toxin in LAB cell wall is another well supported hypothesis by previous researchers (Haskard et al., 2001; Piotrowska and Żakowska, 2000). Lactobacillus plantarum 195 was proved less efficient to inhibit OTA production from all fungal isolates suggesting inter-strain differences in terms of OTA elimination. In contrast, L. plantarum 571 and 1645 were able to inhibit totally OTA production only in some fungal isolates. In this regard, intra-strain differences indicate also differences in resistance mechanisms of fungal isolates upon bacterial antagonism. Interestingly, the strain ITEM 5010 was proved to be the least resistant isolate to bacterial antagonism in terms of growth but more prone to reduced toxin accumulation. This fact underlines the

different response of the reference strain compared to the wild grape fungal isolates at genetic level and defense action mode.

In order to assess the potential application of our findings, the reduction of A. carbonarius colonization in grape berries was temporally monitored and the positive effect of biocontrol treatment in terms of OTA inhibition was determined at the same time. Lactobacillus plantarum strains presented high colonization and biocontrol activity resulting in reduced A. carbonarius incidence on grape berries. Despite the fact that total fungal inhibition was not observed, it is promising that considerable elimination of infection occurred using high initial fungal populations. Colonization, nutrient competition and inhibition of fungal metabolites may be a mechanism of action of this antagonistic outcome. Ability of A. carbonarius to colonize and penetrate intact berries has been previously shown (Battilani et al., 2001). It is also well known that table grapes have much more soft skin that wine grape berries. The antagonistic activity of biological agents against A. carbonarius in grapes has been demonstrated mainly for yeasts confirming their positive role in decreasing fungal infection and OTA accumulation in wine grapes (Bleve et al., 2006; Ponsone et al., 2011; De Curtis et al., 2012; Nally et al., 2013). Nevertheless, the results of the present work are in accordance with Ponsone et al. (2016), presenting that biological agent was not the same efficient to control A. carbonarius on damaged berries. Furthermore, the authors also reported that the inhibitory effects were dependent on the ochratoxigenic species and yeast strains.

This study has also attempted to investigate the efficacy of LAB against *A. carbonarius* by examining the effect on genes involved in OTA biosynthetic pathway. The focus was given on two structural genes localized in the ochratoxin cluster and one global regulator. In general, with regard to the expression of the two biosynthetic genes AcOTA*nrps* and AcOTA*pks* and the global regulator *laeA*, all isolates showed 145

regulation in all cases studied and different expression patterns were observed. These results indicate that OTA production was not consistent with the effect of gene expression which is in agreement with Al-Saad et al. (2016) who observed different responses expressed after the influence of four bacterial antagonists against Aspergillus flavus on aflatoxin related genes. The data obtained in our work demonstrated that L. plantarum influenced relative expression of the selected OTA related genes, presenting differences between OTA producers. Down regulation was observed in many cases that were related to changes in toxin accumulation supporting the hypothesis of toxin inhibition induced by the suppression of the OTA transcription biosynthetic pathway. Gene expression in co-culture experiments has been characterized by transcriptional responses of A. carbonarius with high variations among fungal isolates. Moreover as mentioned above, results among bacterial strains were also inconsistent. Transcripts were differentially expressed after L. plantarum influence even in cases where no toxin was detected. Hencefore, this fact may suggest that a different mode of action was probably responsible for this anti-ochratoxigenic effect. Antifungal activity could induce a metabolic alteration, which is likely to affect expression of other genes leading to final protein expression. The complete understanding of this complexity requires comprehensively cataloging the gene expression changes that accompany infection. While A. carbonarius responded to L. plantarum by down regulation of genes, the most interesting result is the trigger of expression of the global regulator, enforcing thus the findings of a previous study (Crowley et al., 2013) in which L. plantarum increased transcprition of global regulator *laeA*. This result indicates a cellular stress response and exerts an attempt of A. carbonarius isolates to be protected against antifungal activities. Transcriptome experiments were performed in order to assess findings as opposed to secondary and thus indirect response. Direct antifungal effect was not observed except for particular cases. Significant reductions have been observed in the fold change of 146

mRNA in the presence of bacterial antagonists. The decreased expression of mRNA therefore provides additional evidence for changes in *A. carbonarius* metabolism in response to *L. plantarum* influence. This suggests that some bacteria may indeed control toxin production through transcription. Instead, our data point to a far underscribed alteration of *A. carbonarius* metabolism in response to *L. plantarum*. Results suggest that the protective effect of L. plantarum is mediated by a synergy of actions. It is likely however that the reduced level of expression is a consequence rather than a cause of OTA production. When compared to the gene expression for the control of A. carbonarius, although these effects were significant, they may not have sufficiently clarified and other key regulatory genes may be needed to explore. The question is whether the differential results are because of inter-species variability or because of post transcriptional even post translational mechanisms.

Conclusions

In conclusion, this work is a contribution for the application of microbial antagonists against OTA producing fungi in table grapes through the implementation of a gene transcription approach. *Lactobacillus plantarum strains* proved effective as potential biocontrol agents against *A. carbonarius* isolates since they greatly reduced fungal growth *in vitro*. In addition OTA production was minimized by bacterial strains presence at inoculation level of 10^6 cfu/mL for all fungal isolates. Moreover, the *in situ* results showed that biocontrol treatment with *L. plantarum* decreased infection by *A. carbonarius* on table grapes. All bacterial strains successfully colonized and influenced fungal adhesion on grape berries as confirmed also by SEM images. Furthermore, greater control efficacy revealed especially for unwounded berries. A positive effect of *L. plantarum* strains was also observed on the level of OTA accumulation, even when protection from fungal infection was not complete. These positive effects were proved to be strain dependent for both microorganisms. Finally, OTA related genes, mainly OTA*nrps* and *laeA*, were significantly affected by the bacterial co-culture, emphasizing also strong strain dependence for *A. carbonarius* isolates in terms of gene expression.

Concluding remarks and Future perspectives

Aspergillus carbonarius is a mycotoxigenic fungus of high concern for grapes and grape derivatives and is considered one of the most potent sources of OTA contamination. Although half a century has elapsed since OTA was isolated for the first time, its study remains a major challenge in science until today. Contamination of different food and feed with OTA remains an important health issue that still requires much attention. Climate, agronomic and global market changes are importanct factors affecting mycotoxigenic hazards. Therefore, the knowledge of fungal behavior, biosynthetic mechanisms and interactions along with toxin production is still essential to face effectively the exposure to this toxin.

In this thesis, OTA kinetics was determined in an attempt to correlate primary (growth) and secondary metabolism (toxin production) at optimum conditions, developing also a model for OTA prediction. A variety of growth parameters (diameter, biomass, dry weight, colony area, colony density) were studied in an inter-specific assay. The observations reported in Chapter 3 indicated that the dependence of the results from each growth determination method assayed is due not only to inter- but also to intra-species level. Even though highly correlated results were obtained between fungal growth and toxin production for the majority of grape isolates, variability in toxin potential among grape isolates could not be efficiently explained, indicating that phenotypic OTA production should somehow be connected to the activity of OTA related genes. In these terms, further investigation was undertaken at molecular level.

Despite the great progress in genome sequencing of *A. carbonarius* which has allowed the elucidation of a putative gene cluster involved in OTA biosynthesis, the biosynthetic mechanism of this mycotoxin has been partially revealed until now. In general, gene transcription coincides with OTA production, demonstrating that its induction can be used as a molecular signal to monitor toxin production. Transcriptional regulation is the 150

first step used by fungi to modulate mycotoxin production. The knowledge of the genes involved in OTA biosynthesis and understanding of the mechanisms involved in their regulation are essential to develop new effective control methods. Therefore, studies on the regulation of expression of OTA biosynthetic genes are important to elucidate how and why fungi produce the toxin and thus help to establish efficient control methods.

In these terms, in Chapter 4 gene regulation was investigated with regard to environmental factors effects. However, gene transcription could not be correlated with OTA production for all genes studied. These findings provided insight on the complexity of OTA regulation. As stated before, OTA biosynthetic key genes have been proved to be regulated by environmental stimuli, suggesting that the relative expression profiles of both AcOTApks and AcOTAnrps could provide critical information on the ecological conditions that influence OTA production. So far, however, there is no positive or negative established trend between gene expression and temperature or water activity. Lack of consistent correlations could be due to the fact that the measured OTA concentration is an accumulated value, whereas gene expression data are actual values at the time point at which the samples were taken. In general, OTA is very stable and the amount produced during growth accumulates in the mycelium and the medium. Additionally, the amount of mRNA may change rapidly since it is also not stable over time and may vary at a certain time point depending on culture age and maturity. These fluctuations in the level of mRNA over time have also been taken into account in this work. This type of information has been obtained for the first time and demonstrates the dynamics of the regulation of expression of OTA key genes, especially in response to different environmental conditions, emphasizing thus the need to understand these mechanisms.

The economic loss and health hazards caused by toxigenic fungi are of paramount importance and as highlighted above the most efficient way to prevent food contamination with mycotoxins is to avoid their growth. Alternative natural strategies for the management of mycotoxins in food and feed, which have received much attention lately, have been proved promising for mycotoxin biosynthesis inhibition. On the other hand, focus should be given to control both fungal growth and mycotoxin production, as opposed to controlling fungal growth only, since partial control of growth might lead to higher mycotoxin production and thus reduce the quality of the harvested commodity. In addition, a better understanding of the impact of sublethal doses of the control agent should be evaluated along with the environmental conditions that could affect its capacity to reduce toxin production.

The ability of natural compounds, such as essential oils, to suppress mycotoxigenesis could become an alternative strategy to limit food and feed contamination as demonstrated in Chapter 5. The use of different assays indicated that the physicochemical characteristics and microstructure of different substrates have a strong impact on fungal growth that may shape both the transcriptional responses and phenotypes related to growth or gene expression. Not surprisingly, inter and intra strain differences were a major issue observed in the obtained results.

Finally, in Chapter 6 the efficacy of LAB strains as anti-ochratoxigenic agents was studied in terms of fungal growth and assosiated toxin reduction. Moreover, the determination of transcription levels under co-culture conditions was conducted by targeting the biosynthetic genes involved in toxin biosynthesis. It needs to be noted that in the case of food (grape berries) contamination, bacterial antifungal efficacy was proved moderately lower compared to the *in vitro* study. Given that the generated data

152

should be as relevant as possible to real conditions in foods and food-related environments, it is really important to undertake additional *in situ* and *in vivo* studies.

Chapters 5 and 6 could contribute to the development of improved control strategies to reduce the risk of OTA contamination in grapes and related products. However, the importance of isolate variability was stressed throughout this thesis as a critical factor. The inherent differences among identically treated strains of the same microbial species constitute an important source of variability in microbiological studies. Taking into account that it is often difficult to compare findings from different studies, assessing isolate variability is of paramount importance and multiple strains should be tested, under well described conditions, with appropriate replicate experiments as well as reference strains. As previously described, bacterial strains of different origin employed in this work resulted in strain-dependent responses that corresponded to different antifungal activity. Moreover, different fungal wild isolates from Greek vineyards resented biological variability due to differences in phenotypic and transcriptomic toxigenic behavior.

The difficulty to predict and interpret the intricate relationships and interspecies differences within these microbial communities was a major challenge in this thesis. Tracking and defining molecular interactions among microorganisms is critical for understanding how single species and complex communities impact their associated host on the natural environment, providing an in-depth insight into ecological interactions of microbial consortia.

Secondary metabolite production is also controlled at an upper hierarchical level by global transcription factors encoded by genes related to the biosynthetic gene clusters. Such genes regulate multiple physiological processes and generally respond to environmental cues such as pH, temperature, and nutrition. To understand the 153

biosynthesis of mycotoxins as secondary metabolites, the important task is to target transcription factors that catalyze steps within the biosynthetic pathway. Nevertheless, due to different regulatory mechanisms and pathways, prediction of mycotoxin biosynthesis in a natural environment is important.

Generally, transcription and phenotypic biosynthesis of mycotoxins are coupled and gene induction occurs usually some time before the phenotypic biosynthesis of higher amounts of the respective mycotoxin. However it has to be underlined that measuring transcription generates only relative data. Transcription is not always ultimately coupled with the phenotypic production of mycotoxins, since post-transcriptional regulatory mechanisms may uncouple both processes. Furthermore, the amount of mRNA is much more variable over time than the amount of mycotoxin produced. Thus, monitoring transcription of mycotoxin biosynthesis genes provides an in-depth picture of the molecular events leading to mycotoxin biosynthesis activation in foods. The signal from certain environmental conditions at transcriptional level is mediated via transduction pathways. This situation demonstrates the complexity of biosynthesis regulation of fungal secondary metabolites during growth in their natural environment.

Among molecular tools, the reverse transcription qPCR (RT-qPCR) technique could be employed to analyze the temporal expression of genes involved in the mycotoxin biosynthetic pathway. RT-qPCR is highly sensitive and allows quantification of small changes in gene expression. In this perspective, highly efficient quantitative RT-qPCR protocols have been designed and the new protocols developed in this thesis will favor studies on the expression of OTA biosynthetic genes in response to different ecophysiological and environmental factors and, therefore, improve the knowledge on the regulation of OTA production.

Within a planet experiencing ecological shifts due to climate change, differences in phenotypic responses among strains of the same microbial species constitute an important source of variability in microbiological studies, and as such they need to be assessed, characterized and taken into account. There is extensive variability among fungal species with respect to their behavior concerning toxin production. Differences in phenotypic responses such as growth, virulence, even sporulation activity among strains of the same species can be significant and should not be overlooked. In order to underline the above regulatory mechanisms, it is critical to explore and understand strain variability of toxigenic fungi. Phenotypic variability data should be assessed in conjunction with corresponding findings of molecular studies on the basis of mycotoxin biosynthesis. Intra-species variability may have an important impact on the accuracy of microbial risk assessment outcomes, and therefore, should be systematically assessed and accounted for in the framework of such molecular approaches.

Elucidation of molecular principles behind these complex interaction regulatory networks is a big challenge and will provide not only a deeper insight into how fungi translate differential signals into mycotoxin biosynthesis but will also result in a deeper understanding of their ecological role in the future. Moreover, genome modifications and activation of silent genes can be investigated through the use of complex media and co-culture conditions. Hence, further studies are needed to clarify the regulatory mechanisms underlying the activation of OTA production. In addition, the availability of additional data from different -omics approaches will allow to fill the gap of knowledge in the near future.

155

References Acknowledgments List of Publications

REFERNCES

References

- Abarca, M.L., Bragulat, M.R., Castellá, G., Cabañes, F.J., 1994. Ochratoxin A production by strains of *Aspergillus niger var. niger*. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 60, 2650–2652.
- Abarca, M.L., Accensi, F., Bragulat, M.R., Cabañes, F.J., 2001. Current importance of ochratoxin A-producing *Aspergillus* spp. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 64, 903–906.
- Abarca, M.L., Accensi F., Bragulat M.R., Castellá G., Cabanes F.J., 2003. *Aspergillus carbonarius* as the main source of ochratoxin A contamination in dried vine fruits from the Spanish market. J. Food Prot. 66, 504–506.
- Abarca, M. L., Accensi, F., Bragulat, M. R., Castella, G., Cabanes, F. J., 2004. Contamination in dried vine fruits from the Spanish market. J. Food Prot. 66, 504-506.
- Abbas, A., Valez, H., Dobson, A.D., 2009. Analysis of the effect of nutritional factors on OTA and OTB biosynthesis and polyketide synthase gene expression in *Aspergillus ochraceus*. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 135, 22-27.
- Abbas, A., Coghlan, A., O'Callaghan, J., Garcia-Estrada, C., Martin, J.F., Dobson, A.D.W., 2013. Functional characterization of the polyketide synthase gene required for ochratoxin A biosynthesis in *Penicillium verrucosum*. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 162, 311.
- Abbaszadeh, S., Tavakoli, R., Sharifzadeh, A., Shokri, H., 2015. Lactic acid bacteria as functional probiotic isolates for inhibiting the growth of *Aspergillus flavus*, *A. parasiticus, A. niger* and *Penicillium chrysogenum*. J. Mycol. Med. 25, 263-267.
- Abdel-Hadi, A.M., Caley, D.P., Carter, D.R., Magan, N., 2011. Control of aflatoxin production of *Aspergillus flavus* and *Aspergillus parasiticus* using RNA silencing technology by targeting aflD (*nor-1*) gene. Toxins 3, 647-659.
- Abdollahi, M., Rezaei, M., Farzi, G., 2014. Influence of chitosan/clay functional bionanocomposite activated with rosemary essential oil on the shelf life of fresh silver carp. Int. J. Food Sci. Technol. 49, 811-818.

- Akash Kedia, A., Dwivedy, A.K., Jha, D.K., Dubey, N.K., 2016. Efficacy of *Mentha spicata* essential oil in suppression of *Aspergillus flavus* and aflatoxin contamination in chickpea with particular emphasis to mode of antifungal action. Protoplasma 253, pp 647–653.
- Akbar, A., Medina, A., Magan, N., 2016. Impact of interacting climate change factors on growth and ochratoxin A production by *Aspergillus section Circumdati* and *Nigri* species on coffee. World Mycotoxin J. 9, 863-874.
- Alkhayyat, F., Yu, J.H., 2014. Upstream regulation of mycotoxin biosynthesis. Adv. Appl. Microbiol. 86, 251–278.
- Al-Saad, L.A., Al-Badran, A.I., Al-Jumayli, S.A., Magan, N., Rodríguez, A., 2016. Impact of bacterial biocontrol agents on aflatoxin biosynthetic genes, aflD and aflR expression, and phenotypic aflatoxin B1 production by *Aspergillus flavus* under different environmental and nutritional regimes. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 217, 123– 129.
- Alshannaq, A., Yu, J-H., 2017. Occurrence, Toxicity, and Analysis of Major Mycotoxins in Food. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 14, 632.
- Amiri, A., Dugas, R., Pichot, A.L., Bompeix, G., 2008. *In vitro* and *in vivo* activity of eugenol oil (*Eygenia cariophylata*) against four important postharvest apple pathogens. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 126, 13-19.
- Atoui, A., Michell, P., Mathieu, F., Magan, N., Lebrihi, A., 2007. Partitioning of Ochratoxin A in mycelium and conidia of *Aspergillus carbonarius* and the impact on toxin contamination by grapes and wine. J. Appl. Microbiol. 103, 961-968.
- Ayoub, F., Reverberi, M., Ricelli, A., D'Onghia, A.M., Yaseen, T., 2010. Early detection of *Aspergillus carbonarius* and *A. niger* on table grapes: a tool for quality improvement. Food Addit. Contam. Part A. 27, 1285-1293.
- Battilani, P., Camardo, Leggieri, M., 2015. OTA-Grapes: A Mechanistic Model to Predict Ochratoxin A Risk in Grapes, a Step beyond the Systems Approach. Toxins 7, 3012–3029.
- Battilani, P., Giorni, P., Bertuzzi, T., Pietri, A., 2001. Preliminary results on ochratoxinA production by fungi invading grape berries. In: Proceedings 11th Congress of158

Mediterranean Phytopathological Union and 3rd Congress of Sociedade Portuguesa de Fitopatologia, Evora, Portugal, 120–122.

- Battilani, P., Pietri, A., Bertuzzi, T., Languasco, L., Giorni, P., Kozakiewicz, Z., 2003. Occurrence of ochratoxin A-producing fungi in grapes grown in Italy. J. Food Prot., 66, 633–636.
- Battilani, P., Magan, N., Logrieco, A., 2006a. European research on ochratoxin A in grapes and wine. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 111, S2–S4.
- Battilani, P., Barbano, C., Marin, S., Sanchis, V., Kozakiewicz, Z., Magan, N., 2006b. Mapping of Aspergillus Section Nigri in Southern Europe and Israel based on geostatistical analysis. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 111, S72–S82.
- Bau, M., Bragulat, M.R., Abarca, M.L., Minguez, S., Cabañes, F.J., 2005. Ochratoxigenic species from Spanish wine grapes. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 98, 125– 130.
- Bayman, P., Baker, J.L., 2006. Ochratoxins: A global perspective. Mycopathologia, 162, 215–223.
- Bayram, O., Krappmann, S., Ni, M., Bok, J.W., Helmstaedt. K., Valerius. O., Braus-Stromeyer. S., Kwon. N.J., Keller. N.P., Yu. J.H, Braus. G.H., 2008. VeIB/ VeA/LaeA complex coordinates light signal with fungal development and secondary metabolism. Science 320, 1504-1506.
- Belkacem-Hanfi, N., Fhoula, I., Semmar, N., Guesmi, A., Perraud-Gaime, I., Ouzari, H.I., Boudabous, A., Roussos, S., 2014. Lactic acid bacteria against post-harvest moulds and ochratoxin A isolated from stored wheat. Biol. Control 76, 52-59.
- Bellí, N., Marín, S., Sanchis, V., Ramos, A.J., 2004a. Ochratoxin A in wines, musts and grape juice from Spain. J. Sci. Food Agric. 84, 591–594.
- Belli, N., Marin, S., Sanchis, V., Ramos, A.J., 2004b. Influence of water activity and temperature of growth of *Aspergillus* section *Nigri* strains isolated from grapes. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 96, 19–27.

- Bellí, N., Ramos, A.J., Coronas, I., Sanchis, V., Marín, S., 2005. Aspergillus carbonarius growth and ochratoxin A production on a synthetic grape medium in relation to environmental factors. J. Appl. Microbiol. 98, 839–844.
- Bellí, N., Padro, E., Marin, S., Farre, G., Ramos., A.J. Sanchis., V., 2006. Occurrence of ochratoxin A and toxigenic potential of fungal Spanish grapes. J. Sci. Food Agric. 84, 541–546.
- Bellí, N., Marín, S., Argilés, E., Ramos, A.J., Sanchis, V., 2007a. Effect of chemical treatments on ochratogenic fungi and common mycobiota of grapes (*Vitis vinifera*). J. Food Prot.70, 157-163.
- Bellí, N., Marín, S., Coronas, I., Sanchis, V., Ramos, A.J., 2007b. Skin damage, high temperature and relative humidity as detrimental factors for *Aspergillus carbonarius* infection and ochratoxin A production in grapes. Food Control 18, 1343-1349.
- Bleve, G., Grieco, F., Cozzi, G., Logrieco, A., Visconti, A., 2006. Isolation of epiphytic yeasts with potential for biocontrol of *Aspergillus carbonarius* and *A. niger* on grape. Int. J.Food Microbiol. 108, 204–209.
- Bluma, R., Amaiden, M. R., Daghero, J., Etcheverry, M. 2008. Control of Aspergillus section flavi growth and aflatoxin accumulation by plant essential oil. J. Appl. Microbiol. 106, 1558-1568.
- Bok, J.W., Keller, N.P., 2004. LaeA, a regulator of secondary metabolism in *Aspergillus spp*. Eukaryot. Cell 3, 527-535.
- Boudra, H., Le Bars, P., Le Bars, J., 1995. Thermostability of ochratoxin A in wheat under two moisture conditions. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 61, 1156–1158.
- Bragulat, M.R., Abarca, M.L., Cabañes, F.J., 2001. An easy screening method for fungi producing ochratoxin A in pure culture. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 71, 139–144.
- Brakhage, A,A., Schroeckh.V., 2011. Fungal secondarymetabolites: strategies to activate silent gene clusters. Fungal Gen. Biol. 48:15–22.
- Brakhage, A.A., 2013. Regulation of fungal secondary metabolism. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 11, 21–32.

- Brul, S., Coote, P., 1999. Preservative agents in foods: mode of action and microbial resistance mechanisms. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 50, 1–17.
- Bui-Klimke, T.R., Wu, F., 2015. Ochratoxin A and human health risk: a review of the evidence. Crit. Rev. Food Sci. 55, 1860–1869.
- Burt, S. 2004. Essential oils: their antibacterial properties and potential applications in food – A review. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 94, 223-253.
- Bustin, S.A., Nolan, T., 2004. Basic RT-PCR Considerations. In: Bustin S.A., editor. A-Z of Quantitative PCR.IUL Press; La Jolla, CA, USA. pp. 359–396.
- Cabañes, F.J., Accensi, F., Bragulat, M.R., Abarca, M.L., Castellá, G., Minguez, S., Pons, A., 2002. What is the source of ochratoxin A in wine? Int. J. Food Microbiol. 79, 213–215.
- Caceres, I., El Khoury, R., Medina, Á., Lippi, Y., Naylies, C. Atoui, A., El Khoury, A., Oswald, I.P., Bailly, J.-D. Puel, O., 2016. Deciphering the anti-aflatoxinogenic properties of eugenol using a large-scale q-PCR approach. Toxins 8, 123.
- Calvo, A.M., Wilson, R.A., Bok, J.W., Keller, P.N., 2002. Relationship between secondary metabolism and fungal development. Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 66, 447-459.
- Castegnaro, M., Mohr, U., Pfohl-Leszkowicz, A., Esteve, J., Steinmann, J., Tillmann, J., Michelson, T., Bartsch, J., 1998. Sex- and strain-specific induction of renal tumors by ochratoxin A in rats correlated with DNA adduction. Int. J. Cancer 77, 70–75.
- Cendoya, E., Pinson-Gadais, L., María C., Farnochi, M., Ramirez, M.L., Chéreau, S., Marcheguay, G., Ducos, C., Barreau, C., Forget, F.R., 2017. Abiotic conditions leading to FUM gene expression and fumonisin accumulation by *Fusarium proliferatum* strains grown on a wheat-based substrate. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 253, 12-19.
- Chakrabortti, A., Li, J., Liang, Z.X., 2016. Complete genome sequence of the filamentous fungus *Aspergillus westerdijkiae* reveals the putative biosynthetic gene cluster of ochratoxin A. Genome Announc. 4, 00982-16.

- Chiotta, M.L., Ponsone, M.L., Sosa, D.M., Combina, M., Chulze, S.N., 2013. Biodiversity of *Aspergillus section Nigri* populations in Argentinean vineyards and ochratoxin A contamination. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 149, 171–176.
- Císarová, M., Tančinová, D., Medo, J., Kačániová, M., 2016. The *in vitro* effect of selected essential oils on the growth and mycotoxin production of *Aspergillus* species, J. Environ. Sci. Health Part B, 51, 10.
- Collemare. J., Pianfetti, M., Houlle, A.E., Morin, D., Camborde, L., Gagey, M.J., Barbisan, C., Fudal, I., Lebrun, M.H., Bohnert, H.U., 2008. *Magnaporthe grisea* avirulence gene ACE1 belongs to an infection-specific gene cluster involved in secondary metabolism. New Phytol. 179, 196-208.
- Crespo-Sempere, A., Marin, S., Sanchis, V., Ramos, A.J., 2013. VeA and LaeA transcriptional factors regulate ochratoxin A biosynthesis in *Aspergillus carbonarius*. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 166, 479–486.
- Crowley, S., Mahony, J., Morrissey, J.P., van Sinderen, D., 2013. Transcriptomic and morphological profiling of *Aspergillus fumigatus* Af293 in response to antifungal activity produced by *Lactobacillus plantarum* 16. Microbiol. 159, 2014–2024.
- Dalié, D.K.D., Deschamps, A.M., Richard-Forget, F., 2010. Lactic acid bacteria Potential for control of mould growth and mycotoxins: A review. Food Control 21, 370-380.
- Damalas, C.A., Eleftherohorinos, I.G., 2011. Pesticide exposure, safety issues, and risk assessment indicators. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 8, 1402-1419.
- Dambolena, S.J., Zunino, P.M., López, G.A., Rubinstein, R.H., Zygadlo, A.J., Mwangi, W.J., Thoithi, N.G., Kibwage, O.I., Mwalukumbi, M.J., Kariuki, T.S., 2010. Essential oils composition of *Ocimum basilicum* L. and *Ocimum gratissimum* L. from Kenya and their inhibitory effects on growth and fumonisin production by *Fusarium verticillioides*. Innov. Food Sci. Emerg. Technol. 11, 410-414.
- De Clercq, N., Vlaemynck, G., Van Pamel, E., Van Weyenberg, S., Herman, L., Devlieghere, F., De Meulenaer, B., Van Coillie, E., 2016. *Isoepoxydon dehydrogenase (idh)* gene expression in relation to patulin production by *Penicillium*

expansum under different temperature and atmosphere. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 220, 50-57.

- De Felice, V., Ianiri, G., De Cicco, V., Castoria, R., 2012. Environmental factors affect the activity of biocontrol agents against ochratoxigenic *Aspergillus carbonarius* on wine grape. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 19, 17–24.
- Delgado, J., da Cruz Cabral, L., Rodríguez, M., Rodríguez, A., 2018. Influence of ochratoxin A on adaptation of Penicillium nordicum on a NaCl-rich dry-cured hambased medium. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 272, 22-28.
- Delfini, C., 1982. In: Scicalpi, L. (Ed.), Tecnica di microbiologia eonological, Rome.
- De Souza, M.L., Passamani, F.R.F., da Silva Avila, C. L., Batsta, L.R., Schwan, R.F., Silva, C.F., 2017. Acta Sci. Agron. 39, 349-358.
- Djossou, O., Perraud-Gaime, I., Mirleau, F., Rodriguez-Serrano, G. Karou, G., Niamke, S., Ouzari, I., Boudabous A., Roussos, S., 2011. Robusta coffee beans post-harvest microflora: *Lactobacillus plantarum* sp. as potential antagonist of *Aspergillus carbonarius*. Anaerobe, 17, 267–272.
- Do, K. H., An, T. J., Oh, S.-K., & Moon, Y., 2015. Nation-Based Occurrence and Endogenous Biological Reduction of Mycotoxins in Medicinal Herbs and Spices. Toxins, 7, 4111–4130.
- Dong, Q-Q., Hu, H-J., Luo, X-G., Wang, Q-T., Gu, X-C., Zhou, H., Zhou, W-J., Ni, X-M., Zhang, T-C., 2017. Complete genome sequence of *Lactobacillus plantarum* CGMCC 8198. Genome Announc 5:e01559-16.
- dos Santos Oliveira, M., Badiale, F., Furlog, E. 2008. Screening of antifungal and antimycotoxigenic activity of plant phenolic extract. World Mycotoxin J. 1, 139-146.
- Dwivedy, A.K., Prakash, B., Singh Chanotiya,C.S., Bisht, D., Dubey, N.K., 2017. Chemically characterized *Mentha cardiaca L.* essential oil as plant based preservative in view of efficacy against biodeteriorating fungi of dry fruits, aflatoxin secretion, lipid peroxidation and safety profile assessment. Food Chem. Toxicol. 106, 175-184.
- Eder, C., Kurz, M., Brönstrup, M., Toti, L., 2002. Fermentative production of caloporoside derivatives. Patent WO 02072110.
- Ehrlich, K.C., Montalbano, B.G., Cary. J.W., Cotty. P.J., 2002. Promoter elements in the aflatoxin pathway polyketide synthase gene. Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 1576, 171-175.
- El Khoury, A., Atoui, A., 2010. Ochratoxin A: General Overview and Actual Molecular Status. Toxins 2, 461-493.
- Espina, L., Somolinos, M., Loran, S., Conchello, D., Garcia, D., Pagan, R., 2011. Chemical composition of commercial citrus fruit essential oils and evaluation of their antimicrobial activity acting alone or in combined processes. Food Control 22, 896-902.
- Essia Ngang, J.J., Yadang, G., Sado Kamdem. S.L., Kouebou, C.P., Youte Fanche, S.A., Tsochi Kougan. D.L., Tsoungui. A., Etoa. F.X., 2015. Antifungal properties of selected lactic acid bacteria and application in the biological control of ochratoxin A producing fungi during cocoa fermentation. Biocontrol Sci. Tech. 25, 245–259.
- Esteban, A., Abarca, M.L., Bragulat, M.R., Cabanes, F.J., 2006. Study of the effect of water activity and temperature on ochratoxin A production by *Aspergillus carbonarius*. Food Microbiol. 23, 634–640.
- European Commission (EC) Rapid Alert System for Food and Feed (RASFF) Annual Report, 2012. Directorate-General for Health and Consumers, Available: <u>http://ec.europa.eu/food/food/rapidalert/docs/rasff_annual_report_2012_en.pdf.</u> <u>Accessed 1 June 2014</u>.
- Fanelli, F., Schmidt-Heydt, M., Haidukowski, M., Geisen, R., Logrieco, A., Mulè, G., 2012. Influence of light on growth, fumonisin biosynthesis and FUM1 gene expression by *Fusarium proliferatum*. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 153, 148-153.
- Fapohunda, S,O., Esan, A.O., Anjorin, T.S., 2017. Biological control of mycotoxins: an update. World Vet. J. 7, 117-127.
- Ferracin, L.M., Fier, C.B., Vieira, M.L., Monteiro-Vitorello, C.B., Varani. A., Rossi, M.M., Muller-Santos, M., Taniwaki, M.H., Iamanaka. B.T., Fungaro, M.H., 2012. Strain-specific polyketide synthase genes of *Aspergillus niger*. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 155, 137-145.

- Ferrara, M., Gallo, A., Scalzo, R.L., Haidukowski, M., Picchi, V., Perrone, G., 2015. Inhibition of ochratoxin a production in *Aspergillus carbonarius* by hydroxycinnamic acids from grapes. World Mycotoxin J. 8, 283–289.
- Ferrara, M., Perrone, G., Gambacorta, L., Epifani, F., Solfrizzo, M., Gallo, A., 2016. Identification of a Halogenase Involved in the Biosynthesis of Ochratoxin A in *Aspergillus carbonarius*. Appl. Environ. Microbiol., 82, 5631–5641.
- Filion, M., 2012. Quantitative Real-time PCR in Applied Microbiology. Norfolk, UK, Caister Academic Press.
- Fiori, S., Urgeghe, P.P., Hammami, W., Razzu, S., Jaoua, S., Migheli, Q., 2014. Biocontrol activity of four non- and low-fermenting yeast strains against *Aspergillus carbonarius* and their ability to remove ochratoxin A from grape juice. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 189, 45-50.
- Fountain, J.C., Scully, B.T., Ni, X., Kemerait, R.C., Lee, R.D., Chen, Z.Y., 2014. Environmental influences on maize - Aspergillus flavus interactions and aflatoxin production. Front. Microbiol. 5, 40.
- Fox, E.M., Howlett, B.J., 2008. Secondary metabolism: regulation and role in fungal biology. Curr. Opin. Microbiol. 11, 481–87.
- Fu., Y., Zu., Y., Chen., L., Shi., X., Wang., Z., Sun, S., Efferth, T., 2007. Antimicrobial activity of clove and rosemary essential oils alone and in combination. Phytother. Res. 21, 989-994.
- Fuchs, S., Sontag, G., Stidl, R., Ehrlich, V., Kundi, M., Knasmüller, S., 2008. Detoxification of patulin and ochratoxin A, two abundant mycotoxins, by lactic acid bacteria. Food Chem Toxicol. 46, 1398-1407.
- Gajbhiye, M.H, Kapadnis, B.P., 2016. Antifungal-activity-producing lactic acid bacteria as biocontrol agents in plants. Biocontrol Sci. Tech. 26, 1451-1470
- Gallo, A., Knox, B.P., Bruno, K.S., Solfrozzo, M., Baker, S.E., Perrone, G., 2009. Characterization of a *pks* gene which is expressed during ochratoxin A production by *Aspergillus carbonarius*. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 129, 8-15.

- Gallo, A., Bruno, K.S., Solfrizzo, M., Perrone, G., Mule, G., Visconti, A., Baker, S.E., 2012. New insight into the ochratoxin a biosynthetic pathway through deletion of a nonribosomal peptide synthetase gene in *Aspergillus carbonarius*. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 77, 8208-8218.
- Gallo, A., Perrone, G., Solfrizzo, M., Epifani, F., Abbas, A., Dodson, A.D.W., Mule, G., 2014. Identification and characterization of the polyketide synthase involved in ochratoxin A biosynthesis in *Aspergillus carbonarius*. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 179, 10-17.
- Gallo, A., Solfrizzo, M., Epifani, F., Panzarini, G., Perrone, G., 2016. Effect of temperature and water activity on gene expression and aflatoxin biosynthesis in *Aspergillus flavus* on almond medium. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 217, 162–169.
- Gallo, A., Ferrara, M., Perrone, G., 2017. Recent advances on the molecular aspects of ochratoxin A biosynthesis. Curr. Orin. Food Sci. 17, 49-56.
- Gambuti, A., Strollo, D., Genovese, A., Ugliano, M., Ritieni, A., Moio, L., 2005. Influence of enological practices on ochratoxin A concentration in wine. Am. J. Enol. Vitic. 56, 155–162.
- Garcia, D., Ramos, A.J., Sanchis, V., Marín, S., 2010. Modeling mould growth under suboptimal environmental conditions and inoculum size. Food Microbiol. 27, 909– 917.
- Garcia, D., Garcia-Cela, E., Ramos, J.A., Sanchis, V., Marin, S., 2011. Mould growth and mycotoxin production as affected by *Equisetum arvense* and *Stevia rebaudiana* extracts. Food Control 22, 1378-1384.
- Garcia, D., Ramos, A.J., Sanchis, V., Marín, S., 2013. Modeling kinetics of aflatoxin production by *Aspergillus flavus* in maize-based medium and maize grain. Int. J.Food Microbiol. 162, 182–189.
- Geisen, R., 2004. Molecular monitoring of environmental conditions influencing the induction of ochratoxin a biosynthesis gene in *Penicillium* nordicum. Mol. Nutr. Food Res. 48, 532–540.
- Geisen, R., Schmidt-Heydt, M., Karolewiez, A., 2006. A gene cluster of the ochratoxin A biosynthetic genes in Penicillium. Mycotoxin Res. 22, 134–141.

- Ghar, M., Renchin, T., Tateishi, R., Javzandulam, T., 2005. Agricultural land monitoring using linear mixure model. J. Environ. Stud. 62, 227–234.
- Ghazvini, R.D., Kouhsari, E., Zibafar, E., Hashemi, S.J., Amini, A., Niknejad, F., 2016.
 Antifungal activity and aflatoxin degradation of *Bifidobacterium bifidum* and *Lactobacillus fermentum* against Toxigenic *Aspergillus parasiticus*. Open Microbiol J. 10, 197–201.

Gibson, A.M., Baranyi, J., Pitt, J.I., Eyles, M.I., Roberts, T.A., 1994. Predicting fungal growth: the effect of water activity on *Aspergillus flavus* and related species. Int. J.Food Microbiol. 3, 419–431.

- Gill, A.O., Holley, R.A., 2004. Mechanisms of bactericidal action of cinnamaldehyde against *Listeria monocytogenes* and of eugenol against *L. monocytogenes* and *Lactobacillus sakei*. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 70, 5750-5755.
- Gil-Serna, J., Vázquez, C., González-Jaén, M., Patiño, B., 2018. Wine contamination with Ochratoxins: A review. Beverages 4, 6.
- Guzev, L., Danshin, A., Zahavi, T., Ovadia, A., Lichter, A., 2008. The effects of cold storage of table grapes, sulphur dioxide and ethanol on species of black *Aspergillus* producing ochratoxin A. Int. J. Food Sci. Technol. 43, 1187–1194.
- Hashem, A., Abd-Allah, E.F., Al-Obeed, R.S., Mridha, M.A.U., Al-Huqail A.A., 2013. Non-chemical strategies to control postharvest losses and extend the shelf life of table grape fruits. Biol. Agric. Hortic. 29, 82-90.
- Hashimoto, Y., Katsunuma, Y., Nunokawa, M., Minato, H., Yonemochi, C., 2016. Influence of repeated ochratoxin A ingestion on milk production and its carry-over into the milk, blood and tissues of lactating cows. Anim. Sci. J. 87, 541–546.
- Haskard, C.A., El-Nezami, H.S., Kankaanpää, P.E., Salminen, S., Ahokas, J.T., 2001. Surface Binding of Aflatoxin B1 by Lactic Acid Bacteria. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 67, 3086–3091.
- Hassan, Y.I., Zhou, T., Bullerman, L.B., 2015. Sourdough lactic acid bacteria as antifungal and mycotoxin-controlling agents. Food Sci. Technol. Int. 22, 79-90.

- Hertweck, C., 2009. The biosynthetic logic of polyketide diversity. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 48, 4688–4716.
- Heussner, A.H., Bingle, L.E.H., 2015. Comparative ochratoxin toxicity: A review of the available data. Toxins 7, 4253-4282.
- Heyndrickx, E., Sioen, I., Huybrechts, B., Callebaut, A., De Henauw, S., De Saeger, S., 2015. Human biomonitoring of multiple mycotoxins in the Belgian population: results of the BIOMYCO study. Environ. Int. 84, 82-89.
- Hocking, A.D., Leong, S.L.L., Kazi, B.A., Emmett, R.W., Scott, E.S., 2007. Fungi and mycotoxins in vineyards and grape products. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 119, 84-88.
- Hoffmeister, D., Keller, N.P., 2007. Natural products of filamentous fungi: enzymes, genes, and their regulation. Nat. Prod. Rep. 24, 393-416.
- Hope, R., Cairns-Fuller, V., Aldred, D., Magan, N., 2005. Use of antioxidants and essential oils for controlling mycotoxins in grain P5B-6. Proceedings of the BCPC (British Crop Protection Council) International Congress on Crop Science and Technology. Vol. 1, pp. 429-436.
- Hua, H., Xing, F., Selvaraj, J.N., Wang Yan, Zhao, Y., Zhou, L., Liu, X., Liu, Y., 2014. Inhibitory effect of essential oils on *Aspergillus ochraceus* growth and ochratoxin A production. PloS ONE 9(9): e108285.
- Howard, R.J., Valent, B., 1996. Breaking and entering: host penetration by the fungal rice blast pathogen *Magnaporthe grisea*. Ann. Rev. Microbiol. 50, 491–512.
- Hu, Y., Zhang, J., Kong, W., Zhao, G., Yang, M., 2017. Mechanisms of antifungal and anti-aflatoxigenic properties of essential oil derived from turmeric (*Curcuma longa L.*) on *Aspergillus flavus*. Food Chem. 220, 1-8.
- IARC, 1993. Ochratoxin A. Monographs 56 on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans, Some Naturally Occurring Substances, Food Items and Constituents, Heterocyclic Aromatic Amines and Mycotoxins, pp. 489–521. Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer.
- Jahanshiri, Z., Shams-Ghahfarokhi, M., Allameh. A., Razzaghi-Abyaneh. M., 2015. Inhibitory effect of eugenol on aflatoxin B₁ production in *Aspergillus parasiticus* by

downregulation the expression of major genes in the toxin biosynthetic pathway. World J. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 32, 1071-1078.

- JECFA (Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives) Ochratoxin A (addendum). Safety Evaluation of Certain Food Additives and Contaminants. Prepared by the Sixty-eighth meeting of the Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives; June 19-28, 2007; Geneva, Switz. 2008. WHO Food Additive Series, vol 59. Geneva, Switz.: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), World Health Organization (WHO), 357-429, 454.
- Jeswal, P., Kumar, D., 2015. Mycobiota and natural incidence of aflatoxins, ochratoxin A, and citrinin in Indian spices confirmed by LC-MS/MS. Int. J. Microbiol. Article ID 242486, 8 pages.
- Jiang, C., Shi, J., Liu, Y., Zhu, C., 2014. Inhibition of *Aspergillus carbonarius* and fungal contamination in table grapes using *Bacillus subtilis*. Food Control 35, 41-48.
- Jiang, C., Shi, J., Liu, Y., Zhu, C., 2014. Inhibition of *Aspergillus carbonarius* and fungal contamination in table grapes using *Bacillus subtilis*. Food Control 35, 41–48.
- Johanna, A.F., van Zyl Willem, H., Wentzel, C.A., 2016. Biologically based methods for control of fumonisin-producing *Fusarium* species and reduction of the fumonisins. Front. Microbiol. 7, 548.
- Kachouri, F. Ksontini, H., Hamdi, M., 2014. Removal of aflatoxin B1 and inhibition of *Aspergillus flavus* growth by the use of *Lactobacillus plantarum* on olives. J. Food Prot. 77, 1760-7.
- Kapetanakou, A., Panagou, E.Z., Gialitaki, M., Drosinos, E.M., Skandamis, P.N., 2009. Evaluating the combined effect of water activity, pH and temperature on ochratoxin A production by *Aspergillus ochraceus* and *Aspergillus carbonarius* on culture medium and Corinth raisins. Food Control 20, 725–732.
- Kapetanakou, A., Ampavi, A., Yanniotis, S., Drosinos, E., Skandamis, P., 2011. Development of a model describing the effect of temperature, water activity and (gel) structure on growth and ochratoxin A production by *Aspergillus carbonarius* in vitro and evaluation in food matrices of different viscosity. Food Microbiol. 28, 727– 735.

- Kapetanakou, A.E., Kollias, J.N., Drosinos, E.H., Skandamis, P.N., 2012. Inhibition of *A. carbonarius* growth and reduction of ochratoxin A by bacteria and yeast composites of technological importance in culture media and beverages. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 152, 91-99.
- Karányi, Z., Holb, I., Hornok, L., Pócsi, I., Miskei, M., 2013. FSRD: fungal stress response database. Database: The Journal of Biological Databases and Curation 2013, bat037.
- Karolewiez, A., Bogs, C., Geisen, R., 2005. Genetic background of ochratoxin A production in Penicillium. Mycotox Res. 21, 46–48.
- Karolewiez, A., Geisen, R., 2005. Cloning a part of the ochratoxin A biosynthetic gene cluster of Penicillium nordicum and characterization of the ochratoxin polyketide synthase gene. Syst. Appl. Microbiol. 28, 588-95.
- Keller, N.P., Turner, G., Bennett, J.W., 2005. Fungal secondary metabolism–from biochemistry to genomics. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 3, 937-947
- Keller, N.P., Bok, J.W., Chung. D., Perrin, R.M., Shwab, E.K., 2006. LaeA, a global regulator of *Aspergillus* toxins. Med. Mycol. 44, 83-85.
- .Khosvari, A.R., Shokri, H., Mokhtari, A.R., 2015. Efficacy of *Cuminum cyminum* essential oil on FUM1 gene expression of fumonisin-producing *Fusarium verticillioides* strains. Avicenna J. Phytomed. 5, 43-42.
- Khoury, R.E., Mathieu, F., Atoui, A., Kawtharani, H., Khoury, A.E., Afif, C., Maroun, R.G., Khoury, A.E., 2017. Ability of soil isolated actinobacterial strains to prevent, bind and biodegrade Ochratoxin A. Toxins 9, 222.
- Kizis, D., Natskoulis, P., Nychas, G.J.E., Panagou, E.Z., 2014. Biodiversity and ITS-RFLP characterisation of *Aspergillus Section Nigri* isolates in grapes from four traditional grape-producing areas in Greece. PLoS ONE 9(4): e93923
- Knox, B.P., Keller, N.P., 2015. Key players in the regulation of fungal secondary metabolism. In: Biosynthesis and Molecular Genetics of Fungal Secondary Metabolites, (Vol 2), ed. S Zeilinger, J-F Martin, C Garcia- Estrada, pp. 13–22. New York: Springer-Verlag.

- Kogkaki, E.A, Natskoulis, P.I, Panagou, E.Z., 2016. Modeling the effect of natamycin, pine-resin and environmental factors on the growth and OTA production by *A*. *carbonarius* using response surface methodology. Food Res. Int. 79, 19-28.
- Köppen, R., Koch, M., Siegel, D., 2010. Determination of mycotoxins in foods: current state of analytical methods and limitations. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 86, 1595-1612.
- Kőszegi, T., Poór, M., 2016. Ochratoxin A: molecular interactions, mechanisms of toxicity and prevention at the molecular level. Toxins 8, 111.
- Koteswara Rao, V., Girisham, S., Reddy, S.M. 2014. Influence of different species of *Penicillium* and their culture filtrates on seed germination and seedling growth of sorghum. J. Biochem. Technol. 5, 832–837.
- Kubista, M., Sindelka, R., Tichopad, A., Bergkvist, A., Lindh, D., Forootan, A., 2007.547 The prime technique. Real-time PCR data analysis. G.I.T. Lab. J. 9-10, 33-35.548 URL:
- Lanza, B., Di Serio, M.G., 2015. SEM characterization of olive (*Olea europaea* L.) fruit epicuticular waxes and epicarp. Scientia Hort. 191, 49-56.
- Lappa, I.K., Kizis, D., Natskoulis, P., Panagou, E.Z., 2015a. Comparative studies of growth responses and screening of inter-specific OTA production kinetics by *Aspergillus carbonarius* isolated from grapes. Front. Microbiol. 6:502.
- Lappa, I.K., Simini, E., Nychas, G.J., Panagou, E.Z. 2015b. Eugenia cariophyllus essential oil against Aspergillus carbonarius and Ochratoxin A production in a gene expression study. 29th EFFoST International Conference Proceedings, Athens, Greece, pp. 1183.
- Lappa, I.K., Simini, E., Panagou, E.Z., 2017a. In vitro evaluation of essential oils against *Aspergillus carbonarius* isolates and their effects on Ochratoxin A related gene expression in synthetic grape medium. Food Control 73, 71–80.
- Lappa, I.K., Kizis, D., Panagou, E.Z., 2017b. Monitoring the temporal expression of genes involved in Ochratoxin A production of *Aspergillus carbonarius* under the influence of temperature and water activity. Toxins 9, 296.

- Lasram, S., Oueslati, S., MLiki, A., Ghorbel, A., Silar, P., Chebil, S., 2012. Ochratoxin A and ochratoxigenic black *Aspergillus* species in Tunisian grapes cultivated in different geographic areas. Food Control 25, 75-80.
- Lavermicocca, P., Valerio, F., Evidente, A., Lazzaroni, S., Corsetti, A., Gobbetti, M., 2000. Purification and characterization of novel antifungal compounds from sourdough *Lactobacillus platarum* strain 21B. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 66, 4084– 4090.
- Lazzaro, I., Susca, A., Mulè, G., Ritieni, A., Ferracane, R., Marocco, A., 2012. Effects of temperature and water activity on FUM2 and FUM21 gene expression and fumonisin B1 production in *Fusarium verticillioides*. Eur. J. Plant Pathol. 134, 685– 695.
- Lee, M., Seo, D.J., Jeon, S.B., Ok, H.E., Jung, H., Choi, C., Chun, H.S. 2016. Detection of foodborne pathogens and mycotoxins in eggs and chicken feeds from farms to retail markets. Korean J. Food Sci. 36, 463–468.
- Leong, S.L., Hocking, A.D. Scott, E.S. 2006a. Survival and growth of *Aspergillus carbonarius* on wine grapes before harvest. Int. J.Food Microbiol. 111, 83-S87.
- Leong, S.L., Hocking, A.D. Scott, E.S., 2006b. Effect of temperature and water activity on growth and ochratoxin A production by Australian *Aspergillus carbonarius* and *A. niger* isolates on a simulated grape juice medium. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 110, 209-216.
- Leong, S.L., Hocking, A.D., Scott E.S., 2007. Aspergillus species producing ochratoxin A: Isolation from vineyard soils and infection of Semillon bunches in Australia. J. Appl. Microbiol. 102, 124-133
- Leyva Salas, M., Mounier, J., Valence, F., Coton, M., Thierry, A., Coton, E. 2017. Antifungal microbial agents for food biopreservation - A Review. Microorganisms 5, 37.
- Li, G., Reinberg, D., 2011. Chromatin higher-order structures and gene regulation. Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev. 21, 175–86.

- Li, H., Gong, H., Qi, Y., Li, J., Ji, X., Sun, J., Liu, G., 2017. *In vitro* and *in vivo* antifungal activities and mechanism of heteropolytungstates against *Candida* species. Sci. Rep. 7, 16942.
- Liang, D., Xing, F., Selvaraj, J.N., Liu, X., Wang, L., Hua, H., Zhou, L., Zhao, Y., Wang, Y., Liu, Y., 2015. Inhibitory effect of cinnamaldehyde, citral and eugenol on aflatoxigenic biosynthetic gene expression and Aflatoxin B₁, biosynthesis in *Aspergillus flavus*. J. Food Sci. 80, M2917-M2924.
- Lichter, A. Zutkhy, Y. Sonego, L. Dvir, O. Kaplunov, T. Sarig, P., 2002. Ethanol controls postharvest decay of table grapes. Postharvest Biol. Technol. 24, 301-308.
- Limay-Rios, V., Miller, J.D., Schaafsma, A.W., 2017. Occurrence of *Penicillium verrucosum*, ochratoxin A, ochratoxin B and citrinin in on-farm stored winter wheat from the Canadian Great Lakes Region. PLoS ONE, 12(7), e0181239.
- Linde, T., Zoglowek, M., Lubeck, M., Frisvad, J.C., Lubeck, P.S., 2016. The global regulator *LaeA* controls production of citric acid and endoglucanases in *Aspergillus carbonarius*. J. Int. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 43, 1139-1147.
- Lipińska, L., Klewicki, R., Klewicka, E., Kołodziejczyk, K., Sójka, M., Nowak, A., 2016. Antifungal activity of *Lactobacillus* sp. bacteria in the presence of xylitol and galactosyl-xylitol. Biomed. Res. Int. Article ID 5897486, 8 pages.
- Liu, X., Guan, X., Xing, F., Lv, C., Dai, X., Liu, Y., 2017. Effect of water activity and temperature on the growth of *Aspergillus flavus*, the expression of aflatoxin biosynthetic genes and aflatoxin production in shelled peanuts. Food Control 82, 325-332.
- Luz, C., Saladino, F., Luciano, F.B., Mañes, J., Meca, G., 2017. In vitro antifungal activity of bioactive peptides produced by Lactobacillus plantarum against Aspergillus parasiticus and Penicillium expansum. Food Sci. Technol. 81, 128-135.
- Magan, N., Aldred, D., 2007. Post-harvest control strategies: Minimizing mycotoxins in the food chain. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 119, 131-139.
- Magan, N., Medina, A., 2016. Integrating gene expression, ecology and mycotoxin production by *Fusarium* and *Aspergillus* species in relation to interacting environmental factors. World Mycotoxin J. 9, 673–684.

- Magnoli, C., Astoreca, A., Ponsone, L., Combina, M., Palacio, G., Rosa, C.A. Dalcero AM., 2004. Survey of mycoflora and ochratoxin A in dried vine fruits from Argentina markets. Lett. Appl. Microbiol. 39, 326-331.
- Marin, A., Cháfer, M., Atarés, L., Chiralt, A., Torres, R., Usall, J., Teixidó, N., 2016. Effect of different coating-forming agents on the efficacy of the biocontrol agent *Candida sake* CPA-1 for control of *Botrytis cinerea* on grapes. Biol. Control 96, 108-119.
- Marin, S., Ramos, A.J., Sanchis, V., 2005. Comparison of methods for the assessment of growth of food spoilage moulds in solid substrates. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 99, 329– 341.
- Marín, S., Bellí, N., Lasram, S., Chebil, S., Ramos, A.J., Ghorbel, A., Sanchis, V., 2006. Kinetics of ochratoxin A production and accumulation by *Aspergillus carbonarius* on synthetic grape medium at different temperature levels. J. Food Sci. 71, 196–200.
- Marino, A., Fiorentino, C., Spataro, F., Nostro, A., 2014. Effect of temperature on production of Ochratoxin A by *Aspergillus niger* in orange juice. Toxins, Article ID 947806, 5 pages.
- Martín, H., Rodríguez-Pachón., J.M., Ruiz, C., Nombela, C., Molina, M., 2000. Regulatory mechanisms for modulation of signaling through the cell integrity Slt2mediated pathway in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 1511-15119.
- Mata, A.T., Ferreira, J.P., Oliveira, B.R., Batoréu, M.C., Barreto Crespo, M.T., Pereira, V.J., Bronze, M.R., 2015. Bottled water: Analysis of mycotoxins by LC–MS/MS. Food Chem. 176, 455-464.
- Mateo, F., Gadea, R., Medina, A., Mateo, R., Jimenez, M., 2009. The effects of different ecophysiological factors on ochratoxin A production predictive assessment of ochratoxin A accumulation in grape juice based-medium by *Aspergillus carbonarius* using neural networks. J. Appl. Microbiol. 107, 915–927.
- Mateo, R., Medina, A., Mateo, E.M., Mateo, F., Jimenez, M., 2007. An overview of ochratoxin A in beer and wine. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 119, 79-83.

- Medina, A., Jiménez, M., Mateo, R., Magan, N., 2007a. Efficacy of natamycin for control of growth and ochratoxin A production by *Aspergillus carbonarius* strains under different environmental conditions. J. Appl. Microbiol. 103, 2234-2239.
- Medina, A., Mateo, R., Valle-Algarra, F.M., Mateo, E.M., Jiménez, M., 2007b. Effect of carbendazim and physicochemical factors on the growth and ochratoxin A production of *Aspergillus carbonarius* isolated from grapes. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 119, 230-235.
- Medina, A., Schmidt-Heydt, M., Cárdenas-Chávez, D.L., Parra, R., Geisen, R., Magan, N., 2013. Integrating toxin gene expression, growth and fumonisin B1 and B2 production by a strain of *Fusarium verticillioides* under different environmental factors. J. Royal Soc. Interface 10, 1–12.
- Medina, A., Rodriguez, A., Magan, N., 2014. Effect of climate change on *Aspergillus flavus* and aflatoxin B1 production. Front. Microbiol. 5, 348.
- Medina, A., Mohale, S., Samsudin, N.I.P, Rodriguez-Sixtos, A., Rodriguez, A., Magan, N., 2017a. Biocontrol of mycotoxins: dynamics and mechanisms of action. Curr. Opin. Food Sci. 17, 41-48.
- Medina, A., Gilbert, M.K., Mack, B.M., GR, O.B., Rodriguez, A., Bhatnagar, D., Payne, G., Magan, N., 2017b. Interactions between water activity and temperature on the *Aspergillus flavus* transcriptome and aflatoxin B1 production. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 256, 36–44.
- Meletis K., Meniades-Meimaroglou S., Markaki P., 2007. Determination of ochratoxin A in grapes of Greek origin by immunoaffinity and high-performance liquid chromatography. Food Addit. Contam, 11, 1275–82.
- Meletis, K., Meniades-Meimaroglou, S., Markaki, P., 2007. Determination of ochratoxin A in grapes of Greek origin by immunoaffinity and high-performance liquid chromatography. Food Addit. Contam. 24, 1275-1282.
- Mitchell, D., Aldred, D., Magan, N., 2003. Impact of ecological factors on the growth and ochratoxin A production by *Aspergillus carbonarius* from different regions of Europe. Asp. Appl. Biol. 68, 109–116.

- Mitchell, D., Parra, R., Aldred, D., Magan, N., 2004. Water and temperature relations of growth and ochratoxin A production by *Aspergillus carbonarius* strains from grapes in Europe and Israel. J. Appl. Microbiol. 97, 439–445.
- Mohammadreza, K., Neda, K., 2011. The effects of different ecophysiological factors on ochratoxin A production. Environ. Toxicol. Pharm. 32, 113–121.
- Mossini, S.A., de Oliveira, K.P., Kemmelmeier, C., 2004. Inhibition of patulin production by *Penicillium expansum* cultured with neem (*Azadirachta indica*) leaf extracts. J. Basic Microbiol. 44, 106-113.
- Moussa, T.A.A., Almaghrabi, O.A., Abdel-Moneim, T.S. 2013. Biological control of the wheat root rot caused by *Fusarium graminearum* using some PGPR strains in Saudi Arabia. Ann. Appl. Biol. 163, 72–81.
- Müller, H.M., 1982. Decontamination of mycotoxins. I. Physical process. Ubersicht. Tierernähr. 10, 95–122.
- Nally, M.C., Pesce, V.M., Maturano, Y.P., Muñoz C.J., Combina, M., Toro, M.E., Castellanos de Figueroa L.I., Vazquez, F., 2012. Biocontrol of Botrytis cinerea in table grapes by non-pathogenic indigenous *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* yeasts isolated from viticultural environments in Argentina. Postharvest Biol. Technol. 64, 40-48.
- Nally, M.C., Pesce, V.M., Maturano, Y.P., Toro, M.E., Combina, M., Castellanos de Figueroa L.I., Vazquez, F., 2013. Biocontrol of fungi isolated from sour rot infected table grapes by *Saccharomyces* and other yeast species. Postharvest Biol. Technol. 64, 456-462.
- Nazzaro, F., Fratianni, F., Coppola, R., de Feo, V., 2017. Essential oils and antifungal activity. Pharmaceuticals10, 86.
- Netzker, T., Fischer, J., Weber, J., Mattern, D.J., König, C.C., Valiante. V., Schroeckh. V., Brakhage, A.A. 2015 Microbial communication leading to the activation of silent fungal secondary metabolite gene clusters. Front. Microbiol. 6, 299.
- Nguyen, H.D., Mc Mullin, D.R., Ponomareva, E., Riley, R., Pomraning, K.R., Baker, S.E, Seifert, K.A., 2016. Ochratoxin A production by *Penicillium thymicola*. Fungal Biol. 120, 1041-1049.

- Nikkhah, M., Hashemi, M., Habibi Najafi, M.B.H, Reza Farhoosh, R., 2017. Synergistic effects of some essential oils against fungal spoilage on pear fruit. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 257, 285-294.
- O'Callaghan, J., Coghlan, A., Abbas, A., Garcia-Estrada, C., Martin, J.F., 2013. Dobson ADW: Functional characterization of the polyketide synthase gene required for ochratoxin A biosynthesis in *Penicillium verrucosum*. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 161, 172-181.
- Omidbeygi, M., Barzegar, M., Hamidi Z., Naghdibadi, H., 2007. Antifungal activity of thyme, summer savory and clove essential oils against *Aspergillus flavus* in liquid medium and tomato paste. Food Control 18, 1518-1523.
- Palumbo, J.D., O'Keeffe, T.L., Mahoney, N.E., 2007. Inhibition of Ochratoxin A production and growth of *Aspergillus species* by phenolic antioxidant compounds. Mycopathologia 164, 241-248.
- Pandey, A.K., Kumar, P., Singh, P., Tripathi, N.N., Bajpai, V.K. 2016. Essential oils: sources of antimicrobials and food preservatives. Front. Microbiol. 7, 2161.
- Paranagama, P.A., Abeysekera, K.H.T., Abeywickrama, K., Nugaliyadde, L., 2003.
 Fungicidal anti-aflatoxigenix effects of the essential oil of *Cymbopogon citrates* (DC.) Stapf. (lemongrass) against *Aspergillus flavus* isolated from stored rice. J. Appl. Microbiol. 37, 86-90.
- Pardo, E., Marín, S., Sanchis, V., Ramos, A.J., 2004. Impact of relative humidity and temperature on visible fungal growth and OTA production of ochratoxigenic Aspergillus ochraceus isolates on grapes. Food Microbiol. 22, 383–389.
- Pardo, E., Sanchis, V., Ramos, A.J., Marín, S., 2006. Non-specificity of nutritional substrate for ochratoxin A production by isolates of *Aspergillus ochraceus*. Food Microbiol. 23, 351–358.
- Parveen, M., Hassan, K., Tkahashi, J., Murata, Y., Kitagawa, E., Kodama, O., Iwahas, H., 2004. Response of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* to monoterpene: evaluation of antifungal potential by DNA microarray analysis. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 54, 46-55.

- Passamani, F.R.F., Hernandes, T., Lopes, N.A., Bastos, S.C., Santiago, W.D., Cardoso, M., Das, G., Roberto, L., 2014. Effect of temperature, water activity, and pH on growth and production of Ochratoxin A by *Aspergillus niger* and *Aspergillus carbonarius* from Brazilian grapes. J. Food Prot. 77, 1947–52.
- Passanen, A.L., Yli-Pietila, K., Passanen, P., Kalliokoski, P., Tarhanen, J., 1999. Ergosterol content in various fungal species and biocontaminated building materials. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 65, 138–142.
- Passone, M.A., Giardi, N.S., Etcheverry, M., 2012. Evaluation of the control ability of five essential oils against *Aspergillus* section *Nigri* growth and ochratoxin A accumulation in peanut meal extract agar conditioned at different water activities level. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 159, 198-206.
- Pateraki, M., Lydakis, D., Magan, N., 2007. Population dynamics of A. carbonarius and ochratoxin A during drying of vine fruits in Crete. Poster 1323 presented at XII International IUPAC Symposium on Mycotoxins and Phycotoxins, May 21–25, Istanbul.
- Pavlovic, M., Plestina, R., Krogh, P., 1979. Ochratoxin A contamination of foodstuffs in an area with Balkan (endemic) nephropathy. Acta Pathol. Microbiol. Scand. B. 87, 243–246.
- Pawar, V.C., Thaker, V.S., 2006. *In vitro* efficacy of 75 essential oils against *Aspergillus niger*. Mycoses 49, 316-323.
- Peltonen, K., El-Nezami, H. Haskard, C., Ahokas, J., Salminen, S., 2001. Aflatoxin B1 binding by dairy strains of lactic acid bacteria and bifidobacteria, J. Dairy Sci. 84, 2152-2156.
- Pereira, M.C., Chalfoun, S.M., Pimenta, C.J., Angelico, C.L., Maciel W.P., 2006. Spices, fungi mucelial development and Ochratoxin A production. Sci. Res. Essays 1, 38-42.
- Peromingo, B., Rodríguez, A., Bernáldez, V., Delgado, J., Rodríguez, M., 2016. Effect of temperature and water activity on growth and aflatoxin production by *Aspergillus flavus* and *Aspergillus parasiticus* on cured meat model systems. Meat Sci. 122, 76-83.

- Peromingo, B., Núñez, F., Rodríguez, A., Alía, A., Andrade, M.J., 2018. Potential of yeasts isolated from dry-cured ham to control ochratoxin A production in meat models. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 268, 73-80.
- Perrone, G., Mule, G., Susca, A., Battilani, P., Pietri, A., Logrieco, A., 2006. Ochratoxin A production and amplified fragment length polymorphism analysis of *Aspergillus carbonarius*, *Aspergillus tubingensis*, and *Aspergillus niger* strains isolated from grapes in Italy. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 72, 680-685.
- Perrone, G., De Girolamo, A., Sarigiannis, Y., Haidukowski, M.E., Visconti, A., 2013. Occurrence of ochratoxin A, fumonisin B2 and black aspergilli in raisins from Western Greece regions in relation to environmental and geographical factors. Food Addit. Contam. 30, 1339–1347.
- Petkova-Bocharova, T., Castegnaro, M., Pfohl-Leszkowicz, A., Garren, L., Grosso, F., Nikolov, I., Vrabcheva, T., Dragacci, S., Chernozemsky, I.N., 2003. Analysis of ochratoxin A in serum and urine of inhabitants from an area with Balkan endemic nephropathy: a one month follow up study. Facta Univ. 10, 62–68.
- Pfaffl, M.W., 2001. A new mathematical model for relative quantification in real-time RT-PCR. Nucleic Acids Res. 29, 2002-2007.
- Pfaffl, M.W., 2002. Chapter 3: A-Z of quantitative PCR. Publication S.A. Bustin. International University Line, La jolla, CA.
- Pfaffl, M.W., 2004. Chapter 3: Quantification strategies in real-time PCR. In: Bustin SA (ed) A-Z of quantitative PCR. International University Line (IUL), La Jolla, CA, USA, 89-113.
- Pietri, A., Bertuzzi, T., Pallaroni, L., Piva, G., 2001. Occurrence of ochratoxin A in Italian wines. Food Addit. Contam. 18, 647–654.
- Piotrowska, M., Żakowska, Z., 2000. The biodegradation of ochratoxin A in food products by lactic acid bacteria and baker's yeast. Biotechnol. Prog. 17, 307-310.
- Pitt, R.E., 1993. A descriptive model of mold growth and aflatoxin formation as affected by invironmental conditions. J. Food Prot. 2, 139–146.

- Pizzolitto, R.P., Salvano, M.A., Dalcero, A.M., 2012. Analysis of fumonisin B1 removal by microorganisms in co-occurrence with aflatoxin B1 and the nature of the binding process, Int. J. Food Microbiol, 156, 214-221.
- Ponsone, M.L., Chiotta, M.L., Combina, M., Dalcero, A., Chulze, S., 2011. Biocontrol as a strategy to reduce the impact of ochratoxin A and *Aspergillus section Nigri* in grapes. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 151, 70-77.
- Ponsone, M. L., Chiotta, M. L., Palazzini, J. M., Combina, M., Chulze, S., 2012. Control of ochratoxin A production in grapes. Toxins 4, 364–372.
- Ponsone, M.L., Kuhn, Y.G., Schmidt-Heydt, M., Geisen, R., Chulze, S.N., 2013. Effect of *Kluyveromyces thermotolerans* on polyketide syntahase gene expression an ochratoxin accumulation by *Penicillium* and *Aspergillus*. World Mycotox J. 6, 291– 297.
- Ponsone, M.L., Nally, M.C., Chiotta, M.L., Combina, M., Köhl, J., Chulze, S.N., 2016. Evaluation of the effectiveness of potential biocontrol yeasts against black sur rot and ochratoxin A occurring under greenhouse and field grape production conditions, Biol. Control 103, 78-85.
- Prakash, B., Shukla, R., Shingh, P., Kumar, A., Mishra, P.K., Dubey, N.K., 2010. Efficacy of chemically characterized *Piper betle* L. essential oil against fungal and aflatoxin contamination of some edible commodities and its antioxidant activity. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 142, 114-119.
- Prakash, B., Singh P., Yadav, S., Singh, S.C., Dubey, N.K., 2013. Safety profile assessment and efficacy of chemically characterized *Cinnamomum glaucescens* essential oil against storage fungi, insect, aflatoxin secretion and as antioxidant. Food Chem. Toxicol. 53, 160–167.
- Prusky D., 2011. Reduction of the incidence of postharvest quality losses, and future prospects. Food Secur. 3, 463-474.
- Pusztahelyi, T., Holb, I. J., Pócsi, I. 2015. Secondary metabolites in fungus-plant interactions. Front. Plant Sci. 6, 573.

- Ramos, A.J., Magan, N., Sanchis, V., 1999. Osmotic and matrix potential effects on growth, sclerotia and partitioning of polyolsand sugars in colonies and spores of *Aspergillus ochraceus*. Mycoogy 103, 141–147.
- Ringnér, M., 2008. What is principal component analysis? Nat. Biotechnol. 26, 303–304.
- Rodríguez-Gomez, F., Romero-Gil, V., Bautista-Gallego, J., Garrido-Fernández, A., Arroyo-López, F.N., 2012. Multivariate analysis to discriminate yeast strains with technological applications in table olive processing. World J. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 28, 1761–1770.
- Rodríguez, A., Medina, A., Córdoba, J.J., Magan, N., 2014. The influence of salt (NaCl) on ochratoxin A biosynthetic genes, growth and ochratoxin A production by three strains of *Penicillium nordicum* on a dry-cured ham-based medium. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 178, 113-119.
- Rocha, L.O., Barroso, V.M., Andrade, L.J., Pereira, G.H.A., Ferreira-Castro, F.L., Duarte, A.P., Correa, B., 2015. FUM gene expression profile and fumonisin production by *Fusarium verticillioides* inoculated in Bt and non-Bt maize. Front. Microbiol. 6, 1503.
- Romero, S.M., Comerio, R.M., Larumbe, G., Ritieni, A., Vaamonde, G., Fernández Pinto, V., 2005. Toxigenic fungi isolated from dried vine fruits in Argentina. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 104, 43–49.
- Romero, S., Alberto, M.R., Vaamonde, G., 2010. Effect of gallic acid on *Aspergillus parasiticus* growth and Ochratoxin A production. World Mycotoxin J. 3, 45-48.
- Rooney-Latham, S., Janousek, C.N., Eskalen, A., Gubler, W.D., 2008. First report of *Aspergillus carbonarius* causing sour rot of table grapes (*Vitis vinifera*) in California. Plant Dis. 92, 651.
- Rosari, R., Arzouyan, C., Estienne, J., 2000. Donné esrecente sur la contamination des vins en France par l'ochratoxine A. Annales des Falsifications et de l'expertise Chimique 93, 401–408.

- Russo, P., Arena, MP., Fiocco, D., Capozzi, V., Drider, D., Spano, G., 2017. *Lactobacillus plantarum* with broad antifungal activity: A promising approach to increase safety and shelf-life of cereal-based products. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 247, 48-54.
- Saladino, F., Luz, C., Manyes, L., Fernández-Franzón, M., Meca, G., 2016. *In vitro* antifungal activity of lactic acid bacteria against mycotoxigenic fungi and their application in loaf bread shelf life improvement. Food Control 67, 273-277.
- Samsudin, N.I.P., Magan, N., 2016. Efficacy of potential biocontrol agents for control of *Fusarium verticillioides* and fumonisin B1 under different environmental conditions.
 World Mycotoxin J. 9, 205–213.
- Samsudin, N.I.P., Rodriguez, A., Medina, A., Magan, N., 2017. Efficacy of fungal and bacterial antagonists for controlling growth, FUM1 gene expression and fumonisin B1 production by *Fusarium verticillioides* on maize cobs of different ripening stages. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 246, 72-79.
- Sangmanee, P., Hongpattarakere, T., 2014. Inhibitory of multiple antifungal components produced by *Lactobacillus plantarum* K35 on growth, aflatoxin production and ultrastructure alterations of *Aspergillus flavus* and *Aspergillus parasiticus*. Food Control 40, 224-233.
- Santos, L., Kasper, R., Gil-Serna, J., Marin, S., Sanchis, V., Ramos, A.J., 2010. Effect of *Capsicum caroteinoids* on growth and Ochratoxin A production by chilli and paprika *Aspergillus* spp. isolates. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 142, 354-359.
- Schmidt-Heydt, M., Baxter, E., Geisen, R., Magan, N., 2007. Physiological relationship between food preservatives, environmental factors, ochratoxin and *otapksPV* gene expression by *Penicillium verrucosum*. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 119, 277-283.
- Schmidt-Heydt, M., Graf, E., Stoll, D., Geisen, R., 2012. The biosynthesis of ochratoxin A by *Penicillium* as one mechanism for adaptation to NaCl rich foods. Food Microbiol. 29, 233-241.
- Schmittgen, T.D., Livak, K.J., 2008. Analyzing real-time PCR data by the comparative CT method. Nat. Protoc. 3, 1101–1108.

- Sharma, N., Tripathi, A. 2006. Effects of Citrus cinensis (L.) Osbeckepecarp essential oil on growth and morphogenesis of Aspergillus niger (L.) Van Tieghem, 2006. J. Microbiol. Res. 163, 337-334.
- Shim, W-B., Ha, K-S., Kim, M-G., Jeong-Sook Kim, J-S., Duck-Hwa Chung. D-H., 2014. Evaluation of the transfer rate of ochratoxin A to decoctions of herbal medicines. Food Sci. Biotechnol. 23, 2103.
- Singh, P., Shukla, R., Kumar, A., Prakash, B., Singh, S., Dubey, N.K., 2010. Effect of Citrus reticulate and *Cymbopogon citrates* essential oils on *Aspergillus flavus* growth and aflatoxin production on *Asparagus rasemosus*. Mycopathologia 170, 195-202.
- Soares, C., Moreles, H., Faria J., Figueiredo, A.C., Pedro, L.G., Venacio, A., 2016. Inhibitory effect of essential oils on growth and on aflatoxins production by *Aspergillus parasiticus*. World Mycotoxin J. 9, 525-534.
- Solfrizzo, M., Piemontese, L., Gambacorta, L., Zivoli, R., Longobardi. F., 2015. Food Coloring Agents and Plant Food Supplements Derived from Vitis vinifera: A New Source of Human Exposure to Ochratoxin A. J. Agric. Food Chem. 63, 3609-3614.
- Soliman, K.M., Badeaa, R.I., 2002. Effect of oil extracted from some medical plants on different mycotoxigenic fungi. Food Chem. Toxicol. 40, 1669-1675.
- Sonenberg, N., Hinnebusch, A.G., 2009. Regulation of translation initiation in eukaryotes: mechanisms and biological targets. Cell 136, 731–745.
- Sonker, N., Pandey, K.A., Singh, P., 2016. Strategies to control post-harvest diseases of table grape: a review. J. Wine Res. 27, 105-122.
- Spadaro, D., Patharjani, S., Lore, A., Gullino, M.L., Garibaldi, A., 2010. Effect of pH, water activity and temperature on the growth and accumulation of ochratoxin A produced by three strains of *Aspergillus carbonarius* isolated f 361 from Italian vineyards. Phytopathol. Mediterr. 49, 65–73.
- Stefanaki, I., Foufa, E., Tsatsou-Dritsa, A., Dais, P., 2003. Ochratoxin A concentrations in Greek domestic wines and dried vine fruits. Food Addit. Contam. 20, 74–83.
- Stepien, M., Sokol, Leszczynska, B., Luczak, M., 2007. Mycotoxins, food products and human health. Postepy Mikrobiol. 46, 167-177.

- Stratakou, I., van der Fels-Klerx, H.J., 2010. Mycotoxins in grapes and wine in Europe: occurrence, factors affecting the occurrence and related toxicological effects. World Mycotoxin J. 3, 283–300.
- Sumalan, R.M., Alexa, E., Poiana, M.A. 2013. Assessment of inhibitory potential of essential oils on natural mycoflora and *Fusarium* mycotoxins production in wheat. Chem. Cent. J. 7, 7-32.
- Taniwaki, M.H., Pitt, J.I Hocking, A.D., Fleet, G.H., 2006. Comparison of hyphal length, ergosterol, mycelium dry weight and colony diameter for quantifying growth of fungi from foods. In: Hocking, A.D., Pitt, J.I., Samson, R.A., Thrane, U. (Eds.), Advances In Food Mycology. Spinger, New York, pp. 49–67.
- Tannous, J., Atoui, A., El Khoury, A., Francis, Z., Oswald, I. P., Puel, O., Lteif, R. 2016. A study on the physicochemical parameters for *Penicillium expansum* growth and patulin production: effect of temperature, pH, and water activity. Food Sci. Nutr. 4, 611–622.
- Tassou, C.C., Natskoulis, P.I., Panagou, E.Z., Spyropoulos, A.E., Magan, N., 2007. Impact of water activity and temperature on growth and ochratoxin A production of two *Aspergillus carbonarius* isolates from wine grapes in Greece. J. Food Prot. 70, 2884–2888.
- Tassou, C.C., Natskoulis P.I., Magan, N., Panagou, E.Z., 2009. Effect of temperature and water activity on growth and ochratoxin A production boundaries of two *Aspergillus carbonarius* isolates on a simulated grape juice medium. J. Appl. Microbiol. 107, 257–268.
- Tian, J., Huang, B., Luo X., Zeng, H., Ban, X., He, J., Wang Y., 2012. The control of *Aspergillus flavus* with *Cinnamomum jensenianum* Hand.-Mazz essential oil and its potential use as a food preservative. Food Chem.130, 520-527.
- Tjamos, S.E., Antoniou, P.P., Kazatzidou, A., Antonopoulos, D.F., Papageorgiou, I., Tjamos, E.C., 2004. Aspergillus niger and Aspergillus carbonarius in Corinth raisin and wine-producing vineyards in Greece: Popoulation composition, Ochratoxin A production and chemical control. J. Phytopathol. 152, 250-255.

Tjamos, S.E., Antoniou, P.P, Tjamos, E.C., 2006. *Aspergillus* spp., distribution, population composition an ochratoxin A production in wine producing vineyards in Greece. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 111, 61–66.

- Tolouee, M., Alinezhad, S., Saberi, R., Eslamifar, A., Javad Zad, S., Jaimand, K., Taeb, J., Rezaee, M.B., Kawachi, M., 2010. Effect of *Matricaria chamomilla* L. flower essential oil on growth and ultrastructure of *Aspergillus niger van Tieghem*. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 68, 1561-1568.
- Tryfinopoulou, P., Kizis, D., Nychas G.-J.E., Panagou E.Z., 2015. Quantification of Aspergillus carbonarius in grapes using a real time PCR assay. Food Microbiol. 51, 139-143.
- Tsitsigiannis, D.I., Dimakopoulou, M., Antoniou, P.P., Tjamos, E.C., 2012. Biological control strategies of mycotoxigenic fungi and associated mycotoxins in Mediterranean basin crops. Phytopathol. Mediterr. 51, 158–174.
- Tzortzakis, N.G., Economakis, C.D., 2007. Antifungal activity of lemongrass (*Cympogon citrates* L.) essential oil against key harvest pathogens. Innov. Food Sci. Emerg. Technol. 8, 253-258.
- Tzortzakis, N.G., 2009. Impact of cinnamon oil enrichment on microbial spoilage of fresh produce. Innov. Food Sci. Emerg. Technol. 10, 97-102.
- USDA, 2017. Fresh Deciduous Fruit Annual 2017. Gain Report Number IT1766. https://www.fas.usda.gov/data/greece-fresh-deciduous-fruit-annual-2017.
- V. del Prete, H., Rodriguez, A.V., Carrascosa, B., de las Rivas, B., Garcia-Moruno, E., Munoz, R., 2007. *In vitro* removal of ochratoxin A by wine lactic acid bacteria. J. Food Prot. 70, 2155-2160.
- Valero A., Farré J.C., Sanchis V., Ramos A.J., Marín S., 2006a. Effects of fungal interaction on ochratoxin A production by *A. carbonarius* at different temperatures and a_w. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 110, 160–164.
- Valero A., Farré J.C., Sanchis V., Ramos A.J., Marín S., 2006b. Kinetics and spatial distribution of OTA in *Aspergillus carbonarius* cultures. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 23, 753–756.

- Valero, A., Marín, S., Ramos, A.J., Sanchis, V., 2007. Effect of preharvest fungicides and interacting fungi on *Aspergillus carbonarius* growth and ochratoxin A synthesis in dehydrating grapes. Lett. Appl. Microbiol. 45, 194-199.
- Venkatesh, S., Workman, J.L., 2015. Histone exchange, chromatin structure and the regulation of transcription. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell. Biol. 16, 178–89.
- Verheecke, C., Liboz, T., Anson, P., Diaz, R., Mathieu, F., 2015. Reduction of aflatoxin production by Aspergillus flavus and Aspergillus parasiticus in interaction with Streptomyces. Microbiol. 161, 967–972.
- Vinderola, G., Ritieni, A., 2014. Role of probiotics against mycotoxins and their deleterious effects. J. Food Res. 4, 10.
- Vipotnik, Z., Rodríguez, A., Rodrigues, P., 2017. Aspergillus westerdijkiae as a major ochratoxin A risk in dry-cured ham based-media. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 241, 244-251.
- Visconti, A., Perrone, G., Cozzi, G., Solfrizzo, M., 2008. Managing ochratoxin A risk in the grape-wine food chain. Food Addit. Contam. 25, 193–202.
- Viuda-Martos, M., Ruiz-Navajas, Y., Fernández-López, J., Pérez-Álvarez, J., 2008. Antifungal activity of lemon (*Citrus lemon L.*), mandarin (*Citrus reticulate L.*), grapefruit (*Citrus paradis L.*) and orange (*Citrus sinensis L.*) essential oils. Food Control 19, 1130-1138.
- Vrabecheva, T., Petkova-Bozharova, T., Grosso, F., Nikolov, I., Chernozemsky. I.N., Castegnarv, M., Dragacci, S., 2004. Analysis of Ochratoxin A in foods consumed by inhabitants from an area with Balkhan Endemic Nephropathy: A 1 month follow up study. J. Agric. Food Chem. 52, 2404–2410.
- Walsh, S.E., Maillard, J.Y., Russell, A.D., Catrenich, C.E., Charbonneau, D.L., Bartolo, R.G. 2003. Activity and mechanisms of action of selected biocidal agents on Grampositive and –negative bacteria. J. Appl. Microbiol. 94, 240-247.
- Wang, H., Yan, Y., Wang. J., Zhang, H., Qi, W., 2012. Production and characterization of antifungal compounds produced by *Lactobacillus plantarum* IMAU10014. PLoS ONE 7(1): e29452.

- Wang, L., Wang, Y., Wang, Q., Liu, F., Selvaraj, J.N., Liu, L., Xing, F., Zhao, Y., Zhou, L., Liu, Y., 2015. Functional characterization of new polyketide synthase genes involved in ochratoxin A biosynthesis in *Aspergillus ochraceus* fc-1. Toxins 7, 2723-2738.
- Wiemann, P., Brown, D.W., Kleigrewe, K., Bok, J.W., Keller, N.P., 2010. FfVel1 and FfLae1, components of a velvet-like complex in *Fusarium fujikuroi*, affect differentiation, secondary metabolism and virulence. Mol. Microbiol. 77, 972–994
- Wiemann, P., Keller, N.P., 2014. Strategies for mining fungal natural products. J. Ind. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 41, 301–313.
- World Health Organization (WHO), 1990. Selected Mycotoxins: Ochratoxins, Trichothecenes, Ergot. Environ. Health Criteria, 105, 1–260.
- Wyatt, M.K., Parish, M.E., Widmer, W.W., Kimbrough, J., 1995. Characterization of mould growth in orange juice. Food Microbiol. 12, 347–355.
- Yaegashi, J., Oakley, B.R., Wang, C.C.C., 2014. Recent advances in genome mining of secondary metabolite biosynthetic gene clusters and the development of heterologous expression systems in *Aspergillus nidulans*. J. Ind. Microbiol. Biotechnol , 41, 433– 442.
- Yamamoto-Ribeiro, M.G., Grespan, R., Kohiyama, C.Y., Ferreira, D.C., Mossini, S.A., Silva, E.L., Filho, B.A., Graton Mikcha, J.M., Machinski, M.J., 2013. Effect of *Zingiber officinale* essential oil on *Fusarium verticillioides* and fumonisin production, Food Chem. 141, 3147-3152.
- Yin, W., Keller, N.P., 2011. Transcriptional regulatory elements in fungal secondary metabolism. J. Microbiol. 49, 329–339.
- Yogendrarajah, P., Vermeulen, A., Jacxsens, L., Mavromichali, E., De Saeger, S., De Meulenaer, B., Devlieghere, F., 2016. Mycotoxin production and predictive modelling kinetics on the growth of *Aspergillus flavus* and *Aspergillus parasiticus* isolates in whole black peppercorns (*Piper nigrum L*.). Int. J. Food Microbiol. 228, 44-57.
- Yu, J.H., Keller, N.P., 2005. Regulation of secondary metabolism in filamentous fungi. Annu. Rev. Phytopathol. 43, 437-458.

- Yu, J., Fedorova, N.D., Montalbano, B.G., Bhatnagar, D., Cleveland, T.E., Bennett, J.W., Nierman, W.C., 2011. Tight control of mycotoxin biosynthesis gene expression in *Aspergillus flavus* by temperature as revealed by RNA-Seq. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 322, 145–149.
- Zepnik, H., Völkel, W., Dekant, W., 2003. Toxicokinetics of the mycotoxin ochratoxin A in F 344 rats after oral administration. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 192, 36-44.
- Zhang, X., Li, Y., Wang, H., Gu, X., Zheng, X., Wang, Y., Diao, J., Peng, Y., Zhang. H., 2016. Screening and identification of novel ochratoxin A-producing fungi from grapes. Toxins 8, 333.
- Zheng, X., Yang, Q., Zhang, X., Apaliya, M. T., Ianiri, G., Zhang, H., Castoria, R., 2017. Biocontrol agents increase the specific rate of patulin production by *Penicillium expansum* but decrease the disease and total patulin contamination of apples. Front. Microbiol. 8, 1240.
- Zhu, R.Y., Yu, T., Gu, S.H., Hu, H., Zheng, X.D., Karlovsky, P., 2015. Effect of the yeast *Rhodosporidium paludigenum* on postharvest decay and patulin accumulation in apples and pears. J. Food Prot. 78, 157–163.
- Zimmerli, B., Dick, R., 1995. Determination of ochratoxin A at the ppt level in human blood, serum, milk and some foodstuffs by HPLC with enhanced fluorescence detection and immunoaffinity column clean-up methodology and Swiss data. J. Chromatogr. B 666, 85–99.
- Zoffoli, J.P., Latorre, B.A., Naranjo, P., 2008. Hairline, a postharvest cracking disorder in table grapes induced by sulfur dioxide. Postharvest Biol. Technol. 47, 90-97.
- Zong, Y., Li, Bo., Tian,S., 2015. Effects of carbon, nitrogen and ambient pH on patulin production and related gene expression in *Penicillium expansum*, Int. J. Food Microbiol. 206, 102-108.

Zwietering, M.H., Jongengurger, I., Rombouts, F.M., Riet, K. Van't, 1990. Modeling of the bacterial growth curve. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 56, 1875–1881.

https://genome.jgi.doe.gov/Aspca3/Aspca3.home.html

Acknowledgements

This study was carried out at the Department of Food Science and Human Nutrition in the Laboratory of Food Microbiology and Biotechnology.

First of all, I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my supervisor Associate Professor Efstathios Panagou for giving me the opportunity to be involved in research, developing my scientific skills and practice new thoughts. His endless support all these years has been invaluable to me.

I am deeply thankful to Professor Dimitrios Tsitsigiannis, for his so kind and generous help, for the pleasure conversations and for all the advices during this PhD thesis. I would also like to take the opportunity and express my profound gratitude to Professor Effie Tsakalidou. Her guidance and constructive critisism on this research along with her support many years now has been most valuable. My sincere aknowledgments go to Professor George Nychas who has provided critical contribution in the accomplishment of this thesis and the fulfillment of the running PhD project. I am also more than grateful to Professors Georgios Zervakis and Eleftherios Drosinos for their time to critically review my thesis and all the members of the examining committee for being my consultants during my PhD.

This work has been supported by the project "Design and development of innovative tools for the detection of ochratoxigenic fungi in wine and table grapes FungalPrognosis_242" co-financed by the European Union (European Social Fund – ESF) and Greek national funds through the Operational Program "Education and Lifelong Learning" of the National Strategic Reference Framework (NSRF) - Research Funding Program: ARISTEIA-I. I deeply wish to thank the researchers working on this project and helping me to start this thesis, namely Dr. Pantelis Natskoulis for his patient guidance in the early time of working with fungi and Dr. Dimosthenis Kizis for introducing me into gene expression studies sharing his expertise.

I am truly grateful to Professor Luca Cocolin for his hospitality, since I had the privilege to spend three months at the University of Turin, offering me the opportunity to learn new techniques and thinking. I also wish to express my deepest appreciation to Dr. Spyros Paramithiotis for so willingly sharing with me his scientific knowledge and techniques all these years any time needed.

Many thanks also go to laboratory members Mr. Anastasios Stamatiou and Dr. Paschalitsa Tryfinopoulou for their kind assitance all that time. I would not miss to thank Mr. Vassilis Iliopoulos also for his technical support. Special thanks go to Mrs. Ourania Kalatzi and Mrs. Niki Proxenia for being so eager to provide me with any possible help whenever I ask for.

A huge thanks to all labmates Dimitris, Matoula, Foteini, Efi, Elina, Agapi, for being such a good company and great assistant in the lab. My heartfelt gratitude last goes to my labmates, Anastasia, Athina, Lia for the nice time working, discussing and sharing days and nights together in the lab all these years.

Τέλος, θα ήθελα να δώσω το πιο μεγάλο μου ευχαριστώ, στον Κυριάκο για την αγάπη και την κατανόηση του όλα αυτά τα χρόνια και στην οικογενειά μου για την αμέριστη υποστήριξη σε όλα όσα έχω κάνει μέχρι σήμερα.

List of publications

- Lappa, I.K, Mparampouti, S., Lanza, B., Panagou, E.Z., 2018. Control of *Aspergillus carbonarius* in grape berries by *Lactobacillus plantarum*: A phenotypic and gene transcription study. *International Journal of Food Microbiology* 275, 56-65.
- Lappa, I.K., Kizis, D., Panagou, E.Z., 2017. Monitoring the temporal expression of genes involved in ochratoxin A production of *Aspergillus carbonarius* under the influence of temperature and water activity. *Toxins* 9, 10.
- Lappa, I.K., Simini, E., Panagou, E.Z., 2017. *In vitro* evaluation of essential oils against *Aspergillus carbonarius* isolates and their effects on ochratoxin A related gene expression in synthetic grape medium. *Food Control* 73, 71-80.
- Lappa, I.K., Kizis, D, Natskoulis, P.I., Panagou, E.Z., 2015. Comparative study of growth responses and screening of intra-specific OTA production kinetics by *A*. *carbonarius* isolated from grapes. *Frontiers in Microbiology* 6, 502.

Conferences:

- Lappa, I.K., Mparampouti, S., Panagou, E.Z., 2017. The effect of *Lactobacillus plantarum* on the ochratoxigenic potential of *Aspergillus carbonarius* at gene expression level. IAFP European Symposium on Food Safety, 29-31 March, Brussels, Belgium.
- Gkana, E., Lappa, I.K., Nychas, G.-J.E., Panagou, E.Z., 2016. Evaluation of forming mixed biofilms of *Aspergillus carbonarius* with *Lactobacillus plantarum* and *Lactobacillus pentosus*. 25th International ICFMH Conference-FoodMicro 2016, 19-22 June, Dublin, Ireland.

- Lappa, I.K., Simini, E., Panagou, E.Z., 2016. *In vivo* screening of 3 essential oils against ochratoxin A by *Aspergillus carbonarius* isolates in grapes. IAFP European Symposium on Food Safety, 11-13 May, Athens, Greece.
- Lappa, I.K., Simini, E., Nychas, G.-J.E., Panagou, E.Z., 2016. Eugenia cariophyllus essential oil against Aspergillus carbonarius and ochratoxin A production in a gene expression study. 29th EFFoST International Conference, 10-12 November, Athens, Greece.
- Iliada K. Lappa, Dimosthenis Kiziz ,Pantelis I. Natskoulis, Efstathios Z. Panagou, 2015. Promoting safety control of ochratoxigenic fungus *Aspergillus carbonarius* in grapes by studying gene expression through different ecophysiological factors. IAFP's European Symposium on Food Safety, 20-22 April 2015 in Cardiff, Wales.
- 10. Lappa, I.K, Kizis, D., Natskoulis, P.I., Nychas, G.-J.E., Panagou, E.Z., 2014. Comparative study of the ochratoxin A (OTA) potential and OTA-related gene expression of *Aspergillus carbonarius* strains isolated from Greek grapes. 24th International ICFMH Conference-FoodMicro 2016, 01-04 April, Nantes, France.
- Lappa, I.K., Kizis, D., Panagou, E.Z., 2016. Study of ochratoxin A related gene expression of *Aspergillus carbonarius* under different ecophysiological conditions. 18° Πανελλήνιο Φυτοπαθολογικό Συνέδριο, 18-22 Οκτωβρίου, Ηράκλειο, Κρήτη.